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DeAR shAReholDeRs

in 2009 norwegian passed the 10 million-passenger mark by a substantial margin and posted its best ever financial result. Both records were made in a year in which 
most airlines’ profits went into reverse.

capacity in terms of available seat kilometers increased by 18%, and we operated 49 new routes in the three Scandinavian countries: 26 in Denmark, 10 in Sweden 
and 15 in norway. revenues rose by 17% to MnoK 7,300 and approximately 10.8 million passengers chose to travel with norwegian, up 18% from last year. combined 
with a 13% reduction of the unit cost, we managed to deliver a pre-tax profit of MnoK 623. return on equity (roe) came in at 36%.

coSt focuS anD coMpetition
A strong cost focus has enabled the company to persistently reduce its 
unit cost, from noK 0.85 in 2003 to noK 0.49 in 2009, down from 0.56 in 
2008. Despite the positive performance, 2009 was a year of substantial 
expansion, which is both costly and challenging. however, expansion 
creates greater potential for economies of scale, enabling us to allocate 
our fixed costs to more passengers.

the attention to the cost base has made norwegian the cost leader in its 
primary markets. A streamlined cost structure is imperative for posting 
positive results given the stiff competition in the industry.

the partially state-owned head-on competitor with close to twice the 
cost level has proved willing to price their tickets at unsustainable levels 
to match norwegian, financed by the largesse of the taxpayer. surviving 
such government-funded distortion of competition requires a substantial 
cost advantage.

there are more efficient players in the european short- to medium-haul 
market which we eventually will meet head-on, either following our own 
expansion or their entry into our markets. we must reduce our unit costs 
even further, and fast. the isolated effect of new aircraft will be a 20% 
reduction in unit costs from today’s level, expectedly making norwegian 
europe’s most cost-efficient operator out of primary airports, in the not 
too distant future.

DeManD anD revenueS
worldwide air traffic slumped in 2009. IAtA anticipates accumulated 
losses in the area of MusD 11,000 for the industry. norwegian went in 
the opposite direction, growing 18% and delivering record profits. Much 
of this growth was fuelled by our copenhagen base which started full 
production in April, but we also increased the number of passengers at 
oslo Airport, our largest base, by 15%, compared to a decline of 6% for 
the airport as a whole.

the revenue per available seat kilometer (RAsK), a measure of how much 
ticket revenue one single seat generates on average per kilometer flown, 
decreased by 4% in 2009. A large proportion of the decline can be 
attributed to changes in the route portfolio, larger and more cost 
efficient aircraft that can sustain lower RAsK levels and the removal of 
a fuel surcharge which covered the record high fuel prices in 2008. 

the RAsK has been decreasing continuously since we started our low-
fare operation. In line with our cost reductions, passengers have been 
enjoying lower fares. this means higher volume, which brings in more 
revenue in absolute terms.

Ancillary revenues are becoming an increasingly important item in 
norwegian’s revenue generation. Ancillary revenues are income from 
the sale of products and services to passengers other than the ticket 
itself, such as extra baggage, seating and Internet connectivity. Ancillary 
revenues per passenger increased by 45% in 2009. 

norwegian’s customers benefit from freedom of choice when traveling 
with us. while there are no compulsory fees or charges in addition to 
the announced ticket price, the ticket price itself does not subsidize the 
added cost of individual choices made by fellow passengers. passengers 
who choose to send baggage, drink coffee, surf the Internet, or enjoy 
other services not directly related to flying the aircraft from A to b, 
are individually charged for these extra services. simple and fair.

we have re-launched the loyalty program norwegian Reward. the 
program is now also available without an integrated credit card solution 
which makes the program more attractive and accessible to even more 
customers.

fleet renewal
one of the major milestones achieved last year was the arrival in August 
of the first of our 48 direct-buy, fully-owned boeing 737-800s. though our 
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passengers are already well accustomed with the -800 since the aircraft 
type has been leased by norwegian since January 2008, the delivery 
of the first owned aircraft was a milestone in terms of product enhance-
ment and operating efficiency. the leased -800s also provide a cost 
advantage over the -300s, but the owned aircraft will accelerate cost 
cutting significantly.

In addition to the 48 committed aircraft, norwegian has uncalled options 
for 42 aircraft. this gives us flexibility in that we can accelerate growth 
simply by calling on our options.

the environMent
the environment will be the largest beneficiary of our fleet renewal 
efforts. nothing affects aviation-related emissions more than the 
choice of aircraft. the environmentally friendly boeing 737-800 aircraft 
significantly enhances norwegian’s environmental contribution. the 
MD-80, a common sight at scandinavian airports, emits 33% more co2 
and 42% more nox per seat compared to our new aircraft.

In this Annual Report we have dedicated an entire section to the 
environmental effects of what we do and how we are seeking to minimize 
our environmental footprint.

capital increaSe anD Strengthening of caSh poSition
It is said that “cash is king”- and never more so than now. the harsh 
competitive environment combined with the current recession will 
accelerate the trend of capacity reductions, discontinued routes, 
closures and consolidations among less efficient competitors. this opens 
opportunities for well-funded, cost-efficient airlines with a 
sound business model. 

In november we raised MnoK 251 in a private placement, followed by a 
bond issue of MnoK 400. the two cash-raising initiatives were taken to 
strengthen norwegian’s financial position and flexibility even further, 
positioning the company for future opportunities and endeavors. by 
year-end we had an equity ratio of 32% and cash and cash equivalents 
of MnoK 1,400.

aircraft financing
In August the us lender private export funding corporation (pefco) 
was mandated to provide long-term loan financing for the first seven 
direct-buy boeing 737-800 aircraft delivered in the period 2009-2010 

with the export-Import bank of the united states (ex-Im) acting as 
guarantor. ex-Im has also made a preliminary commitment for further 
support of 20 additional aircraft deliveries in the period 2011 to 2012.

Direct term financing from ex-Im, or financing guaranteed by ex-Im, 
covers up to 85% of the purchase price. the remaining 15% is financed 
by equity already at the pre-delivery financing stage, which means 
that equity for deliveries scheduled throughout the second quarter of 
2011 have been paid already. In 2008 the company secured pre-delivery 
financing from natixis transport finance for all deliveries until the end 
of the first quarter of 2011. 

heDging
while we do hedge both jet fuel and currency to increase predictability 
and reduce volatility in earnings, we do so modestly and at lower relative 
volumes compared to our primary competitors. the result is that 
norwegian’s hedging gains are smaller in times of increasing commodity 
prices. but it also means that our hedging losses, if any, will be much 
smaller than those of our more adventurous competitors when 
commodity prices go down. 

In sum, the hedge-related losses can be partially offset against the 
budget price for unhedged volumes, and vice versa. the underlying ratio-
nale is simple: our core competence is to run a lean airline.

going forwarD
we think that 2010 will turn out somewhat better than 2009 for most 
industries, but there is still a lot of uncertainty in the market. we do not 
expect a full recovery to pre-recession market conditions to occur in 
2010. norwegian has a well-proven business model and a constant focus 
on reducing costs. with new modern aircraft and efficient operations we 
believe that we have a product with a high value-for-money ratio, which 
we are confident is a winning formula under any market conditions.

bjørn Kjos
ceo
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thIs Is noRweGIAn

norwegian has subsidiaries and associated companies involved with 
commercial banking and telephone services. these investments are 
believed to enhance ancillary revenue and exploit the potential for 
synergies with the airline, such as a well-known brand name, large 
customer base and a well-proven and cost-efficient distribution 
channel through www.norwegian.com. 

norwegian is in the process of renewing its fleet, and is expecting a 
uniform fleet of 70 state-of-the-art boeing 737-800 aircraft by 2014. 

viSion anD BuSineSS iDea – afforDaBle airfareS for everyone 
the business idea of norwegian Air shuttle AsA is to give everybody 
the opportunity to travel by air. the Group’s overall goal is to establish 
itself as the preferred supplier of air travel in carefully selected markets. 
Reducing the price of air travel has the potential to improve people’s 
financial well-being and social mobility. this, in turn, will generate a more 
competitive business community and stimulate the general development 
of society.

corporate valueS 
the day-to-day business, product development, long-term planning and 
organizational structure of norwegian Air shuttle AsA are guided by five 
universal values:
safety 
Quality 
Directness 
simplicity 
Relevance

BuSineSS Strategy 
norwegian intends to become the preferred supplier of air travel in its 
selected markets and to generate excellent profitability and return to its 
shareholders. the Group will achieve this by: 

• Adhering to its corporate values 

•  Attracting customers and stimulating markets by offering competitive 
low fares and a high-quality travel experience based on low operating 
costs, operational excellence and helpful, friendly service.

•  offering “freedom of choice” – our customers will have the option of 
selecting additional products and services, providing a core low-cost 
product to price-sensitive customers and a more comprehensive package 
for those who require a little extra, ensuring a broad market reach. 

•  offering a comprehensive network with high frequencies on 

 business destinations, and a desirable choice of destinations for leisure  
 travelers.

•  Maximizing revenues through state-of-the-art passenger revenue 
management systems

•  continuing to develop high-quality cost-efficient products and services 
through extensive use of industry-leading technology, and continuously 
making it more comfortable and convenient to choose norwegian as a 
travel partner

•  utilizing its strong brand name and efficient distribution channels to 
further increase ancillary revenues

• continuously monitoring and improving its cost base where possible

•  obtaining a lean and efficient organization which makes decision-
 making processes simple and direct, enabling the Group to easily  
 adapt to changes and opportunities in the market environment

•   Maintaining an innovative “out-of-the-box” approach to the way we do 
business by having a positive and entrepreneurial organization in which 
everyone has the possibility to make a difference. 

group eMployeeS 
by the end of 2009 the Group employed 1,614 permanent employees. In 
addition, the Group employed 74 apprentices and 164 temporary cabin 
staff. In total, the Group had 1,852 people on its payroll, equivalent to 
1,781 full-time employees at year-end. the temporary staff has been 
engaged to cover production growth, which continues to be extensive, 
and fill in for permanent employees on maternity and sick leave. 
norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab employs a large share of its cabin 
crew on a temporary basis, which is part of the company’s business 
model. of the permanent employees of the Group, 80% were operative 
aircraft and technical personnel such as pilots, cabin crew, fleet 
operation administration and maintenance. 

the Group’s management emphasizes the importance of a 
constructive and positive partnership with all unions and good coopera-
tion within norwegian in general. since the start-up of its low-cost 
operation in 2002, there have been no conflicts in norwegian that have 
ended in industrial actions. the Group´s employees maintain a high 
working standard, continuously focusing on building and securing their 
workplace for years to come.

norwegian air Shuttle aSa, commercially branded “norwegian”, is a publicly traded low-cost airline listed on the oslo Stock exchange. 
 
By year-end 2009 the group operated 46 aircraft and had 238 routes to 93 destinations on sale. During the year 10.8 million passengers traveled 
with the group on 206 scheduled routes to 86 destinations in addition to 11 charter routes to 8 destinations. norwegian is the second largest 
airline in Scandinavia and the largest low-cost airline in the region. 
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coRpoRAte stRuctuRe

the norwegian group consists of the parent company norwegian air Shuttle aSa and the fully-owned subsidiaries norwegian air Shuttle polska 
Sp.zo.o and norwegian air Shuttle Sweden aB. additionally, norwegian air Shuttle aSa owns 100% of the start-up telephone company call norwe-
gian aS, 99.9% of naS asset Management, 100% of naS asset Management norway aS and 20% of norwegian finans holding aSa (Bank norwegian aS). 
naS asset Management norway aS owns the remaining 0.1% in naS asset Management. 

norwegian air Shuttle aSa (norway) 
norwegian Air shuttle AsA is the parent company of the group and is  
responsible for all flight operations. the head office is at fornebu outside 
oslo. At year-end 2009 the company operated 28 boeing 737-300s and 18 
boeing 737-800s. 28 aircraft were based in norway, five in Denmark, five 
in sweden and two in poland. six aircraft were at year-end inactive for 
maintenance purposes.  

norwegian air Shuttle SweDen aB (SweDen) 
norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab is based at Arlanda airport outside 
stockholm. the company manages pilots and crew on the routes out of 
sweden, and has its own sales and marketing organization. flight operations 
under the swedish Aoc were discontinued in 2009, and all flight operations 
of the Group are for efficiency purposes undertaken by the parent company 
under the norwegian Aoc. 

norwegian air Shuttle polSKa Sp.zo.o (polanD) 
norwegian Air shuttle polska sp.zo.o is based in warsaw, poland. the 
company manages pilots and crew on the routes out of poland, and has 
its own sales and marketing organization. flights out of poland are operated 
by the parent company. 

call norwegian aS (norway) 
the fully-owned subsidiary call norwegian As was established in January 
2008 and commercialized in the fourth quarter of 2008. the company 
provides Internet access at major airports served by norwegian. there 
are plans to offer products such as Internet access in the air in partnership 
with the airline. 

norwegian finanS holDing aSa (norway) 
norwegian Air shuttle AsA owns 20% of the shares in the online bank 
bank norwegian As through the associated company norwegian finans 
holding AsA. the airline’s loyalty program norwegian Reward is run in 
cooperation with the bank. 

naS aSSet ManageMent norway aS (norway) 
nAs Asset Management norway As is a special purpose vehicle (spv) 
registered in norway. the subsidiary was established for aircraft financing 
purposes. 

naS aSSet ManageMent (irelanD) 
nAs Asset Management is a special purpose vehicle (spv) registered in 
Ireland. the subsidiary was established for aircraft financing purposes.
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opeRAtIons AnD MARKet DevelopMent

networK 
the Group has a route portfolio which spans across europe as well as 
into north Africa and the Middle east, serving both business and leisure 
markets. the basic principles behind norwegian’s network development 
are to grow major point-to-point markets that have been excessively 
priced or underserved, while simultaneously maximizing aircraft and 
crew utilization. optimization of RoI is sought to be achieved by: 

•  operating high-RAsK business routes during peak hours, and focusing 
production on low-RAsK leisure routes during midday off-peak hours.

•  focusing on leisure destinations with year-round interest in the nordic 
market. the canary Islands is an example. 

•  Replacing Mediterranean routes with routes to the Alps and the Middle 
east during winter

•  Replacing business routes with leisure routes during the mid-summer 
period

• operating flights at night during peak seasons.

the company operates domestic flights in norway, sweden and Denmark. 

Domestic, intra-scandinavian and typical european business destinations 
have the most frequencies, something which attracts business travelers. 
the oslo-bergen and oslo-trondheim routes have the most frequencies 
with respectively 13 and 12 daily rotations on weekdays. typical leisure 
destinations in southern europe, northern Africa and the Middle east 
are typically served once a day or less. 

traffic DevelopMent 
Approximately 10.8 million passengers traveled with the Group in 2009, 
an increase of 18%, reflecting the Group’s expansion strategy. Intra-year 
variations in passenger volume are significant as a large share of the 
route portfolio is allocated to international destinations, increasing 
the Group’s exposure to seasonal fluctuations. Despite seasonality, quar-
terly year-on-year growth was considerable throughout the year. 

In 2009 passenger traffic (RpK) increased by 17% while the increase in 
production (AsK) was 18%. the load factor was 78% during 2009, a 1 
percentage point decrease from 2008. norwegian operated 92,307 
commercial flights in 2009 with an average flying distance of 913 
kilometers, down 2% from 927 kilometers last year. 

the ticket revenue per available seat kilometer (RAsK) decreased 4% in 
2009. the development is partially driven by an adjusted route portfolio, 
larger more cost efficient aircraft which can sustain lower RAsK levels, and the 
removal of a fuel surcharge which covered the record high fuel prices in 2008.
As a result of the large share of flights to leisure-oriented destinations, 

the RAsK is affected by seasonal fluctuations and particularly holiday 
seasons. 

MarKet ShareS
the Group’s position in the norwegian market improved in 2009. At the 
end of the year the Group had a market share of 47% on the four largest 
domestic routes in norway, an increase of 3 percentage points from last 
year. the market share on all international flights out of oslo Airport in-
creased by 3 percentage points to 29%, the domestic market share from 
the same airport increased by 6 percentage points to 45%.

the Group operates three domestic routes in the swedish domestic 
market, with a market share of 35% at the end of the year. norwegian’s 
market share on all international flights out of stockholm Airport was 
8% by year-end.

the Group operated one domestic route in Denmark in 2009 and achieved 
a market share of 30% by the end of the first full operating year.  
norwegian had an overall market share of 9% on international flights out 
of copenhagen Airport by year-end.

grounD operationS anD in-flight ServiceS 
the Group outsources all ground handling services at all destinations. 
outsourcing and monitoring is performed by a small team of dedicated 
staff. 
 
Gate Gourmet provides catering services to the Group. there is close 
cooperation between the airline and the caterer to provide an attractive 
“shop on board” experience tailored for norwegian’s customers.

punctuality anD regularity
punctuality measured in delays exceeding 15 minutes improved by five 
percentage points in 2009, to 81%. the Group, with the support of all 
employees, aspires to achieve an average of 90% punctuality. 

the main reasons for delays are usually related to ground handling, 
shortage of crew, adverse weather conditions, air traffic congestion or 
technical issues.

norwegian reported a market-leading regularity of 99.73% in 2009 
(98.93%).

in 2009 norwegian expanded its network extensively with 49 new routes: 26 in Denmark, 10 in Sweden and 13 in norway. the group operated
206 scheduled routes to 86 destinations. norwegian took delivery of a total of 11 environmentally friendly Boeing 737-800 aircraft during the
year, while retiring the last 5 MD-80s. net fleet growth was 6 aircraft, with the year-end fleet comprising 46 aircraft.
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opeRAtInG costs

as a low-cost airline, the cost base of the group is under constant scrutiny by the management. the airline sector is capital intensive, but there 
are innumerable cost drivers that are company-specific and if managed well can provide a competitive advantage. activities not strategically relevant to 
the business will be actively outsourced. 

A significant unit cost-reducing measure is large-scale operations and 
high asset utilization. Increasing size not only enables the Group to 
exploit economies of scale, but also increases bargaining power and 
the potential for bulk discounts from external parties such as handling 
agents, maintenance providers and aircraft manufacturers. the low-cost 
model promotes increased capacity per aircraft and high load factors 
which reduce both fixed and variable unit costs. 

the continuous cost focus has resulted in a lower unit cost. In 2009 
the cost per AsK excluding fuel and currency effects for the Group was 
down 4% to noK 0.36 (noK 0.37 in 2008). the unit cost including fuel 
decreased 13% to noK 0.49 (noK 0.56 in 2008). 

fixeD operating coStS 
A large share of the Group´s costs is driven by fixed or interval-fixed production 
costs. Major cost drivers include leasing, fleet insurance, cabin crew and, 
increasingly, depreciation as the Group owns a constantly larger share of 
its fleet. the Group emphasizes increased utilization of crew and assets to 
reduce the share of fixed operating costs as much as possible. 

fleet utilization 
An important element in the Group´s cost strategy is to focus on a 
uniform fleet of boeing 737 aircraft. At the end of 2009 the Group had 46 
such aircraft; of these 18 were 737-800’s. A uniform aircraft fleet results 
in lower costs due to less complex maintenance operations, lower crew 
training costs, reduced need for a spares inventory, reduced variation 
in the type of tools, equipment and infrastructure needed, and a more 
streamlined and focused administration. the Group utilized every 
operational aircraft on average 10.6 hours per day (block hours) 
during the year, compared to 10.2 hours in 2008. 

staff utilization and efficiency 
one of the largest single cost components of the Group is personnel 
costs. the Group is therefore focused on effective staff utilization and 
high efficiency. optimization is to a large extent dependent on route- and 
crew-planning efforts as well as employee union agreements. optimization 
is done well within the boundaries set forth by legislation applicable to 
civil aviation both within norway and in europe in general. 

efficiency is measured as the number of passengers per employee. there 
is evidence of a positive correlation between staff efficiency and profitability. 
staff utilization and efficiency levels were hampered by the need to  
accommodate the increased number of boeing 737-800’s in 2009. new 
crew and ground personnel were hired, and parts of the existing staff 
were inoperative for training purposes. 

Assuming a constant average sector length, the Group expects an 
increase in staff efficiency along with the introduction of new aircraft 
and an increasing scale of operation. with increasing stage length, the 
number of rotations and therefore number of passengers is reduced in 

relative terms. this negatively influences the efficiency ratio without 
affecting profitability. Decreasing stage length has the opposite effect. 

variaBle operating coStS 
frequency-based variable operating costs 
frequency-based aircraft operating costs, such as take-off fees, de-icing, 
maintenance* and ground handling are significantly reduced per AsK 
when stage length is increased. A longer stage length implies a lower 
unit cost as the same frequency-based cost base is divided over more AsKs. 

time-based variable operating costs 
typical time-based operating costs such as fuel and maintenance* also 
tend to be reduced per AsK with increasing stage length, however, not 
to the same extent as frequency-based operating costs. the reason for 
the reduction is particularly because take-offs are fuel intensive, driving 
up fuel cost per AsK for short flights and increasing fuel efficiency for 
flights with a longer cruise distance. 

Apart from increased stage length, bulk discounts, and bargaining power 
as identified above, there are few other means to reduce variable costs 
other than new equipment. new equipment significantly reduces maintenance 
costs, fees at airports with a differentiated fee model based on emissions, 
and, most notably, fuel costs. 

overheaD coStS 
overheads are to a large extent attributable to the administration. the Group 
makes widespread use of information technology in order to increase efficiency 
through automation and reduce the need for manpower and administration 

SeaSonality 
the airline industry is inherently affected by seasonal fluctuations. these 
variations are driven by demand, but significantly affect the cost base as 
production is adjusted to demand during the course of the year. During 
the seasonally weak winter months production typically drops as demand 
slows. the unit cost is higher during these months as utilization is lower 
and interval-fixed and overhead costs cannot be scaled down. to reduce 
these effects, heavy maintenance is planned for the slower months when possible.

external coSt DriverS 
the most significant external cost drivers are fuel prices and foreign 
exchange rates. In 2009 the average spot price for Jet-A1 fuel decreased 
by 47% compared to 2008 price levels. high fuel prices have a milder 
impact on low-cost airlines than legacy carriers due to higher passenger 
capacity on each aircraft and higher load factors. the 70 new boeing 737-
800 aircraft which will be delivered between 2008 and 2014 will reduce 
unit fuel consumption by around 20-25% compared to the 737-300 fleet. 
the most significant items in terms of foreign exchange exposure are 
aircraft leasing costs, fuel costs, air navigation fees, landing fees and 
handling charges. 
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shARe AnD owneRshIp stRuctuRe

norwegian air Shuttle aSa has been listed on the oslo Stock exchange (oSe) since December 2003 under the ticker symbol naS. at the end of 
2009 the company had 34,209,858 shares at a nominal value noK 0.10 outstanding. in november 2009 the company undertook a MnoK 251 private 
placement in order to strengthen norwegian’s financial position and flexibility even further, positioning the company for future opportunities and 
endeavors. in relation to the capital increase the company issued 1,620,000 new shares. Market capitalization at the end of 2009 was MnoK 3,934, 
up from MnoK 1,194 the year before.

ownerShip Structure 
At the end of the year norwegian Air shuttle AsA had a total of 4,297 
shareholders split between institutional and private investors. overseas 
shareholders controlled 18% of the shares at year-end, compared to 10% 
at the beginning of the year. Apart from norway the largest shareholdings 
are in finland, the united states, and the united Kingdom with a 5%, 5% 
and 4% share, respectively. 

the company’s “employee share saving plan” purchased 81,811 shares 
for the company’s employees. In 2008 norwegian issued options to 
employees who agreed to join a voluntary option program where their 

salary was reduced in exchange for options. the initiative was part of the 
Group’s cost-cutting program precipitated by the record high fuel prices 
last summer. A total of 230,080 of the options were called in 2009.

the company did not own any own shares at year end. 

the Share 
the share price at year-end was noK 115, an increase of 212% since the 
end of 2008. the share is included in the ob Match liquidity Group on 
the oslo stock exchange. the average daily traded volume in 2009 was 
145,289 shares, equivalent to an annual turnover ratio of 1.1.

envIRonMent 

the inDuStry anD the environMent
Approximately 2% of man-made co2 emissions stem from aviation. within 
the transport sector, road traffic constitutes approximately 75% of 
emissions whereas 12% are attributable to aviation. though its share of 
emissions is small, the entire aviation industry is working hard to reduce 
its environmental footprint. the aviation industry is one of the sectors 
which have achieved the most in terms of 
emissions reductions in recent decades. but more can be done, and 
airlines, air framers and engine manufacturers are working closely on 
further improvements.

the single most effective initiative to reduce emissions from aviation 
is to operate a fleet of efficient aircraft. since 1945 the aviation industry 
has reduced noise by 20 db, equivalent to 75%, and fuel efficiency has 
improved by approximately 70% per passenger kilometer, thus also 
reducing co2 and nox emissions.
 
norwegian anD the environMent
norwegian is committed to actively engage in and support sustainable 
environmental policy, and to continue to reduce emissions from aviation. 
to that end, the Group is replacing less efficient boeing 737-300 aircraft 
with state-of-the-art, efficient boeing 737-800 aircraft featuring newer 

technology, better aerodynamics and lower component weights. by renewing 
the fleet, emissions are reduced, passengers are offered new and more 
comfortable aircraft, and the Group reduces its cost base. new technology 
reduces the flying distance between any two given airports, and enables 
pilots to make more optimal and even safer approaches. 

norwegian has a clear and achievable goal of reducing emissions per 
flown passenger by 25% in the period 2008 – 2015. the norwegian  
Government is aiming at a reduction in greenhouse emissions equivalent 
to 30% of total emissions in 1990 by 2020. compared to average emissions 
per passenger in 1990, the reduction per norwegian passenger will supersede 
30% by substantial margin, and well before 2020.

In 2009, norwegian’s total fleet emitted on average 0.081 kg carbon 
dioxide (co2) per unit produced (seat kilometer). the 737-800s emitted on average 
0.070 kg co2 per seat and consumed 0.028 liters of fuel per seat kilometer. on 
shorter distances fuel consumption is higher per kilometer as take-offs are fuel 
intensive. Yet, on the 324-kilometer oslo – bergen trip, one passenger traveling 
alone will emit approximately 60-70% more by driving compared to flying. on 
longer distances, the same passenger will emit less by flying on a boeing 737-800 
than traveling with the most efficient hybrid cars available, even without taking 
into consideration that driving distances are almost always longer.
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norwegian undertakes a variety of measures to minimize its 
environmental impact;

“Green” approaches and landings
norwegian is engaged in several projects in both norway and sweden to 
secure a sustainable aviation industry. “Green” approaches, or continuous 
Descent Approaches (cDAs), are designed to reduce overall emissions 
during the final stages of the flight. the descent profile is planned and 
coordinated between pilots and air traffic controllers to ensure a 
continuous glide slope towards the runway, enabling the engines to 
run at idle during most of the descend phase of the flight. All norwegian 
pilots are trained in procedures and behaviors to increase environmental 
focus and reduce fuel consumption.

upon touchdown, norwegian has introduced routines in which pilots 
use engine idle reverse combined with applying more braking power to 
landing gear brakes - contrary to using thrust reverse and applying less 
braking power to landing gear brakes. these measures reduce both fuel 
consumption and engine wear and tear.

weight reductions
norwegian is committed to keeping aircraft weights to a minimum, 
thereby reducing emissions. this can be achieved both by simple 
measures such as reducing the amount of water on board depending on 
expected need, and more advanced measures such as investing in weight 
efficient carbon brakes. 

winglets
All of norwegian’s -800s are fitted with winglets, a tailfin-like extension 
of each wingtip that reduces drag. the effect is a reduction in fuel 
consumption as the same lift and speed is created with less engine 
thrust. winglets are most effective at cruising speeds, where they 
reduce fuel consumption by as much as 3-5%.

electronic manuals in the cockpit
efb, electronic flight bag, is a new electronic information and calculation 
system installed in the cockpit of all norwegian aircraft. the system 
makes the pilots’ tasks significantly more efficient, and safer. the new 
electronic system replaces virtually the entire hard-copy operating 
hierarchy. weight, balance and performance calculations at take-off and 
landing no longer need to be performed manually.

the new tool will reduce paper consumption by between 80% and 90%, 
lowering aircraft weight. work processes will become quicker and engine 
performance calculations more precise, reducing engine thrust and 
wear. calculations indicate a reduction in annual co2 emissions of 
approximately 17,000 tons.

engine and aircraft wash
Air contains contaminants such as dust, pollen and dirt. with the 
tremendous amount of air running through an aircraft engine, these 
particles together with soot from fuel combustion form a coating inside 
the engine which over time reduces efficiency. 
norwegian runs a special engine wash program on each aircraft 2-3 times per 
year. engine wash enhances air flow and reduces internal drag within the engine. 
norwegian’s aircraft are also regularly cleaned and polished externally, 

reducing drag. the use of detergents and chemicals is subject to a 
stringent set of requirements, and residue is sorted and recycled after use.

the combined effect of engine and aircraft washing is a decrease in fuel 
consumption, reducing co2 emissions by approximately 16,000 tons per year.

De-icing
winter operations in scandinavia are subject to challenging weather 
conditions. the removal of ice, frost and snow from the aircraft is a 
prerequisite for maintaining safe operations. De-icing fluid contains 
glycol depending on temperature and weather conditions. 

traditionally a standard mix covering all weather conditions is used. this 
mix is comparable to the standard windshield washer fluid used on cars, 
not necessarily optimal for the prevailing weather conditions. In order to 
reduce the emissions of concentrated fluids containing glycol, norwegian 
has in cooperation with ground handling companies invested in de-icing 
trucks which can adjust the ratio of the mixture according to weather-
dependent requirements.

the state-of-the-art trucks are also equipped with pneumatic snow 
removers, reducing the need for de-icing fluid altogether. compared to conven-
tional de-icing equipment, the reduction in glycol use is in the area of 60-65 %.

waste sorting and recycling
norwegian is participating in a variety of projects to increase the rate 
of waste sorting and recycling. on-board waste is sorted and recycled in 
cooperation with the airports and subcontractors. profits from redemption 
of bottle deposits are transferred to charitable organizations such as 
unicef and the Red cross. 

It equipment is collected by fair, an organization that deletes and 
formats discs and re-uses the equipment.

the Group complies with official government strategy on waste by pre-
venting waste from being generated when possible, reducing the amount 
of waste-containing materials hazardous to the environment to 
a minimum, promoting waste sorting, enhancing energy consumption, 
and ensuring that hazardous materials are properly handled.

cooperation with other StaKeholDerS
norwegian is active in several environmentally oriented projects in 
the scandinavian countries. In norway the Group in participating in a 
project involving Avinor (government-controlled airport operator), nho 
- confederation of norwegian enterprise and the sAs Group to promote 
a sustainable aviation industry. the primary goal is to identify and 
implement actions that will reduce the environmental footprint of the 
industry, making it carbon neutral by 2050.

In sweden the Group is involved in a project named “Green flights,” 
involving the swedish civil Aviation Authority (luftfartsverket) and other 
actors in swedish aviation. 
 
eMiSSionS traDing ScheMe
effective 2012 eu and eeA countries will include aviation in the eu 
emissions trading scheme (eu ets). In brief, eu ets requires all emitters  >>
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coRpoRAte GoveRnAnce

highlights of 2009
• corporate governance is discussed and considered by the corporate Board of Directors each year.
• focus on internal control, risk management and procedures for compliance and follow up. 
• norwegian air Shuttle aSa’s (naS) estimated B+ rating reflects its strong domestic market position in the low cost carrier (lcc) industry,   
diversification into domestic and international routes, competitive cost structure and rapid growth with a 39% revenue cagr over 2005-09a.

norwegian’s objective for corporate governance is based on account-
ability, transparency, fairness and simplicity with the ultimate goal of 
maximizing shareholder value while creating added value for all stake-
holders. the principles are designed in compliance with laws, regulations 
and ethical standards. norwegian’s core values are simplicity, Directness 
and Relevance, but no business conduct within the Group should under 
any circumstance jeopardize safety and Quality. 

how we unDerStanD the concept
the Group’s core values and corporate code of ethics are fundamental 
for norwegian’s corporate governance. corporate governance deals with 
issues and principles associated with the distribution of roles between 
the governing bodies in a company, and the responsibility and authority 
assigned to each body. Good corporate governance is distinguished by 
responsible interaction between owners, the board and management in 
a long-term, productive and sustainable perspective. It calls for effective 
cooperation, a defined division of responsibilities and roles between 
shareholders, the board and management, respect for the Group’s other 
stakeholders and open and honest communication with the communities 
in which the Group operates. 

Detailed ethical guidelines are available for all employees on the Group 
intranet. 

In line with the norwegian code of practice for corporate governance, a 
review of the major aspects of norwegian Air shuttle AsA’s governance 
structure follows below. 

BuSineSS 
norwegian’s business is clearly defined in paragraph 3 in the articles of 
association which states that “the Group’s objective is to be engaged in 
aviation, other transport and travel-related business activities as well as 
activities connected therewith. the Group may also be engaged directly 
or indirectly in other forms of Internet-based provision of goods and 
services, including car rental, hotel booking, payment services, financial 
services and services related to credit cards. participation in such activities 
as mentioned may take place through co-operation agreements, ownership 
interests or by any other means.” 

the Group has clear goals and strategies for its business. these are dis-
cussed in the Group’s Quality Manual and are also made available to the 

to surrender one emissions allowance for every ton co2 emitted. Allowances 
must be bought in the open market, and are in limited supply. More emissions 
equal higher cost for the emitter, in line with the “polluter pays” principle, 
which is fully endorsed by norwegian.

the eu ets is designed so that it favors efficient operators measured in 
terms of emissions per passenger, and incentivizes the entire industry to 

focus even more on reducing emissions. 
contrary to national and regional “green taxes,” which distort inter-
national competition and are often imposed based on a per passenger or 
aircraft weight basis and not on actual emissions, the eu ets is designed 
to be an effective incentive to reduce actual emissions. the scheme 
includes all carriers operating within or to the eu irrespective of nationality 
or point of origin.

envIRonMent 

>>
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public in the Annual Report and on the Group’s website www.norwegian.com. 

equity anD DiviDenDS 
the Group’s equity at year-end 2009 was MnoK 1,601.6, equivalent to an 
equity ratio of 32%. the gearing ratio was 9.8%. the board deems this to 
be adequate considering the Group’s strategy and risk profile. 

the board of Directors recommends not to distribute  dividends as it is 
considered to be in the best interest of the shareholders to retain funds 
for investment in expansion and other investment opportunities as 
stated in the articles of association, thereby enhancing profitability and 
shareholder value. Dividends should under no circumstance be paid if 
equity is below what is considered to be an appropriate level. 

the covenants to the bond agreement entered into on 16 April 2007 restrict 
dividend payment until the maturity date of the bond on 19 April 2010. 

Due to norwegian Air shuttle AsA’s rapid expansion, competitive environ-
ment and focus on being flexible and quick to adapt to changing market 
conditions, the General Assembly has decided to deviate from the 
norwegian code of practice for corporate governance’s recommendations 
with respect to capital increases. the General Assembly has granted the 
board of Directors a mandate to increase the company’s share capital 
over a two-year period. the mandate granted to the board is limited to 
a 15% capital increase. the General Assembly has granted the board of 
Directors a mandate to acquire treasury shares for a period of 18 months. 
the mandate granted to the board is limited to a 10% capital increase.

equal treatMent of ShareholDerS anD  
tranSactionS with cloSe aSSociateS 
norwegian Air shuttle AsA has only one class of shares. transactions 
in own shares are performed in line with what is considered to be good 
business practice for companies listed on the oslo stock exchange. 

Material transactions between the Group and key stakeholders, in particu-
lar shareholders, members of the board and executive Management, are 
subject to approval from the board of Directors. such transactions are duly 
noted in the minutes from the board meeting and are also explicitly stated 
in the notes to the consolidated accounts. At present, the chairman and 
ceo are both partners in the law firm vogt & wiig, which is the legal advisor 
to norwegian Air shuttle AsA. the Group does not have any  
arrangements for third-party valuations of named transactions as the  
current method offers a sufficient level of transparency and accountability. 

In cases where members of the board of Directors or the executive Management 
have other direct or indirect material interests in transactions entered 
by the Group, this is stated in the notes to the consolidated accounts. 

freely traDeD ShareS 
there are no restrictions on trading of the company’s shares in the 
articles of association or elsewhere. 
 
general aSSeMBly   
the board of Directors has ensured that shareholders may exercise 
their rights at the General Assembly, making the summons and related 
documentation available on the website in due time before the deadline 

warranted by law. the documents are sent to the shareholders at the 
same time. the shareholders’ deadline for notice of their intended presence 
is three days before the General Assembly, and shareholders may be present 
and vote by proxy. the board of Directors, nomination committee and 
the auditor are required to be present. the chairman of the meeting is 
democratically elected by the shareholders. the board adheres to the  
requirements of the norwegian code of practice for corporate governance 
with respect to the summons to the General Assembly. 

noMination coMMittee 
the nomination committee’s duty is to nominate candidates to the AGM 
for the shareholder-elected directors’ seats. the articles of association 
states that the committee shall have four members, and the chairman 
of the committee is the chairman of the board. the remaining three 
members are elected by the General Assembly every second year. 
the next election is due in 2010. 

the current nomination committee consists of the chairman of the 
board, one employee and two external members representing major 
shareholders in the company. 

the board of Directors recommends deviating from the recommendation 
as the chairman of the board is a fixed member of the committee. this is 
to ensure that nominees meet the requirements for expertise, capacity 
and diversity set forth by the board members. 

corporate aSSeMBly anD BoarD of DirectorS,  
coMpoSition anD inDepenDence 
norwegian Air shuttle AsA has, in agreement with the employee unions 
and as warranted by norwegian law, no corporate assembly. Instead, the 
company three employee representatives on the board of Directors.  
According to the articles of association the board must consist of between 
six and eight members. there are currently eight members. 

the shareholder-elected members of the board of Directors have been 
nominated by the nomination committee to ensure that the board of 
Directors hold the necessary expertise, capacity and diversity. board 
members have competence  and experience from the transport sector 
and other competitive consumer sectors, relevant network connections 
and experience from business, finance, capital markets and marketing. 
the chairman is elected by the board, and the board of Directors has a 
deputy chairman. board members are elected for a period of two years. 

the majority of the board members are independent from the executive 
Management and material business contacts. 

A comprehensive biography of the board of Directors and the executive 
Management is available on norwegian’s Investor Relations pages on the web. 

the worK of the BoarD of DirectorS 
the board of Directors works in accordance with the rules laid down by 
norwegian law. the board has annual strategy seminars where issues 
such as objectives, strategies and implementations are addressed.

the board of Directors issues instructions for its own work. the instructions 
for the executive Management are under review. >>
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auDit coMMittee
At the General Assembly on 11 May 2010 the board proposes that the 
board act as the Audit committee. the Audit committee has responsibilities 
related to financial reporting, the independent auditor, internal audits and 
risk management. 

riSK ManageMent anD internal control 
Management draws up monthly performance reports that are sent to 
and reviewed by the directors. Moreover, financial reports, risk reports 
and safety reports are drawn up, all of which are subject to review at the 
board meetings. 

reMuneration of the BoarD of DirectorS 
based on the consent of the General Assembly, it is assumed that the 
remuneration of board members reflects the respective members’ 
responsibility, expertise, time commitment and the complexity of the 
Group’s activities. none of the board members have remuneration based 
on performance, and no options are granted to the board members. In 
cases where board members take on specific assignments for the Group 
which are not in the power of their commission to the board, this must 
be notified immediately to the rest of the board members and if the 
transaction is of a substantial nature this is explicitly stated in the notes 
to the consolidated accounts. 

Details on the remuneration to individual board members are available in 
the notes to the consolidated accounts. 

reMuneration of the executive ManageMent 
the board of Directors has established guidelines for the remuneration 
of the executive Management. these guidelines are available in the 
notes to the consolidated accounts. the guidelines are presented to the 
General Assembly. the remuneration package should encourage a strong 
and long-term profit oriented culture without damaging the reputation 
and standing of the Group in the public eye and thereby ensure the 
convergence of the financial interests of shareholders and executive 
Management. 

the executive Management currently has a stock option plan in effect. 
comprehensive information on remuneration and incentive programs is 
available in the notes to the consolidated accounts. 

inforMation anD coMMunicationS 
All Group financial reporting complies with norwegian legislation. the 
financial statements and annual reports are prepared to ensure accountability, 
transparency and fairness to all stakeholders in the Group. 

A financial calendar is prepared and published on the Group website and 
is also distributed in accordance with the rules of the public companies Act 
and the rules applicable to companies listed on the oslo stock exchange. All 
the information distributed to the shareholders is also published on the 
Group website. the Group has regular investor meetings, public interim 
results presentations and an investor relations department. 

the board considers that these measures enable and ensure continuous 
informative interaction between the company and the shareholders. 

taKeoverS 
there are no limitations with respect to the purchase of shares in the 
company. In the event of a take-over bid the board of Directors will act in 
the best interest of the shareholders and in compliance with all rules and 
regulations applicable in such an event. In the case of a take-over bid 
the board will refrain from taking any obstructive action unless agreed 
upon by the General Assembly. the company’s bond issue has a change 

of control clause that allows bondholders to call for redemption of the 
bonds at par in the event of a change of control. 

auDitor 
the Auditor annually submits the main features of the plan for the audit 
of the Group to the board of Directors. 

the Auditor participates in meetings of the board of Directors that deal 
with the annual accounts. At these meetings the Auditor reviews any 
material changes in the Group’s accounting principles, comments on any 
material estimated accounting figures and reports all material matters on 
which there has been disagreement between the Auditor and the execu-
tive Management of the Group. 
the Auditor presents a review of the Group’s internal control procedures at 
least once a year to the board of Directors, including identified weaknesses and 
proposals for improvement. 

the ceo and the cfo are present at all meetings between the board of 
Directors and the Auditor. If requested by the board or the Auditor, meetings 
are to be held without the management present. the management and 
the board of Directors evaluate the use of the Auditor for services other 
than the audit. 

the board receives annual confirmation from the Auditor that the Auditor 
continues to meet the requirement for independence. 

the board of Directors reports the remuneration paid to the Auditor at 
the Annual General Assembly, including details of the fee paid for audit 
work and any fees paid for other specific services.
  

>>
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the boARD of DIRectoRs’ AnnuAl RepoRt

norwegian Air shuttle AsA owns 100% of the shares in norwegian Air 
shuttle sweden Ab, norwegian Air shuttle polska sp.zo.o, call norwegian 
As and nAs Asset Management norway As. the company holds 20% of 
the shares in norwegian finans holding AsA and 99.9% of the shares in 
nAs Asset Management. the remaining shares in nAs Asset Management 
are owned by the fully owned company nAs Asset Management norway As. 

the Group is headquartered at fornebu outside oslo. In addition, the 
Group has offices at oslo Airport Gardermoen and in tromsø. the technical 
department is located at oslo Airport Gardermoen and stavanger Airport 
sola. norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab has offices at stockholm Airport 
Arlanda; norwegian Air shuttle polska sp.zo.o is based at warsaw Airport 
fredric chopin, poland. call norwegian As and nAs Asset Management 
norway As have office addresses at fornebu. norwegian finans holding 
AsA has its offices in oslo. nAs Asset Management has its office address 
in Dublin, Ireland. 

flight Safety
no incidents that represent significant risk were registered in 2009. 

the Group has not registered any serious accidents or incidents to either 
passengers or crew involving aircraft operations since the Group was 
founded in 1993. 

the company’s flight safety office is integrated in the quality department, 
which reports directly to the Accountable Manager. the department’s 
main task is to work proactively to promote flight safety throughout the 
organization. flight safety is covered in the crew’s training programs, 
together with training in security-related issues. the civil Aviation Authority 
approves all programs, examinations and qualification requirements. 

the company continuously analyzes information from the flight Data  
Recorders installed in the company’s aircraft. the analyses are performed 
to ensure that the aircraft are handled and flown according to existing 
regulations and limitations. 

crew members, maintenance personnel and handling agents are also 
required to utilize a web-based reporting system where irregularities 
are logged. these reports are a valuable tool for statistical analysis and 
trend monitoring. 

the aircraft are subject to a stringent maintenance program based on 
the manufacturers’ recommendations and existing rules and regulations.

organization, worKing conDitionS anD the environMent
At the end of 2009 the Group employed a total of 1,684 ftes (full-time 
equivalents) including apprentices and temporary staff. the number of employees 
is expected to increase in 2010 in accordance with the Group’s planned expansion 
in norway and abroad. norwegian is in the process of establishing new bases 
abroad and is working closely with the company’s unions regarding contracts 
and work guidelines to insure regulatory compliance. 
the apprentice program in norway will continue in 2010 with a projected 
increase in the number of participants. All candidates graduating in 2009 
successfully completed and passed their exams which were carried out in 
conjunction with Akershus county council. the labor unions involved with 
the departmental training programs are actively included in the planning 
of the apprentices’ syllabus. 

Many graduates of the program have now secured positions within the 
company. some have chosen to become a part of the cabin crew team 
while others now work in areas such as marketing and customer care. 
Graduates of the program also visit schools and colleges and promote 

the program and help recruit new apprentices. this has been a focus area 
in 2009 and the program now provides a steady stream of candidates to 
fill permanent positions. 

the important hes activities (health, environment and safety) continue 
in compliance with labor law and the Group’s guidelines. A new personnel 
and salary management system has made hes activities more efficient 
and has helped the company better manage its rapid growth and actively 
monitor and ultimately reduce sickness levels. the manager is responsible 
for hMs partners with the team leaders and management team to make 
sure that norwegian’s working practices and conditions are fully up to 
speed in this area. 

the company’s new human Resources personnel management system 
simplifies much of the human resources back office work. the system 
provides a skills database for all employees, providing the company with 
a tool to match jobs with qualifications. the system also allows employees 
to add information as well as logging attendance and vacations. 

Absence due to sick leave in 2009 was 6.8%, approximately the same as 
in 2008. the company will continue to focus on this issue in conjunction 
with the health service group hjelp 24 and by hiring a new hes manager. 
various activities have been implemented to help employees get back to 
work as quickly as possible. 

In 2009 the Group employed 51.6% men and 48.4% women. the majority 
of pilots and technical personnel are men. the majority of cabin personnel 
are still women, but the number of men is increasing. Recruitment in 
2009 led to an increase of women in different leadership roles compared to 2008. 
norwegian aims to be an attractive employer. Its human resources policy 
is intended to be equitable, neutral and non-discriminatory, regardless of 
ethnicity and/or national background, gender, religion or age. 

norwegian Air shuttle AsA is a member of nho Aviation, which is a member 
of nho (confederation of norwegian enterprise). 

All the local labor unions in the Group are members of central unions 
which negotiate directly with nho Aviation and nho. As part of the salary 
review in 2009, negotiations with the central and local unions were successfully 
concluded and moderate agreements were reached with all parties.
 
external environMent
flight operations are inherently dependent on fossil fuels and also 
generate noise. however, the Group’s current aircraft fleet operates 
within the levels and limitations imposed by national and international 
regulations. During 2009 the Group consumed approximately 345,700 
tons of Jet A-1 fuel. 

the company is in the process of renewing the aircraft fleet, replacing 
boeing 737-300 aircraft with boeing 737-800s. the last fuel-intensive MD-
80 aircraft left the fleet during the fourth quarter of 2009.

the boeing 737-800 is among the most environmentally friendly aircraft 
available; the 737-300s which are being replaced emit approximately 23% 
more co2 per seat. by year-end 2014 norwegian will have a total of 70 boeing 
737-800s in its fleet. by year-end 2009, 17 of these were already delivered. 

the company’s business model promotes high load factors and higher 
capacity per flight, which makes norwegian’s operations more environ-
mentally sustainable as emissions per passenger are lower.

norwegian air Shuttle aSa is a publicly owned airline listed on the oslo Stock exchange. the group operates scheduled services with additional 
charter services. low-cost flight operations started in 2002 following nine years as a regional airline flying on behalf of the airline Braathens. the 
company has expanded the scope of its business into related areas, leveraging on the company’s internet platform, internet sales experience and 
customer base. 

>>
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the board believes the Group has complied with all requirements and 
recommendations with respect to the influence of the external environment, 
and that the Group takes all possible steps to minimize emissions and 
other negative effects on the environment.

aircraft Maintenance 
the Group runs its maintenance operation from the technical base at 
oslo Airport Gardermoen. 

line maintenance is performed at oslo Airport Gardermoen, stavanger 
Airport sola, bergen Airport flesland, trondheim Airport værnes, Moss 
Airport Rygge, stockholm Airport Arlanda, copenhagen Airport Kastrup 
and at warsaw Airport fredric chopin. 

Major airframe as well as workshop maintenance is performed by external 
sources subject to approval by the european Aviation safety Agency (eAsA). 

Airframe maintenance is currently done by Atc lasham in the u.K. and 
priority Aero Maintenance at Arlanda. these contracts are due for a 
tender renewal process. engine and component workshop maintenance is 
undertaken by lufthansa technik, Mtu or boeing.

All maintenance and follow-up activities, both internal and external, 
are performed in accordance with both manufacturers’ and additional 
internal requirements, and in full compliance with international authority 
regulations. the company performs both initial quality approval as well 
as continuous monitoring of all maintenance suppliers.

All supplier contracts are subject to approval and monitoring by the 
national aviation authorities.

significant changes in Accounting principles
there have been no changes in the adopted accounting principles. the 
IfRs accounting principles, as adopted by the eu, have been followed in 
preparing the financial statements for 2009. 

coMMentS to the incoMe StateMent 
the Group had total operating revenue of MnoK 7,309.2 (6,226.4) in 2009. 
compared to last year the Group’s total growth in revenue was 17%. 
MnoK 6,389 (5,642) of the revenues is related to ticket revenues, MnoK 
789 (463) is other passenger-related revenue, while the remaining MnoK 
131 (121) is related to other freight, fees and third-party products. the 
increase in sales is mainly related to the 18% growth in production from 
2008 to 2009. the load factor is reduced by 1 p.p. compared to the same 
period last year. the ticket revenue per available seat kilometer (RAsK) 
for 2009 was noK 0.47, compared to noK 0.49 last year. Ancillary revenue 
was noK 73.4 per pAX (50.7) in 2009, an increase of 45% from 2008. 

operating costs (including leasing and excluding depreciation and write-
downs) were MnoK 6,588 (6,434) in 2009. operating expenses for 2009 
are in line with last year despite a production increase of 18% (AsK). 

the unit cost was noK 0.49 in 2009 compared to noK 0.56 last year. the main factor 
contributing to the decreased cost level was a 45% reduction in fuel costs. 
the unit cost excluding fuel was noK 0.38 in 2009 compared to noK 
0.37 last year. During 2009 the Group’s operations were challenged by 
a weakening of noK (mainly against usD) compared to last year. costs 
affected by the weakened noK are mainly fuel, leasing and maintenance. 
the increased unit cost excluding fuel is mainly due to the increased unit 
cost for leasing. In addition to the weakening of noK against usD the 
unit cost for leasing was influenced by a larger share of b737-800s in our 
leasing fleet.

Included in total operating expenses are unrealized fuel hedge gains 
which as of 31 December amounted to MnoK 24. 

net profit before depreciation and write-down (ebItDA) for the Group was 
MnoK 720 (-208) in 2009, resulting in an ebItDA margin of 9.9%.

financial items in 2009 ended up with a gain of MnoK 48 (351). 

In relation to accounting for the prepayment on the purchase contract 
with boeing, MnoK 33.5 in interest costs were capitalized in 2009.

In 2007 the Group started bank norwegian, which is 100% owned by 
norwegian finans holding AsA in which the Group has a 20% stake. the 
Group’s estimated share of the bank’s net profit resulted in a net a gain 
of MnoK 3.2 in the consolidated profit and loss. 

earnings before tax in 2009 were MnoK 623 (5) and earnings after tax were 
MnoK 446 (4). earnings per share were noK 13.73 per share (noK 0.15).

comments to the balance sheet and cash flow statement 

the Group’s total assets increased by MnoK 1,843 to MnoK 5,022 by the 
end of 2009. book value of aircraft increased by MnoK 451 during the 
year, while prepayments and capitalized interests on the boeing purchase 
contract contributed MnoK 706 to the asset increase.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had a cash balance of MnoK 1,408 (607). 

the Group had a cash flow from operations of MnoK 914 (-234) in 2009. 
the net cash flow from operating activities consists of the profit before 
tax of MnoK 623, and the increase in net working capital, taxes paid, add 
back of depreciation and changes in other accruals of MnoK 291. the 
reduction in networking capital is due to increased air traffic settlement liabilities 
due to traffic growth. Despite the traffic growth trade receivables were 
reduced mainly due to altered settlement procedures for credit card 
transactions. 
net cash flow used for investment purposes was MnoK -1,300 (-254), of 
which the prepayments for the boeing contract constitute MnoK 684. 
An upgrade of leased aircraft, purchase of aircraft, investments in the 
Group’s It systems and de-icing equipment amounted to MnoK 586 (427). 
net cash flow from financing activities in 2009 was MnoK 1,188 (687). 
During 2009 norwegian issued a MnoK 400 senior unsecured bond issue 
with expected maturity date on 17 December 2012. In connection with the 
new bond issue, norwegian bought back noK 137 million worth of bond 
issues with maturity date of 19 April 2010. on 5 november, norwegian 
issued 1,620,000 new shares through a private placement. the agreed 
subscription price was noK 155 per share. Gross proceeds from the new 
share issue amounted to MnoK 251. During 2009 norwegian increased its 
interest-bearing liability relating to financing of two boeing 737-800hGw 
and prepayments to boeing. 

the Group has a strong focus on liquidity planning and the board is confident 
in the Group’s financial position at the beginning of 2010. 

capital Structure
the Group had total equity of MnoK 1,602 (897) at 31 December and an 
equity ratio of 32% (28%). equity increased by MnoK 705 due to profit 
for the period of MnoK 446 and a share issue of noK 253. other changes 
in equity amounted to MnoK 6.

the Group’s net interest-bearing debt aggregated MnoK 174 at 31 December 
2009, compared to MnoK 91 a year earlier. the Group’s gross interest-bearing 
liabilities mainly consist of two bond loans with a net book value of MnoK 561 
and a pDp syndicated credit facility of MnoK 624. other long-term interest-
bearing liabilities including pefco financing for the first two boeing 737-800s 
amounted to MnoK 369. financial lease liability amounted to MnoK 29.
 
riSK 
changes in consumer and business confidence in our key markets can 
influence demand and immediately reduce revenue streams faster than 
adjustments can be made to production and cost levels. the current 
macroeconomic outlook is characterized by uncertainty with respect to 
the level of economic growth and consumer spending both globally and 
within norwegian’s markets. During 2009 traffic volume decreased in 
markets in which norwegian operates. however, norwegian’s low-cost basis 
has allowed for adequate revenue management to meet the reduced 
purchasing power of business and leisure travelers. Demand and ticket 
prices are also affected by the overall level of competitive pressure in 
the industry where the primary drivers are capacity and demand. 

Airlines may alter their business strategy and business models in order 
to adapt to market changes. As a result, the industry may experience 
major structural changes as airlines may be forced to enter into new 
markets or engage in merger and acquisition activities. failure of traditional 
airlines with a higher cost basis may give way to airlines with a more 

>>



Annual Report 2009 norwegian Air shuttle AsA 17

efficient and aggressive low-cost business model. 
the Group’s activities are exposed to several financial risks: market risk 
(including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk. the Group’s overall risk management program focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. the Group uses 
derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures. 

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group treasury) 
under policies approved by the board of Directors. Group treasury identifies, 
evaluates and hedges financial risk. the board provides principles for overall 
risk management such as foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use 
of derivative financial instruments and investment of excess liquidity. hedging 
activities cannot be undertaken without approval from the ceo and cfo. 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign 
exchange rates, jet-fuel prices and interest rates will affect the Group’s 
income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. 

A substantial part of the Group’s income and expenses are denominated 
in foreign currency. the Group’s leases, aircraft purchases, and related 
expenses are mainly denominated in usD, and a portion of the sales and 
airplane operation expenses are denominated in euR. foreign exchange 
risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognized assets and 
liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. In order to reduce 
currency risk, the Group has a mandate to hedge up to 100% of its currency 
exposure over the next 12 months. the hedging consists of forward currency 
contracts and flexible forwards. 

As the Group has net significant interest-bearing assets debt, other than 
cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s income and operating cash flows 
are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. the 
Group’s interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and 
floating interest rate long-term borrowings. borrowings issued at variable 
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. borrowings consist 
of unsecured bond issues, financing of two boeing 737-800s delivered 
in 2009 and a revolving credit facility. bonds and the credit facility have 
floating interest rates while aircraft financing has a fixed interest rate. 
the Group’s leasing contracts have a fixed interest rate. 

expenses for jet fuel represent a substantial part of the Group’s operating 
costs, and fluctuations in jet fuel prices influence projected cash flows. 
the objective of the jet fuel price risk management policy is to provide 
protection against significant and sudden increases in jet fuel prices while 
retaining access to price reductions. the Group manages jet fuel price risk 
using fuel derivatives. Management has a mandate to hedge up to 100% of 
its expected consumption over the next 12 months with financial instruments. 

credit risk is managed on a group basis. credit risk arises from cash 
and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with 
banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to travel 
agencies and commercial customers, including outstanding receivables 
and committed transactions. the utilization of credit limits is regularly 
monitored. the Group’s policy is to maintain credit sales at a minimum 
level. sales to private customers are settled in cash or using major credit cards. 
prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash 
and marketable securities, as well as the availability of funding through 
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to 
close out market positions. 

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve 
and cash and cash equivalents (see note 24) on the basis of expected 
cash flow. In addition, the Group’s liquidity management policy involves 
projecting cash flows in major currencies and considering the level of 

liquid assets necessary to meet them, monitoring balance sheet liquidity 
ratios against internal and external regulatory requirements and maintaining 
debt financing plans. 

financing activities generally take more time to accomplish and are more 
expensive in times of financial turmoil and uncertain economic outlook. 
the company has pre-delivery financing committed to the 10 first aircraft 
acquired from boeing. 

following the acquisition of 42 boeing 737-800s in 2007 and 6 additional 
aircraft in october 2009, the Group will have ongoing financing activities 
until the last delivery in 2014. the transaction is supported by the ex-Im 
bank of the united states, which at the time the contract was signed 
issued a letter of enthusiasm backing the transaction. the company 
currently has a final commitment on 7 aircraft (2009 and 2010 deliveries) 
guaranteed by or subject to direct loans from the ex-Im bank of the 
united states. furthermore, pre-commitment has been received for the 
next 20 aircraft (2011 and 2012 deliveries). 

the banking industry’s ability to offer aircraft financing is influenced by 
the current state of the economy. last year’s distress in the banking sector 
and economy resulted in intervention from government and central 
banks, initiating fiscal and monetary policies to counteract the negative 
economic development. changes in monetary policy normally affect the 
economy with a lag of between three quarters and two years. the lag 
between a change in fiscal policy and its effect on output tends to be 
shorter than the lag for monetary policy. 

proSpectS for 2010 
the demand for travelling with norwegian and advanced bookings have 
been satisfactory at the start of the first quarter of 2010. norwegian has 
executed several sales and marketing campaigns that have been well 
received by the market, and continues to attract customers to the continuously 
growing route portfolio. the current macroeconomic outlook is uncertain. 
norwegian will closely monitor the traffic development and make adjust-
ments to the route portfolio in order to accommodate for changes in 
demand.

the newly established Danish operation has a total fleet of 6 aircraft at 
the beginning of Q1. so far, the routes have been well received in the market, 
and are experiencing pressure on RAsK from increased competition. 
 
norwegian anticipates a production growth (AsK) of up to 30% in 2010, 
mainly from replacing boeing 737-300s with 737-800s. norwegian may 
decide to adjust capacity deployment depending on the development of 
the overall economy and in the marketplace.

Assuming a fuel price of usD 850 per ton and usD/noK 6.00, the company 
is targeting a unit cost (cAsK) in the area of noK 0.49 – 0.50 for the full 
year 2010.

the board confirms that the going concern assumption is valid and the 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

allocation of the year’S reSult 
net profit for norwegian Air shuttle AsA was MnoK 243, which the board 
proposes be transferred to retained earnings. 

the board recommends no dividend distribution for the 2009 operating 
year in accordance with the company’s corporate governance policies. 

As of 31 December 2009, the company had MnoK 493.9 of free equity.

fornebu, 24 March 2010

Bjørn h. Kise 
(chairman of the board)

ola Krohn-fagervoll Marianne wergeland JenssenBjørn Kjos
(chief executive officer)

thor espen Bråten 
(employee Representative)

Kenneth utsikt 
(employee Representative)

linda olsen 
(employee Representative)

liv Berstad
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consolIDAteD IncoMe stAteMent

note (noK 1 000) 2009 2008

4 Revenues 7 309 189 6 226 413
 total operating revenues 7 309 189 6 226 413
   
5 operational expenses 4 938 399 4 892 727
6,7,17,18 payroll 1 303 299 1 076 068
10,11 Depreciation, amortization and impairment 148 882 129 611
5a other operating expenses 396 058 318 094
20 other losses/(gains) - net -49 315 147 768
 total operating expenses 6 737 323 6 564 267
 operating profit 571 866 -337 854
   
   
8 net financial items 47 974 351 966
   
26 share of profit (loss) from associated company 3 200 -8 773
   
   
 profit (loss) before tax 623 040 5 339
   
9 Income tax expense (income) 176 789 1 394
   
 profit (loSS) for the year 446 251 3 944
   
16 basic earnings per share 13.73 0.15
16 Diluted earnings per share 13.34 0.15
   
 profit attributable to;  
   
 owners of the company 446 251 3 944

stAteMent of coMpRehensIve IncoMe

note (noK 1 000) 2009 2008

  
 net profit for the period 446 251 3 944
   
21 Available-for-sale financial assets 1 608 -4 376
 exchange rate differences Group -5 007 1 293
 total comprehensive income for the period 442 852 861

 profit attributable to;

 owners of the company 442 852 861

the notes on pages 22-57 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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consolIDAteD bAlAnce sheet 

note (noK 1 000) 2009 2008

 aSSetS   
 non-current assets   
 
10 Intangible assets 190 543 198 074
9 Deferred tax asset 157 59 759
11 Aircraft, parts and installations on leased aircraft 974 892 523 676
11 equipment and fixtures 30 905 31 014
11 buildings 3 933 3 933
11 financial lease asset 26 092 
20 financial assets available for sale 7 236 5 628
26 Investment in associate 47 943 44 743
11 prepayment boeing contract 1 410 992 705 165
13 other receivables 26 391 32 404
 total non-current assets 2 719 084 1 604 395
     
 current assets   
 
14 Inventory 40 825 34 214
13 trade and other receivables 829 893 914 379
20 Derivative financial instrument 23 688 18 360
24 cash and cash equivalents 1 408 475 607 536
 total current assets 2 302 881 1 574 489
 total aSSetS 5 021 965 3 178 884

 equity anD liaBilitieS
 	 	 		
15 equity   
 
 share capital 3 421 3 236
 share premium 1 041 894 789 130
 other paid-in equity 47 421 38 984
 other reserves -11 032 -7 633
 Retained earnings 519 902 73 650
 total equity 1 601 607 897 368

 non-current liabilities  
18 pension obligation 97 558 61 815
19 provision for periodic maintenance 70 336 114 090
9 Deferred tax 17 806 9 695
22 borrowings 878 878 440 873
22 financial lease liability 28 829 0
 total non-current liabilities 1 093 407 626 474
	 	 	 		
 Short term liabilities  
 
22	 short term part of borrowings 675 303 257 456
21 trade and other payables 746 549 694 832
 Air traffic settlement liabilities 792 713 598 162
20 Derivative financial instrument 1 227 104 325
9 tax payable 111 158 267
 total short term liabilities 2 326 951 1 655 042
 total liabilities 3 420 357 2 281 515
 total equity anD liaBilitieS 5 021 965 3 178 884

fornebu, 24 March 2010

the notes on pages 22-57 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Bjørn h. Kise 
(chairman of the board)

ola Krohn-fagervoll Marianne wergeland JenssenBjørn Kjos
(chief executive officer)

thor espen Bråten 
(employee Representative)

Kenneth utsikt 
(employee Representative)

linda olsen 
(employee Representative)

liv Berstad
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consolIDAteD stAteMent of chAnGes In eQuItY

 Share Share  other paid-in total paid-in other  retained total
noK 1 000 capital premium equity equity reserves earnings equity8

  equity at 01 January 2008 2 087 408 277 32 752 443 117 -4 550 69 706 508 273
       
net profit for the year      3 944 3 944
Available for sale financial assets     -4 376  -4 376
exchange rate differences Group     1 293  1 293
comprehensive income 2008         -3 083 3 944  861
       
share issue 2008 1 149 398 851  400 000   400 000
expenses for share issue 2008, net of tax  -17 998  -17 998   -17 998
        
compensation expense for stock options   6 232 6 232   6 232
transactions with owners 1 149 380 853 6 232 388 234     388 234
       
equity 31 December 2008 3 236 789 130 38 984 831 351 -7 633 73 650 897 368
       
equity at 01 January 2009 3 236 789 130 38 984 831 351 -7 633 73 650 897 368
       
net profit for the year      446 251 446 251
Available for sale financial assets     1 608  1 608
exchange rate differences Group     -5 007  -5 007
comprehensive income 2009         -3 399 446 251 442 852
       
share issue 2009  162 250 938  251 100   251 100
expenses for share issue 2009, net of tax  -5 527  -5 527   -5 527
stock options - share issue  23 7 353  7 376   7 376
compensation expense for stock options   8 437 8 437   8 437
transactions with owners  185 252 764 8 437 261 386     261 386
       
equity 31 December 2009 3 421 1 041 894 47 421 1 092 737 -11 032 519 902 1 601 607

the notes on pages 22-57 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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consolIDAteD cAsh flow stAteMent

note (noK 1 000) 2009 2008

     
 caSh flowS froM operating activitieS:   
 
     
 profit (loss) before tax 623 040 5 339
9 taxes paid -1 439 -787
 Interest received 16 066 39 427
10,11 Depreciation, amortization and write-down 148 882 129 611
 pension expense without cash effect 32 664 28 505
17 other non cash items 8 678 6 196
 change in inventories, accounts receivable and accounts payable 42 111 -324 649
 change in air traffic settlement liabilities 194 552 61 614
 change in other current assets and current liabilities -150 736 -179 695
 net cash flow from operating activities 913 818 -234 439
 
 caSh flowS froM inveSting activitieS:
 
11 prepayments aircraft purchase -683 764 -349 436
11 purchase of tangible assets -544 979 -393 433
10 purchase of intangible assets -41 151 -33 414
4 net cash from aquisitions 0 -20 604
20 proceeds from sales of financial assets 0 324 347
20 proceeds from sales of investment bonds 0 219 065
20 Investments in subordinated loan -30 000 0
 net cash flow from investing activities -1 299 894 -253 475

 caSh flowS froM financial activitieS:
 
22 proceeds from long term debt  968 304 339 864
22 payment of long term debt -4 220 
15 proceeds from issuing new shares 250 840 376 000
 Interest on borrowings -26 865 -29 220
 net cash flow from financial activities 1 188 059 686 644
    
 foreign exchange effect on cash -1 045 4 848
    
 net change in cash and cash equivalents 800 939 203 577
 cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 607 536 403 959
24 cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1 408 475 607 536

the notes on pages 22-57 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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note 1 suMMARY of sIGnIfIcAnt AccountInG polIcIes 

1.1 general information
norwegian Air shuttle AsA and its subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’) is 
a low-fare airline incorporated in norway and headquartered at fornebu 
outside of oslo. norwegian Air shuttle AsA is a public limited liability 
company and listed on the oslo stock exchange.  
 
the consolidated financial statements of norwegian Air shuttle AsA for 
the year ended 31 December 2009 were authorized for issue by the board 
of Directors on 24 March 2010. 

1.2 Basis of preparation
the consolidated financial statements of norwegian Air shuttle AsA have 
been prepared in accordance with International financial Reporting standards 
(IfRs), as adopted by the eu. the consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, and financial assets 
and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value 
through profit or loss.  
 
In order to prepare financial statements in conformity with IfRs , it is 
necessary to use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgment when applying the 
Group’s accounting policies. the areas which implicate a higher degree 
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed 
below in paragraph 1.5.
 
1.2.1 changes in accounting policy and disclosures
standards, amendments and interpretations.  
the Group has adopted the following new standards, amendments and 
interpretations effective from 1 January 2009;

- IfRs 2, share-based payments (amendment) 
- IfRs 7, financial instruments – disclosures (amendment) 
- IfRs 8, operating segment
- IAs 1, presentation of financial instruments (revised) 
- IAs 23, borrowing costs (revised) 
  
IfRs 7 requires  additional disclosures it has no impact on the financial 
position or the Group’s performance. A statement of comprehensive 
income has been added to the financial statements, as a result of 
implementing IAs 1. IfRs 8 defines operating segments and resulted in 
reassessment of segment reporting. Accordingly, the Group is defined as 
one segment. the implementation of IfRs 2 and IAs 23 have not had any 
impact on the Group’s financial statements as similar principles are applied 
under previous standards. 

the following standards, amendments and interpretations are not effec-
tive at 31 December 2009 and have not been early adopted by the Group; 

effective for periods beginning on or after

-  IfRs 2, scope of IfRs 2 and IfRs 3 (revised) 1 July 2009
-  IfRs 2, Group cash-settled and share-based  
 payments transactions (amendment) 1 January 2010

- IfRs 3, business combinations (revised) 1 July 2009
-  IfRs 5. Measurement of non current assets classified  
 as held-for-sale (amendment) 1 January 2010 

-  IfRs 5, Disclosures required in respect of non  
 current assets 1 January 2010 

-  IfRs 8, Disclosure of information about segment assets’ 1 January 2010 

-  IAs 1, current/non current classification of convertible  
 instruments 1 January 2010 

-  IAs 7, classification of expenditures on  
 unrecognised assets 1 January 2010 

-  IAs 17, classification of leases of land and buildings 1 January 2010
-  IAs 27, consolidated and separate financial  
 statements (revised) 1 July 2009

-  IAs 38, Intangible assets (amendment) 1 July 2009
-  IAs 36, unit of accounting goodwill impairment test 1 January 2010 
-  IAs 38, Additional consequential amendments  
 arising from IfRs 3 (revised) 1 January 2010 

-  IAs 38, Measuring the fair value of an intangible  
 asset acquired in a business combination 1 January 2010 

-  IAs 39, treating loan prepayment penalties  
 as closely related derivatives 1 January 2010 

-  IAs 39, scope exemption for business combinations 1 January 2010
- IAs 39, cash flow hedge accounting 1 January 2010 
- IAs 39, hedging using internal contracts 1 January 2010 
-  IfRIc 9, Reassessment of embedded derivatives  
 and IAs 39 (amendment) 30 June 2009 

- IfRIc 17, Distribution of non-cash assets to owners 1 July 2009 
- IfRIc 18, transfers of assets from customers 1 July 2009 
- IfRIc 9 and IfRs 3, scope of IfRIc 9 and IfRs 3 (revised) 1 July 2009 
- IfRIc 16, hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation 1 July 2009 

these standards, amendments and interpretations are not expected to 
have material impact on the financial statements.
 
1.3 Basis of consolidation 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise norwegian Air 
shuttle AsA, and its fully owned subsidiaries norwegian Air shuttle polska 
sp.zo.o , norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab, nAs Asset Management Ireland 
ltd, nAs Asset Management norway As and call norwegian As. Additionally, 
the Group controls a company in the united states, DY 1 leasing llc. this is a 
special purpose entity (spe) established for aircraft financing purposes. the 
Group does not own the shares, but has all risks and rewards related to 
the assets, liabilities and operations in the spe. 

the financial statements of the subsidiaries and spe’s are prepared for 
the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent  
accounting policies.

the purchase method is applied when accounting for business combinations. 
companies which have been purchased or sold during the year are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date when 
control is achieved and till the date when control is ceased. 

the cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets 
given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at 
the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. 
Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at 
the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. 
the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s 
share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
 
All intra Group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits 
and losses resulting from intra Group transactions that are recognized in 
assets and liabilities, are completely eliminated.

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a significant influence 
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but does not control the management of its finances and operations 
(normally when the Group owns 20%-50% of the company). the consolidated 
financial statements include the Group’s share of the profits/losses from 
associates, accounted for using the equity method, from the date when 
a significant influence is achieved and till the date when such influence 
is ceased. the Group’s share of its associates’ post- acquisition profits or 
losses is recognized in the income statement, and its share of post-acquisition 
movements in reserves is recognized in reserves. the cumulative post-
acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the 
investment. Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates 
are recognized in the income statement. 
 
when the Group’s share of a loss exceeds the Group’s investment in an 
associate, the amount carried in the Group’s balance sheet is reduced 
to zero and further losses are not recognized unless the Group has an 
obligation to cover any such loss. unrealized gains on transactions 
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associates. unrealized losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed when 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
 
All other investments are recognized in accordance with IAs 39, financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and additional information is 
provided in note 20.

1.4 foreign currency translation
the Group’s presentation currency is noK. norwegian Air shuttle AsA’s 
functional currency is noK. each entity in the Group determines its own 
functional currency, and items included in the financial statements of 
each entity are measured in that functional currency. for consolida-
tion purposes, the balance sheet figures in subsidiaries with a different 
functional currency than noK are translated at the closing rate at the 
balance sheet date. Income and expenses for each income statement are 
translated at average exchange rate for the period, this being a reasonable 
approximation for actual rate. exchange differences are recognized in 
comprehensive income and specified separately in equity. 

transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional 
currency rate ruling at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.  
All differences are recognized in profit or loss. non-monetary items that 
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are trans-
lated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and trans-
lated at the closing rate.

1.5 critical accounting estimates and judgments
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management has to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. the critical 
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have been 
made in preparing the consolidated financial statements are detailed 
below. these judgments involve assumptions or estimates in respect of 
future events which can vary from what is expected.

the lease contracts require the aircraft to be returned at the end of the 
lease in accordance with the specific redelivery conditions stated in the 

specific lease contracts. to meet this requirement, the Group maintains 
of these aircrafts, both regularly and at the expiration of the leasing 
period. provisions are made based on the estimated costs of overhaul 
and maintenance. to estimate these conditions,  management must make 
assumptions regarding expected future maintenance. for sensitivity 
analysis, see note 12.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be generated. significant 
management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred 
tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level 
of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. see 
note 9 for further details.
 
the cost of defined benefit pension plans is determined by using actuarial 
valuations. the actuarial valuation involves making assumptions 
about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary 
increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the long 
term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to significant 
uncertainty. A sensitivity analysis is outlined in note 18.
 
the Group tests annually whether goodwill and other intangible assets 
with indefinite lives, have suffered any impairment in accordance with 
the accounting policy stated in note 1.8. the recoverable amounts of 
cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use  
calculations. these calculations require the use of estimates (see note 10).

bad debt provisions for credit card  receivables are based on actual  
historical loss percentage and actual withdrawal for payments from 
credit card companies.

fair value of financial instruments is determined using fair value 
estimation techniques. valuation techniques and details on financial 
instruments are outlined in note 20.

1.6 tangible assets
tangible assets are carried at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. when assets are sold or disposed of, the gross 
carrying amount and accumulated depreciation and impairment losses are 
derecognized, and any gain or loss on the sale or disposal is recognized in 
the income statement. 
 
the gross carrying amount of non-current assets is the purchase price, 
including duties/taxes and direct acquisition costs relating to making the 
non-current asset ready for its intended use. subsequent costs, such as 
repair and maintenance costs, are normally recognized in profit or loss as 
incurred. when increased future economic benefits are the  result of repair 
and maintenance work which can be verified, these costs will be recognized 
in the balance sheet as additions to non-current assets. borrowing costs are 
capitalized on qualifying assets.
 
non-current assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis or by airborne 
hours and cycles over the estimated useful life of the asset beginning when 
the asset is ready for its intended use. expected residual value is assessed 
when estimating the depreciable amount of the asset and deducted from the 
depreciable amount.
 
An aircraft is decomposed into two components for depreciation purposes to 
reflect different useful lives of the aircraft components. In accordance with 
official requirements, the aircraft must be maintained and significant components 
changed after a specific number of takeoffs or airborne hours.  >>
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note 1 suMMARY of sIGnIfIcAnt AccountInG polIcIes 

these components are identified as c check and D check on aircraft body, 
power restoration and life limited parts for the two engines on each plane, 
as well as maintenance on landing gears and Apu. the maintenance and 
overhaul on these components occurs on a defined interval, and the value 
is depreciated based on number of takeoffs or airborne hours until the next 
maintenance occurs. completed maintenance and overhaul is capitalized and 
depreciated until the next relevant maintenance and overhaul. the second 
aircraft component is defined as the remainder of the aircraft and depreci-
ated over the economic useful life.
 
Investments in leased aircraft including cabin interior modifications are depreciated 
over their useful lives, but not exceeding the remaining leasing period. 
 
Rotable spare parts are carried as non current assets and depreciated over 
their useful lives. 
 
buildings are carried at acquisition cost, less accumulated depreciation. 
 
the Group capitalizes prepayments on the purchase contract of 46 boeing 
737 aircraft. the prepayments are classified as tangible assets as presented 
at the face of the balance sheet. the prepayments include capitalized bor-
rowing costs and gains/losses on qualifying fair value hedges. At the delivery 
of the aircraft, prepayments are included in acquisition cost of the aircraft 
and reclassified as aircraft in the balance sheet. 
 
financial lease assets are initially recognized at the lowest of acquisition 
cost and future minimum lease payments. the assets are carried as non 
current assets and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected 
useful lives. 
 
the depreciation period and method are assessed each year to ensure that 
the method and period used reconcile with the substance of the non-current 
asset. the residual value is estimated at each year end and changes to the 
residual value are accounted for prospectively. Additional details on tangible 
assets are outlined in note 11.

1.7 intangible assets
computer software
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the 
costs incurred to obtain and  apply the specific software. these costs are 
amortized over their estimated useful life.
 
costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software pro-
grams are recognized as an expense as incurred. costs that are directly 
associated with the development of identifiable software products  
controlled by the Group, and that probably will generate economic 
benefits, are recognized as intangible assets. computer software develop-
ment costs recognized as assets are amortized over their estimated 
useful lives. the amortization of the software commence as each module 
is completed. 
 
Goodwill and other intangible assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair 
value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired 
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount 
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

other intangible assets are related to identifiable assets from business 
combinations and investments in other intangible assets.

 Intangible assets that are determined to have indefinite economic 
lives, are not amortized, but subject for annual impairment testing. 
the determination of indefinite economic lives is based on management’s  
assessment that there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which 
the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows for the entity.

see note 1.8 for details of impairment testing of non-financial assets 
and note 10 for additional details on intangible assets.

1.8 impairment of non financial assets
Intangible assets that have an indefinite economic useful life are not 
subject to amortization and are tested annually for impairment. Assets 
that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. 

for the purposes of impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating 
units). the allocation is made to those cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the assets. Management has assessed the 
Group as one segment and the total operations in the Group as its cash 
generating unit. the determination of cash generating units is based 
on how management operates and assesses the Group’s performance, 
profit and cash flow. the aircraft fleet is operated as one unit and the 
route portfolio is administered and diversified as one unit generating the 
Group’s profit and cash flow; hence, goodwill and other non current assets 
are reallocated to the entire Group for the purpose of impairment testing. 

non current assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.

1.9 financial assets
financial assets are classified in the following categories; at fair value 
through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables 
and available-for-sale. the Group holds financial instruments that are 
classified at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale, and 
loans and receivables. the classification depends on the purpose for 
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets 
held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives 
are also categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as 
hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets.

loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. they are 
included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months 
after the balance sheet date. these are classified as non-current assets. 
the Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade, other receivables,  
cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet (see note 1.12 and 1.13 
respectively).

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either 
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. 
they are included in non-current assets unless management intends to 

>>
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dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the 
trade-date; the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the 
asset. Investments are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction 
costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or 
loss. financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss, are 
initially recognized at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in 
the income statement.  
 
financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the 
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. loans and 
receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in 
the income statement within ‘other losses/(gains) – net’ in the period 
in which they arise. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
value of the ‘available-for-sale’ category are presented in the state-
ment of comprehensive income in the period which they arise. Interests 
on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest 
method is recognized in the income statement as part of other income. 
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
and available- for- sale financial assets are recognized in the income 
statement as a part of other income when the Group’s right to receive 
payments is established.

1.9.1 impairment of financial assets
the Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objec-
tive evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets are 
impaired. the fair values of quoted investments are based on current mid 
prices at the balance sheet date. If the market for a financial asset is not 
active (and for unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by 
using valuation techniques. the valuation hierarchy for financial assets 
is detailed in note 20 where the techniques are making maximum use of 
market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

Impairment losses of financial assets measured at amortized cost are 
incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of 
one or more events that occurred after initial recognition. Impairment 
losses are recognized in the consolidated income statement if the losses 
have had an impact on the estimated future cash flows and that the 
impact can be reliably estimated.

Impairment losses of available-for-sale financial assets are incurred if 
evidence exists of a prolonged or significant decline in the fair value 
of the security below its initial cost. If any such evidence exists, the 
cumulative loss (measured as the difference between the initial cost 
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial 
asset previously recognized in profit or loss) is removed from equity and 
comprehensive income and recognized in the income statement.  
If, in a subsequent period, increase in the fair value of available-for–sale 
financial assets occur and the increase can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the im-
pairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.

1.10 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the transaction date 

and subsequently measured at their fair value. the method of recognizing 
the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated 
as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. 
In 2008, the Group designated some of its derivatives as hedges of the 
fair value of a firm commitment (fair value hedge).

the Group documents at the inception of the transaction, the relation-
ship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk 
management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging 
transactions. the Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge 
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are 
designated as hedging instruments are highly effective in offsetting 
changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

the fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes 
are disclosed in note 20. the full fair value of a hedging derivative is 
classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining hedged 
item is more than 12 months and as a current asset or liability when the 
remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months. trading 
derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.

fair value hedge
changes in fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as 
fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with 
any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or liabilities that are 
attributable to the hedged risk. the Group only applies fair value hedge 
accounting for hedging foreign currency risk in unrecognized firm com-
mitments. the gain or loss relating to the effective portion of forward 
foreign currency contracts, hedging foreign currency risk in unrecognized 
firm commitments, is recognized as capitalized costs on the recognized firm 
commitment in the balance sheet. the gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognized in the income statement within financial items.   

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the ad-
justment to the carrying amount of the hedged item is depreciated over 
the useful life of the asset. 

1.11 inventory
Inventory of spare parts are carried at the lower of acquisition cost and 
net realizable value. cost is determined using the first in – first out (fIfo) 
method. obsolete inventory have been fully recognized as impairment 
losses. Inventory is consumed during maintenance and overhaul of the 
airplanes, and is expensed when consumed.

1.12 trade receivables
trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less 
provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables 
is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not 
be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivables. significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability 
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or payments more than 60 days 
overdue are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. 
provision for impairment (bad debt provision) are recognized within 
other operating expenses.  
 
Receivables from credit card companies are classified as trade receivables 
in the balance sheet.

1.13 cash and cash equivalents
cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and in banks, as well as short  >>
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term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.  
cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet include restricted funds 
from withheld employee tax, guarantees and deposits pledged as collateral 
for suppliers (note 24).

the Group holds investments in money market funds. these investments 
are classified as either cash equivalents or financial assets available-for-sale 
depending on the maturity of the investments.

1.14 equity
share capital comprises the number of shares multiplied by their nominal 
value, and are classified as equity. 

transaction costs directly attributable to an equity transaction are in 
equity net of tax. 

Acquisition of own shares are recognized in share capital and retained 
earnings. the number of shares purchased multiplied by the nominal 
value is deducted from outstanding share capital. the share premium 
paid is recognized in other equity. the sale of own shares is booked 
accordingly, with nominal value as increase of share capital, and share 
premium in other equity. 

1.15 Borrowings
borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs 
incurred. borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost; 
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value is recognized in the income statement over the period 
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the balance sheet date. for details for capitalization of 
borrowing costs, see note 11.

1.16 provisions
provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal 
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount 
has been reliably estimated. where the Group expects some or all of a 
provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, 
the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain. the expense relating to any provision 
is presented in the income statement net of any reimbursement. If the 
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted 
using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability. where discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a finance cost. 

1.17 employee benefits
Defined benefit plans
the Group operates a defined benefit pension plan which requires 
contributions to be made to a separately administered fund. In addition, 
the Group participates in an early retirement plan (Afp) for employments 
in norway. the cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan 
is determined using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method. 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or expense when the 
net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses, at the end of the 
previous reporting year, exceed 10% of the higher of the defined benefit 
obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date. these gains or 
losses are recognized over the expected average remaining working lives 

of the employees participating in the plans.
the past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the average period until the benefits are vested. If the benefits are 
already vested immediately following the introduction of or changes to a 
pension plan, past service cost is recognized immediately.

the defined benefit obligation is the aggregate of the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation and actuarial gains and losses not recognized 
reduced by past service costs not yet recognized and the fair value of 
plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.  
If such aggregate is negative, the asset is measured at the lower of such 
aggregate or the aggregate of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial 
losses and past service cost and the present value of any economic 
benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in 
the future contributions to the plan.

Defined contribution plans
In addition to the defined benefit plan described above, the Group’s 
subsidiary in sweden has made contributions to local pension plans. 
these contributions have been made to the pension plan for full-time 
employees and premiums are expensed as they incur.

share options
the employees and the management of the Group have received options 
to buy shares in the parent company. the fair value of the options to be 
settled in equity instruments is estimated at the grant date and recognized 
as an expense over the vesting period. the fair value of the options to 
be settled in cash is estimated at each year end and recognized as an 
expense over the vesting period. the fair value is determined by an ex-
ternal part using a black and scholes model. the assumptions underlying 
the number of options expected to vest are adjusted to reflect conditions 
prevailing at the balance sheet date. for further details see note 17.

employee share purchase savings program
bonus shares and employer’s contribution are measured at fair value 
using black and scholes option pricing model. the bonus expenses for 
the company are included in personnel costs. the distribution of bonus 
shares is accounted for in accordance with IfRs 2, where the fair value 
of the share distribution is recognized as an expense over the expected 
period until settlement. estimated employer’s contribution is recognized 
as an expense over the expected period until settlement. changes in 
estimates affecting employer’s contribution are expensed over the 
remaining expected period. for further details see note 17.

1.18 current and deferred income tax
current income tax
current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods 
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
the taxation authorities. the tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is determined by using the liability method on 
temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes. Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all 
deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.

>>
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the carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred income tax asset to be utilized. unrecognized deferred income 
tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognized 
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will 
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized or when 
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted, or substantively enacted, at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset 
to the extent that: 

•  the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and 
•  deferred tax assets and tax liabilities relates to income tax from the 

same tax authorities and same taxable entity in the Group, or if different 
taxable entities in the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or 
to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on 
investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing of the  
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

1.19 contingent assets and liabilities
A contingent asset is not recognized in the annual financial statements, 
but disclosed in the notes where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

contingent liabilities are defined as possible obligations arising from 
past events whose existence depends on future events, or it is not 
probable that they will lead to an outflow of resources, or cannot be 
measured with sufficient reliability.

contingent liabilities are not recognized in the annual financial statements, 
but significant contingent liabilities are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements, with the exception of contingent liabilities where 
the probability of the liability occurring is remote. 

1.20 revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary course 
of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax and 
discounts. the Group recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue 
can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each 
of the Group’s activities as described below

passenger revenue
passenger revenue is reported as traffic revenue when the air transport 
has been carried out. the value of tickets sold and still valid but not used 
at the balance sheet date (amounts sold in excess of revenue recognized) 
is reported as air traffic settlement liability. this liability is reduced 
either when the Group or another airline completes the transportation or 
when the passenger requests a refund.

Ancillary revenue
Ancillary revenue comprises sales of ticket-related products and services, 
e.g; excess baggage and fees. some of the products and services are 

earned at the time when the transport has been carried out, and such 
revenue is recognized in the same manner as passenger revenue. other 
products and services are earned at the time of purchase and immedi-
ately recognized in the income statement. 

Amounts paid by ‘no show’ customers are recognized as revenue when 
the booked service is provided. ‘no show’ customers with low fare tickets 
are not entitled to change flights or seek refunds once a flight has departed. 

other revenue
other revenue comprises third party revenue, such as wet-lease, cargo 
and revenue from business activities in subsidiaries which are not airlines. 
 
other airline revenue is recognized when the service has been rendered, 
fees are reliable measurable, collections are probable, and when other 
significant obligations have been fulfilled. 
 
Revenue from sales of GsM and broadband products and services 
comprises traffic fees and subscription, as well as telephone and pc 
products. Revenue from subscription fees are recognized over the 
subscription period while deliveries of other services are recognized 
as revenue at the time of actual use. Revenue from product sales  are 
recognized when the equipment including related significant risks and 
rewards are transferred to the buyer and the entity no longer retains 
effective control over the products sold.

customer loyalty program – norwegian Reward
the Group has implemented a customer loyalty program. customers earn 
cash points in the following circumstances;

•  bank norwegian customer; 1% of the payment is earned on all purchases, 
except domestic flights within norway or flights with competitive airlines 
within norway. Additionally, cash points are earned on all low fare and full 
flex tickets purchased from norwegian Air shuttle AsA and paid with 
a bank norwegian credit card, with 4% and 19% of the purchase price, 
respectively. 

•  My reward customer; 2% on all low fare tickets and 10% on all full flex tickets.
•  corporate reward customer; 3% on all low fare tickets and 7% on all 
 full flex tickets.

•  call norwegian customer; 3% of all purchases.

corporate customers  gain cash points on all airfares. private customers 
gain cash points on international flights only, as domestic flights in 
norway are prohibited from cash points earning for private customers.

customer cash points gained from purchasing  airline tickets and pur-
chases from call norwegian are recognized as a liability in the  
balance sheet and deducted from the value of the purchase at the date 
of purchase. the customer cash point liability is derecognized from the 
balance sheet and recognized as income when customers utilize their 
cash points. 
 
earned customer cash points on 1% reward from bank norwegian are 
recognized as a liability in the balance sheet and immediately expensed. 
when the customers utilize earned cash points, the liability is derecognized 
and cash payment on the Group’s services reduced. 

unutilized cash points are derecognized from the balance sheet after 
three years. the liability is classified as short term, as available statistics  
as of 31 December 2009 indicate that customer cash points are utilized 
within one year. >>
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1.21 leasing
to determine   whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease, it is 
necessary to assess  whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is 
dependent on the use of a specific asset and if the arrangement conveys 
a right to use the asset.

the lease agreements   where most of the risk lies  with the other 
contracting party are classified as operating leases. operating lease 
payments are recognized as an expense in the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. payments for the lease and 
payments for other elements are recognized separately. 

Deposits made at the inception of operating leases are carried at amor-
tized cost. the difference between the nominal value of a deposit paid, 
carried at less than market interest and its fair value is considered as 
additional rent payable to the lessor and is expensed on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.
 
the Group leases tangible assets where the lease agreements transfer 
all material risks and rewards of the asset to the lessee at the end of 
the lease term. such lease agreements are classified as financial leases. 
financial leases are recognized at inception to the lowest of acquisition 

cost and the net present value of minimum lease payments.  financial 
lease assets are depreciated on a linear basis over the lease period if 
such is shorter than the economic useful life of the financial lease asset. 
financial lease assets are included in the balance sheet as tangible assets.
 
each lease payment under financial leases is split between the lease 
liability and finance cost to amortize the financial costs related to such 
leases over the lease period. the lease liability is classified as borrow-
ings, see note 22 for details. 
 
1.22 Segment reporting
the Group has one operational segment, which is low cost air passenger 
travel. the Group has one geographical segment which is the route 
portfolio in europe. see note 4 for further details.

1.23 events after the balance sheet date
new information regarding the Group’s positions at the balance sheet 
date is taken into account in the preparation of the annual financial 
statements.  events which occur after the balance sheet date that do 
not affect the Group’s position at the balance sheet date, but which will 
affect the Group’s position in the future, are stated if significant.

>>

the Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk 
(including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk. the Group’s overall risk management program focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. the Group uses 
derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group 
treasury) under policies approved by the board of Directors. Group trea-
sury identifies evaluates and hedges financial risk in close co-operation 
with the Group’s operating units. the board provides principles for overall 
risk management such as foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 
use of derivative financial instruments and investment of excess liquidity. 

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign 
exchange rates, jet-fuel prices and interest rates will affect the Group’s 
income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. 

foreign currency Risk 
A substantial part of the Group’s expenses are denominated in foreign 
currency. the Group’s leases, aircraft borrowings, maintenance, jet-fuel 
and related expenses are mainly denominated in usD, and a share of 
airplane operation expenses are denominated in euR. foreign currency 
risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and 
liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. In order to reduce 
currency risk, the Group has a mandate to hedge up to 100% of its currency 
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exposure over the next 12 months. the hedging consists of forward currency 
contracts and flexible forwards. 

occasionally the Group designates certain forward foreign currency 
contracts as hedging instruments to hedge the fair value of currency risk 
in unrecognised firm commitments. 

the Group has included sensitivity analysis on foreign currency risk 
based on two different scenarios; sensitivity in usD to noK on finan-
cial assets and liabilities at 31 December, and actual sensitivity in usD 
exposure interdependent with jet-fuel. the rationale for such sensitivity 
is that usD exposure in the airline industry is closely related to usD 
exposure on jet-fuel as jet-fuel actually represents a usD exposure.

If noK had weakened/strengthened by 1 % against usD in 2009, with all 
other variables held constant, pre-tax profit and pre-tax equity effect 
for the year would have been MnoK 6.2 (2008: MnoK 0.3) lower/higher, 
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on receivables, payables, 
derivative financial instruments and borrowings in usD.

by calculating sensitivity on foreign currency risk in usD using usD and 
jet-fuel prices as interdependent variables on operating income, a weak-
ening/strengthening in noK by 1% against usD dollar, pre-tax profit and 
pre-tax equity effect for 2009 would have been MnoK 28.7 (2008:MnoK 
31) lower/higher. this calculation is based on estimated fuel consumption 
over the next 12 months, estimated net outflow of usD over the next 12 
months, estimated average jet-fuel price and estimated average usD/noK 
exchange rate.

If noK had weakened/strengthened by 1 % against euR with all other 
variables held constant, pre-tax profit and pre-tax equity effect for the 
year would have been MnoK 0.6 (2008: MnoK 3.6) higher/lower, mainly as 
a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on receivables, payables and 
derivative financial instruments.

the Group has investments in operations in sweden and poland, whose 
net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. currency 
exposure arising from the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations is 
regarded as immaterial for the Group, and currency variances are not hedged.

Interest rate risk
As the Group has net interest bearing debt, the Group’s income and operating 
cash flows are dependent of changes in the market interest rates.  
the Group’s interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and 
floating interest rate borrowings. floating interest rate borrowings consist 
of unsecured bond issue, revolving credit facility and financial lease. 
borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the group to fair value interest 
rate risk. fixed interest rate borrowings consist of aircraft financing from 
pefco, guaranteed by the ex-Im bank of the united states. borrowings are 
denominated in usD and noK. 

If the floating interest rate in 2009 had been 1 % higher/lower with all 
other variables held constant, pre-tax profit and pre-tax equity effect 
for the year would have been MnoK 2.0 (2008: MnoK 2.4) lower/higher, 
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income and expense on float-
ing rate cash and cash equivalents and borrowings.

the sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk is calculated based on nominal 
value of borrowings and cash and cash equivalents.

the Group measures borrowings at amortized cost. no changes in fair 

value of fixed rate interest rate borrowings would be accounted for.  
fair value calculations of fixed interest rate borrowings are detailed in note 22.

Jet-fuel prices
expenses for jet-fuel represents a substantial part of the Group’s operating 
costs, and fluctuations in the jet-fuel prices influence the projected cash 
flows. the objective of the jet-fuel price risk management policy is to 
provide protection against significant and sudden increases in jet-fuel 
prices whilst retaining access to price reductions. the Group manages 
jet-fuel price risk using fuel derivatives. Management has a mandate to 
hedge up to 100 % of its expected consumption over the next 12 months 
with forward commodity contracts. 

If the jet-fuel price in 2009 had increased/decreased by 1 % with all other 
variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have been 
MnoK 17.0 (2008: MnoK 17.0) lower/higher.

the sensitivity analysis is calculated based on estimated jet-fuel 
consumption including estimated hedged consumption over the next 
12 months. As opposed to the sensitivity analysis of usD currency risk, 
the jet-fuel price risk analysis is not based on interdependence between 
jet-fuel price and usD exchange rates. the sensitivity is calculated using 
usD/noK exchange rate at the balance sheet date. 

the Group holds forward commodity contracts to hedge jet-fuel price 
risk. such derivative contracts affect the financial statements through 
unrealized gains/losses from jet-fuel prices. If jet-fuel price had in-
creased/decreased by 1% with all other variables held constant, pre-tax 
profit for the year would have been MnoK 21.3 (2008: MnoK 2) higher/
lower, as a result of unrealized gains/losses on price changes on forward 
commodity contracts held at the balance sheet date.

credit risk 
credit risk is managed on group basis. credit risk arises from cash and cash 
equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and 
financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to travel agencies and com-
mercial customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. 
the utilization of credit limits is regularly monitored. the Group’s policy is 
to maintain credit sales at a minimum level. sales to  private customers are 
settled in cash or using major credit card companies.

for a part of the Group’s sales, customers pay at the time of booking while 
norwegian receive the actual payments from the credit card companies, or  
acquires, are received at a later point in time. Delayed payments from credit 
card companies vary between credit card brands. the risk arising from receivables 
on credit card companies or credit card acquires are monitored closely.  

credit risk related to bank defaults are closely monitored and partly offset by 
diversifying the Group’s deposit portfolio.
 
there are re-invoicing of maintenance costs on aircraft to leasing companies, 
and norwegian regularly evaluates and assesses the value of these credits.  
see note 20 for further disclosure on credit risk.

liquidity risk
prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and 
marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount 
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. 

the management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve,  
cash and cash equivalents (see note 24) on the basis of expected cash flow.  
this is generally carried out at the local level in the operating companies of the >>
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Group in accordance with practice and limits set by the Group. In addition, the 
Group’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows in major 
currencies and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to  monitor 
balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external regulatory 
requirements and maintaining debt financing plans.

the Group will take deliveries of 7 aircraft in 2010, 14 aircraft in 2011 and the 
remaining 25 aircraft between  2012 and 2014. pre-delivery payments related 
to the delivery of the first 10 aircraft were secured in 2007.  2 aircraft included 
in the pre-delivery payments, were delivered in 2009. Another 7 aircraft with 

delivery in 2010 were  also included in the pre-delivery payments. At the delivery of 
the aircraft, pre-delivery payments are replaced with other long term financing. 
the Group has secured the financing of 5 aircraft in 2010 through guarantees 
and direct loans from the ex-Im bank of the united states and is currently in 
the process of securing long term financing for the last 2 deliveries in 2010. 
this financing arrangement  reduces liquidity risk.
 
the table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s financial 
liabilities at the balance sheet date. the amounts disclosed are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows; 

>>

at 31 December 2009 (noK 1 000) less than 1 year Between 1 and 2 years Between 2 and 5 years over 5 years 
    
borrowings 675 303 362 991 330 668 214 048
financial lease liability 5 100 5 100 13 737 10 615
Derivative contracts - payments 1 227 0 0 0
trade and other payables  746 549 0 0 0
Interest on borrowings *) 65 023 52 666 143 417 113 572
total financial liabilities 1 493 202 420 756 487 823 338 234

*) calculated interests on borrowings

at 31 December 2008 (noK 1 000) less than 1 year Between 1 and 2 years Between 2 and 5 years over 5 years 
    
borrowings 257 456 440 873 0 0
Derivative contracts - payments 195 577 0 0 0
trade and other payables  694 832 0 0 0
subordinated bond loan *) 30 000 0 0 0
interest on borrowings **) 37 855 7 981 0 0
total financial liabilities 1 215 720 448 854 0 0
Derivative contracts - receipts -91 253 0 0 0
total 1 124 467 0 0 0
    
*) subordinated bond loan issued to bank norwegian    
**) calculated interests on borrowings    

noK 1 000 2009 2008
  
total borrowings (note 22) 1 583 010 698 330
cash and cash equvalents (note 24) 1 408 475 607 536
net debt 174 535 90 794
total equity 1 601 607 897 368
total capital 1 776 142 988 162
gearing ratio 9.8 % 9.2 %

capital risk management 
the Group’s capital management policy is to maintain a capital structure  which meets the demands of  operations, reducing cost of capital, risk 
factors in the industry, company specific risk and future investments planned by the Group. the Group will at all times adjust debt and equity to 
maintain and secure optimal capital structure by continuously monitoring the gearing ratio of the Group. this ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 
total capital. net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings less cash and cash equivalents as shown in the 
consolidated balance sheet). total capital is calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt. 
 
the gearing ratios at 31 December 2009 and 2008 were as follows;
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note 3 fAIR vAlue estIMAtIon

fair value estimation
financial instruments that are measured in the balance sheet at fair 
value, requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the 
following fair value measurement hierarchy:

level 1
the fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based 
on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded 
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available and 
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an 
arm’s length basis

level 2
the fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active 
market is determined by using valuation techniques. these valuation 
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is 
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. 

financial instruments in level 2 include forward contracts classified as 
derivatives. the fair values of forward foreign currency contracts and 
forward commodities contracts are determined using forward prices and 
rates at the balance sheet date, with the resulting value discounted back 
to present value. 

level 3
If one or more of the significant inputs are not based on observable 
market data, specific valuation techniques are used. financial instru-
ments included in the level 3 valuation technique relates to investment 
in unlisted shares in silver pensjonsforsikring classified as available-for-
sale financial assets. see note 20 for additional details on available-for-
sale financial assets.

the following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value at 31 December 2009;

(noK 1 000) level 2 level 3 total
  
assets   
financial assets at fair value through profit and loss   
- Derivative financial instruments 23 688 0 23 688
Available-for-sale financial assets 0 7 236 7 236
total assets 23 688 7 236 30 924
liabilities   
- Derivative financial liabilities 1 227 0 1 227
total liabilities 1 227 0 1 227

there are no fair value calculations in level 1.

note 4 seGMent InfoRMAtIon

executive management reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to 
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has determined 
the operating segment based on these reports. executive management 
considers the business as one operational segment, which is low cost air 
passenger travel. the Group’s operating profit arises from airline-related 
activities and the main revenue generating assets of the Group is its 
aircraft fleet, which is employed flexibly across the Group’s geographical 
segment which is europe. 

performance is measured by executive management based on the 
operating segment earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortization (ebItDA). other information is measured in a manner 
consistent with that in the financial statements.

the table below shows revenues from low cost air passenger travel split 
between passenger revenue, ancillary revenue and other revenue. A split 
in revenue between domestic and international flights is also included;

noK 1 000 2009 2008
  
By activity:
passenger transport 6 389 406 5 641 533
Ancillary revenue 788 655 463 609
other revenues 131 129 121 271
total 7 309 189 6 226 413

By geographic market:
norway 2 899 736 2 294 940
other eu/eeA countries 4 409 454 3 931 473
total 7 309 189 6 226 413
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noK 1 000 2009 2008
  
sales and distribution expenses 149 415 115 251
Aviation fuel 1 423 328 2 006 248
Aircraft leases 620 114 426 597
Airport charges 1 037 716 841 999
handling charges 722 658 615 740
technical maintenance expenses 659 796 574 077
other aircraft expenses 325 371 312 815
total operational expenses 4 938 399 4 892 727

note 5 opeRAtIonAl eXpenses

note 6 pAYRoll eXpenses AnD nuMbeR of eMploYees

noK 1 000 2009 2008
  
wages and salaries 762 772 682 882
social security tax 138 472 121 525
pension expenses 138 485 120 894
employee stock options 8 437 6 232
other benefits 39 439 31 448
hired crew personnel 215 695 113 087
total 1 303 299 1 076 068

payroll expenses include hired crew personnel. the employees in norway are members of the parent company’s defined benefit pension plan, while the 
employees in sweden are members of a defined pension contribution plan. see note 18 for details.

note 5 a other operating expenses
other operating expenses amount to MnoK 396.1 (2008:318.1). other operating expenses are related to operating the  systems, marketing, back office, 
consultants and other costs not directly attributable to the operation of the aircraft fleet and related airline specific costs.

number of man-labour years *) 2009 2008
  
norway  1 494   1 146 
sweden  113   159 
poland  77   73 
total  1 684   1 378 

*) excluding man-labour years related to hired crew personnel
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note 7 ReMuneRAtIon to the boARD of DIRectoRs AnD eXecutIve MAnAGeMent

Board and Management remuneration
Remuneration to the board of Directors
total remuneration paid to the board in 2009 was MnoK 0.7. the chairman 
of the board, bjørn Kise, received MnoK 0.2. there were no bonuses or 
other forms of compensation paid to the board members in 2009. 

Directive of remuneration to the ceo and the executive Management
the principles for leadership remuneration in norwegian Air shuttle AsA 
are to stimulate  a strong and lasting profit oriented culture. the total 
compensation level should be competitive, however, not market leading 
compared to similar organizations. the board defines the remuneration 
to the ceo, and the guidelines for remuneration to the executive Management. 
the remuneration to the board and the executive Management must 
not have negative effects for the Group, nor damage the reputation and 
standing of the Group in the public eye. there have been no changes in 
the guidelines or principles for management remuneration during the 

year. the actual remuneration in 2009 was consistent with the guidelines 
and principles. 

compensation to the executive Management should primarily consist of 
fixed yearly salary with additional compensations such as a company 
car, free telephone, internet and newspapers, and standard pension and 
insurance plan. executive Management is also a part of the Group’s stock 
option plan. 

the ceo does not  receive  compensation in form of performance based 
salary or bonuses. the executive Management can on an individual basis 
be awarded special compensation for profit enhancing projects.

the executive Management is part of the Group’s collective pension plan 
for salary up to 12 G, which applies to all employees. senior Management 
has no special rights in the event of termination of employment.

noK 1 000 fee Salary Bonus  other benefits **) total compensation pension expense ***) 
 
the Board of Directors
bjørn Kise (chairman) 193    193  
erik Gunnar braathen 150    150
(deputy chairman until 26.11.2009)  
liv berstad 100    100  
ola Krohn-fagervoll 100    100  
Marianne wergeland Jenssen 100    100  
halvor vatnar*) 35    35  
sissel Gjelstad vårum*) 35    35  
Monika Johansen*) 35    35  
total board of directors 748 0 0 0 748 0

executive Management
bjørn Kjos (chief executive officer)   1 256    175 1 431 a)   127
frode foss (chief financial officer)  1 110  118 1 228 b)   79
Asgeir nyseth (chief operating officer)  1 186  10 1 196 c)   121
hans-petter Aanby (chief It officer)  1 110  116 1 226 d)   104
Daniel skjeldam (chief commercial officer)  1 055  99 1 154 e)   44
Gunnar Martinsen  826  18 844   105
(senior vice president hR and organisation)
Anne-sissel skånvik  825  111 936 f)   123
(senior vice president corporate communications)
total executive management 0 7 368 0 647 8 015 702

*) for the employee representatives in the board of Directors, only their fee for serving on the board of Directors fee is stated.     
**) other benefits include company car, telephone, internet etc.    
***) pension expense reflects paid pension premium less employee contribution    
    
a) bjørn Kjos exercised share options in 2009 that has been reported as additional taxable income with noK 466,830    
b) frode foss exercised share options in 2009 that has been reported as additional taxable income with noK 384,039    
c) Asgeir nyseth exercised share options in 2009 that has been reported as additional taxable income with noK 385,894    
d) hans-petter Aanby exercised share options in 2009 that has been reported as additional taxable income with noK 384,735    
e) Daniel skjeldam exercised share options in 2009 that has been reported as additional taxable income with noK 176,249    
f) Anne-sissel skånvik was appointed in 2009, replacing former senior vice president corporate communications.    

total compensation year 2009

>>
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note 7 ReMuneRAtIon to the boARD of DIRectoRs AnD eXecutIve MAnAGeMent

noK 1 000 fee Salary Bonus  other benefits **) total compensation pension expense ***) 
 
the Board of Directors
erik Gunnar braathen (chairman) 150    150
bjørn Kise (deputy chairman) 125    125
berit slåtto neerbye 100    100
liv berstad 100    100
ola Krohn-fagervoll 100    100
halvor vatnar*) 35    35
sissel Gjelstad vårum*) 35    35
Monika Johansen*) 35    35
total board of directors 680 0 0 0 680 0

executive Management
bjørn Kjos (chief executive officer)   1 291    173 1 464   181
frode foss (chief financial officer)  1 144  117 1 261 84
Asgeir nyseth (chief operating officer)  1 081  10 1 091 113
hans-petter Aanby (chief It officer)  1 269  114 1 383 113
Daniel skjeldam (chief commercial officer)  1 035  13 1 047 76
Gunnar Martinsen  715  24 739 127
(senior vice president hR and organisation)
Anne Grete ellingsen  859 15 874  133
(senior vice president corporate communications)
total executive management 0 7 392 0 467 7 859 826

*) for the employee representatives in the board of Directors, only their fee for serving on the board of Directors fee is stated.      
**) other benefits include company car, telephone, internet etc.     
***) pension expense reflects paid pension premium less employee contribution     
     
shares and options owned by senior Managers are presented in note 15. there are no  outstanding loans or guarantees made to  
the board of Directors or the executive Management.     

total compensation year 2008

noK 1 000 2009 2008
  
    
Audit fee 1 294  1 126 
other audit related services 2 738  422 
tax advisory  534  588 
other services  221  79 
total 4 787  2 215

>> 

audit remuneration (excl vat)
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note 8 net fInAncIAl IteMs

noK 1 000 2009 2008
  
    
Interest income 23 206 39 427
Interest expense -20 933 -9 880
net foreign exchange (loss) or gain 39 311 -31 377
Appreciation cash equivalents 6 127 -310
fair value adjustment long term deposits 152 122
hedge inefficiency 0 358 264
other financial items 110 -4 279
net financial items 47 974 351 966 

foreign exchange derivatives and fuel derivatives classified as financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured 
at fair value at each balance sheet date with changes in fair value recognized as other gains and losses within operating expenses.

non interest bearing deposits for aircraft leases are classified at fair value and a periodic interest income is calculated using the same interest rate as 
for fair value calculation, according to IAs 39.43.

the hedge inefficiency in 2008 is related to the foreign exchange hedge in usD on the purchase contract on 42 new boeing 737-800. the arrangement 
was designated as fair value hedge accounting for a period, according to IAs 39 – financial instruments. see note 20 for details.

note 9 tAX

this year’s tax expense consists of (noK 1 000) 2009 2008
 
tax payable 111 158 267
tax paid in current year on current year income 1 241 787
change in deferred tax 64 390 340
income tax expense 176 789 1 394

Reconciliation from nominal to effective tax rate:

noK 1 000 2009 2008

profit before tax 623 040 5 339
   
expected tax expense using nominal tax rate (28 %) 174 451 1 495
    
tax effect of the following items:   
non deductible expenses -487 -2 694
Adjustments from previous year 6 874 
tax rate outside norway other than 28% -4 051 2 474
other items 0 118
tax expense 176 789 1 394
effective tax rate 28.38 % 26.10 %

>> 
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note 9 tAX

Deferred tax assets 2009 liabilities 2009 assets 2008 liabilities 2008 
    
Intangible assets 0 -4 533 0 -8 584
tangible assets 0 -5 965 0 -15 298
long term receivables and borrowings in foreign currency 0 -16 853 0 0
Inventories 0 1 167 0 0
Receivables -13 20 071 653 9 693
financial instruments 0 -6 289 0 23 974
Derferred gains/losses 0 35 0 44
other accruals 0 29 980 0 29 715
pensions 0 27 316 0 17 308
other temporary differences 0 -62 736 0 -70 934
loss carried forward 170 0 59 107 4 387
gross deferred tax assets and liabilities 157 -17 806 59 759 -9 695

reconciliation of deferred tax assets and liabilities assets 2009 liabilities 2009 assets 2008 liabilities 2008 

Recognized at 1 January  59 759 -9 695 61 317 -19 470
charged/credited to the income statement -54 179 -10 211 -3 404 3 063
changes in tax rate in sweden 0 0 1 920 554
charged directly to equity  0 2 109 0 6 870
translation differences -5 422 -9 -75 -712
recognized at 31 December 157 -17 806 59 759 -9 695

the Group has recognized MnoK 0.2 as a deferred tax asset in 2009. Deferred tax asset is based on unused tax loss carry forwards and temporary 
differences in assets and liabilities. the tax loss carried forward is expected to be utilized by future taxable profits. Deferred tax liability is based on 
allocation of purchase price of norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab to fair values, as well as temporary differences in assets and liabilities.

>> 

noK 1 000 Software goodwill indefinite life Definite life total 
   
acquisition costs 1 January 2008 79 112 116 453 22 715 64 964 283 244
Additions 29 392 0 0 4 022 33 414
Adjusted purchase price (note 25) 0 -21 509 0 0 -21 509
translation differences 0 6 909 1 383 4 932 13 225
acquisition costs 31 December 2008 108 504 101 853 24 098 73 919 308 374
acquisition costs 1 January 2009 108 504 101 853 24 098 73 919 308 374
Additions 43 660 0 0 0 43 660
translation differences 0 -7 695 -1 692 -715 -10 103
acquisition costs 31 December 2009 152 164 94 157 22 406 73 203 341 932
     
Accumulated amortization 1 January 2008 44 419 0 0 6 418 50 837
amortization  17 293 0 0 27 345 44 638
Impairment 0 0 0 12 097 12 097
translation differences 0 0 0 2 728 2 728
accumulated amortization 31 December 2008 61 712 0 0 48 588 110 300
Accumulated amortization 1 January 2009 61 712 0 0 48 588 110 300
Amortization  23 013 0 0 16 436 39 449
translation differences 0 0 0 1 637 1 637
accumulated amortization 31 December 2009 84 725 0 0 66 661 151 386
     
Book value at 31 December 2008 46 792 101 853 24 098 25 331 198 074
Book value at 31 December 2009 67 438 94 157 22 406 6 543 190 543
     
useful life  3-5 years   Indefinite   Indefinite   see below  
Amortization plan linear none none linear 

note 10 IntAnGIble Assets

>> 

the following table details deferred tax assets and liabilities;



Annual Report 2009 norwegian Air shuttle AsA 37

capitalized software is related to external consulting fees for the development of norwegian’s own systems for booking and ticket-less travel, various 
sales portals, back office and new maintenance system (AMos). these costs are amortized over their estimated useful lives (three to five years).

other intangible assets and goodwill are related to the purchase of norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab on 31 July 2007. other intangible assets from 
business combinations consist of estimated fair value of brand name, charter operations, slots and the Air operating certificate. other intangible 
assets also consist of intellectual property rights which are related to purchases of internet domains. the Group has developed web portals in norway, 
sweden and Denmark. 

Goodwill, slots and intellectual property rights are determined to have indefinite economic lives, and are not amortized. slots and intellectual property 
rights do not expire over time, as long as management has the intention to continue using the slots. 
 
brand name, charter operations and air operating certificate have definite lives and are amortized over their economic useful lives. charter opera-
tions are defined to have an economic life of 15 months from the date of purchase, and the fair value of the asset is amortized linear over 15 months. 
brand name was initially defined to have indefinite economic life. however, due to restructuring and rebranding during 1st quarter of 2008, brand name 
from the acquisition was impaired. An impairment loss of MnoK 12 was recognized in profit or loss at 31 March 2008. At the same time, brand name was 
defined to have a definite economic life of 12 months from the date of impairment. Remaining fair value of the asset at 31 March 2008 is amortized 
linear over 12 months. Air operating certificate was also defined to have indefinite life at the date of acquisition. however, due to restructuring of the 
swedish operations, the Air operating certificate was assessed to have a definite life of 12 months starting from 1 March 2009. charter operations and 
brand name were fully amortized in 2009.

Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets
the Group tests goodwill and assets with indefinite useful lives annually at year end for impairment. Intangible assets with definite lives are tested for 
impairment if indicators of impairment are identified.

the method used to estimate the recoverable amount is value in use, based on discounted cash flow analysis. the analysis reflects the cash flow 
projections in the financial business plan covering the next year approved by senior Management. In addition, the calculation includes estimated 
cash flows for the next 5 years. Key assumptions used in the calculation are growth rates, operating costs, terminal value and discount rate. cash flow 
beyond the 5 year period is extrapolated with a long term growth rate. estimated cash flow and discount rate is after tax.

Discount rate
the discount rate used is 11.6% and is based on weighted Average cost of capital (wAcc). the cost of the Group’s debt and equity capital, weighted  
accordingly to reflect its capital structure, gives its weighted average cost of capital. the wAcc rates used to discount the future cash flows are 
based on market risk free interest rate adjusted for inflation differential and also take into account the debt premium, market risk premium, gearing 
corporate tax rate and asset beta. An increase of the discount rate by 1% will not result in impairment of goodwill.

Growth rates
the basis for determining future growth rate is next year management approved budget, and an estimated sales growth rate based on planned 
production increase, expansion of route portfolio and expected increase in market share. 

operating costs
the operating costs are estimated based on the budget period and on estimated future development. consideration is taken to committed operations 
efficiency programs, and the planned operating expansion. changes in the outcome of these initiatives may affect future estimated operating costs. 
A permanent increase of 1% of total costs, with all other assumptions remaining equal, will not result in impairment of assets.

terminal value
A growth rate of 2% is used in determining cash flow beyond the 5 year period.
 
sensitivity
At 31 December 2009, the value in use of the Group was significantly higher than the carrying amount of its goodwill and intangible assets. the 
impairment calculation is not particularly sensitive to changes in assumptions.

note 10 IntAnGIble Assets
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note 11 tAnGIble Assets 

   aircraft, parts and
   installations on prepayment equipment financial
noK 1 000 Buildings leased aircraft Boeing contract and fixtures lease  total
    
Acquisition cost at 1 January 2008 3 933 300 914 316 546 60 619 0 682 013
Additions 0 373 327 388 619 20 106 0 782 052
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
acquisition cost at 31 December 2008 3 933 674 242 705 165 80 725 0 1 464 065
      
Acquisition cost at 1 January 2009 3 933 674 242 705 165 80 725 0 1 464 065
Additions 0 546 073 705 827 19 606 26 468 1 297 974
Disposals 0 -16 557 0 -238 0 -16 795
acquisition cost at 31 December 2009 3 933 1 203 758 1 410 992 100 093 26 468 2 745 244
      
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2008 0 91 095 0 36 306 0 127 401
Depreciation and impairment 0 59 471 0 13 406 0 72 877
Reversals 0 0 0 0 0 0
accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2008 0 150 566 0 49 533 0 200 278
      
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2009 0 150 566 0 49 533 0 200 099
Depreciation and impairment 0 89 281 0 19 776 376 109 433
Reversals 0 -10 981 0 -121 0 -11 102
accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2009 0 228 866 0 69 188 376 298 430
      
Book value at 31 December 2008 3 933 523 676 705 165 31 014 0 1 263 787
Book value at 31 December 2009 3 933 974 892 1 410 992 30 905 26 092 2 446 814
      
estimated useful life, depreciation plan and residual value is as follows:     
 
useful life see below see below see below 3-9 years 4-20 years 
Depreciation plan see below linear see below linear linear 
Residual value 100 % see below see below 0 % 0 % 

At 31 December 2009, the Group operated a total of 46 aircraft, 7 owned and 39 leased under operational leases. operational leases are detailed in note 12. 

Aircraft
the group acquired 2 boeing 737-800 nG aircraft during 2009. Aircraft is decomposed and depreciated over the economic useful life of each 
component on a straight-line basis. the body of the aircraft  is depreciated based on economic useful years, while other components are based on 
airborne hours and cycles.

the residual value is MnoK 206.1 in total for all owned aircraft and deducted from the depreciable amount of the body of the aircraft. the life 
expectancy of the body of the aircraft  is 25 years on 737-800 and 30 years on 737-300, and the economic life of the owned aircraft is 25 or 30 years 
less the age of the aircraft at time of purchase.

Installations on leased aircraft
the installations on the leased aircraft include cabin interior modifications and other improvements to the aircraft after lease commencement. the 
capitalized value is depreciated over the remainder of the aircraft lease, which is between 1-8 years. linear depreciation is applied and residual value 
is noK 0. In 2009 several engines on the leased aircraft were in overhaul, and replacement costs for life limited parts were capitalized in the extent 
that the costs were improvements to the engines exceeding the requirements specified in the leasing contracts. these components are depreciated at 
a defined rate per engine cycle, limited to the remainder of the aircraft lease.

spare parts
spare parts consist of rotable and repairable parts for aircraft and are depreciated over their useful life. useful life of spare parts is between 4-10 
years. linear depreciation is applied and 25% of the acquisition cost is calculated as residual value.  

buildings
buildings consist of 3 apartments in berlin, purchased in 2007 for the purpose of housing crew and trainees stationed in berlin on temporary basis. 
the asset is carried at acquisition cost. the residual value is estimated to equal the acquisition cost.

prepayments on boeing contract
In 2007, the Group entered into a purchase contract on 42 new 737-800 aircraft with boeing corporation, with an option on 42 additional aircraft. two 
aircraft have been delivered in 2009, and 6 purchase options have been exercised. 46 aircraft will be delivered i between 2010  and 2014. until delivery 
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of the aircraft, the Group will make prepayments to boeing, following a defined prepayment schedule. the Group capitalizes borrowing costs incurred 
for the construction of qualifying assets during the period of time that is required to complete the aircraft. borrowing costs of MnoK 33.5 (2008: MnoK 
30.5) have been capitalized during the year. Average capitalization rate of 7.66% (2007: 8.21%) was used. the Group applied fair value hedge accounting of 
unrecognized firm commitment for the three first quarters of 2008. the hedging relationship was terminated at 16 october 2008. the remaining fair 
value of the unrecognized firm commitment of MnoK 8.7 at the date of termination was capitalized as a part of the prepayments. prepayments are not 
depreciated until the aircraft is delivered and ready to  use. the value of prepayments is tested for impairment annually.

financial lease asset
In 2009, the Group entered into lease agreements related to de-ice equipment and electronic flight bag equipment. the lease agreements are classified 
as financial leases as all risks and rewards are transferred to the Group after the end of the lease agreement. the financial lease assets are depreciated 
over their economic useful lives. De-ice equipment is depreciated over 20 years, while electronic flight bag equipment is depreciated over 4 years. 
Residual value of financial lease assets is 0.

Impairment of tangible assets
In 2009 and 2008 the management determined that the total operations of the Group were its cash generating unit, and as such, there is only one 
operational segment in the Group. Impairment testing of tangible assets are covered by impairment testing on the whole Group, see note 10 for details.

no impairment losses have been recognized in 2009. 

for information regarding assets pledged as collateral for debt, see note 23.

note 11 tAnGIble Assets

note 12 opeRAtInG leAses

the lease agreements for the boeing 737 aircraft vary  between 3 to 8 years  with an option to prolong  certain agreements. 6 of the aircraft were 
delivered in 2002, 2 aircraft in 2003, 4 aircraft in 2004, 2 aircraft in 2005, 6 aircraft in 2006, 2 aircraft in 2007, 8 aircraft in 2008 and 9 aircraft in 2009. 
Renegotiations have resulted in prolonging  some of the short-term leases. the contracts for 5 of the aircraft expire in 2010 and for 8 of the aircraft in 
2011. the remaining contracts expire in 2012 or later.

leasing costs expensed on aircraft lease within operational expenses was MnoK 574.0 in 2009 (2008: MnoK 426.6)

In addition, the Group leases 13 cars, and 9 properties in oslo, stavanger, stockholm, copenhagen and warsaw. leasing costs related to cars and 
properties expensed in other operating expenses in 2009 was MnoK 21.2 (MnoK 19.1 in 2008)
 
Annual minimum rent on non-cancellable operating lease agreements;

noK 1 000 aircraft cars property total 
   
within one year 887 912 3 910 17 082 908 905
between 1 and 5 years 2 448 487 14 220 36 668 2 499 375
After 5 years 724 171 7 110 13 233 744 513

aircraft cars property total 
   
613 824 560 18 466 632 850
1 509 123 498 63 326 1 572 947
552 286 0 19 849 572 134

nominal value 2009   nominal value 2008

the aircraft’s minimum lease payments consist of ordinary lease payments, contractual payments for maintenance reserves and expensed deferred 
lease payments resulting from non interest bearing deposits paid at inception of lease agreement.
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note 13 tRADe AnD otheR ReceIvAbles

noK 1 000 2009 2008  

Spesification of receivables
trade receivables 87 533 121 808
credit card receivables 435 773 424 054
Deposits 60 211 71 493
Deferred leasing costs 3 491 8 539
prepaid costs 20 376 19 041
public duty debt 88 698 57 025
Reimbursements claims maintenance costs 131 786 222 524
other claims 9 985 5 937
costs to be reinvoiced 11 63
prepayments to employees 1 109 418
prepaid rent 17 311 15 880
total  856 284 946 783

Due dates 
noK 1 000 2009 2008
within one year 829 893 914 379
After 1 year 26 391 32 403
total 856 284 946 783  

currency (noK 1 000) 2009 2008
DKK 30 698 8 021
euR 62 159 10 425
Gbp 14 610 2 428
noK 457 557 561 050
usD 212 303 306 449
seK 72 390 58 331
pln 6 567 78

fair value of trade and other receivables 
noK 1 000 2009 2008
Due within one year 829 893 914 379
After one year *) 22 706 28 631
total 852 600 943 010

provision for bad debt 
noK 1 000 2009 2008
balance 1 January 30 269 8 723
utilized -2 775 -4 487
Accruals 23 972 28 217
Reversals  -19 810 -2 184
Balance 31 December  31 655 30 269

changes in provision for bad debt is recognized as other operating expenses.  
 
overdue accounts receivables 
noK 1 000 2009 2008
overdue less than 3 months 14 068 39 426
overdue 3-6 months 6 746 431
overdue over 6 months 11 711 14 134
total 32 525 53 991

for receivables due within one year, fair value is equal to nominal value.   
*) Discount rate 5.5 %   

the majority of accounts receivable overdue is by reason of  slow processing of accounts payable with some of our customers, and is not related to 
any problems with the ability or willingness to pay. Most of the overdue receivables are to handling agents which are also our suppliers.
Maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2009 is MnoK 655.1 (2008: MnoK 768.4).
the Group has deposits as collateral for the Group’s liabilities to suppliers. see note 24 for details on restricted cash.
non interest bearing deposits are measured at amortized cost in the balance sheet. Deposits denominated in foreign currency are converted using the 
prevailing exchange rates on the balance sheet date.
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note 14 InventoRIes

In 2009 and 2008 the Group bought parts removed from aircraft engines in relation to heavy maintenance. these parts are held for sale, and sold in 
secondary markets. charges for obsolete product in 2009 were MnoK 4.6 (2008: MnoK 0).

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
consumables 26 183 22 149
Modification equipment 5 745 8 483
parts for heavy maintenance  7 917 3 581
other inventory 980 0
total 40 825 34 214

note 15 eQuItY AnD shAReholDeR InfoRMAtIon

there is only one class of shares, and all shares have equal rights. par value per share is noK 0.1 

 2009 2008
 
Issued shares 34 209 858 32 359 778
net  Shares 34 209 858 32 359 778

At 31 December 2009 the share capital consists of the following share classes;

 number of shares (thousands) ordinary shares Share premium total 
    
01 January 2008 20 866 2 087 408 277 410 364
share issue 5 August 2008 11 494 1 149 380 853 382 002
31 December 2008 32 360 3 236 789 130 792 366
share issue 2 november 2009 230 23 7 353 7 376
share issue 18 november 2009 1 620 162 245 514 245 676
31 December 2009 34 210 3 421 1 041 997 1 045 418

All issued shares are fully paid with a par value of 0.1 noK per share (2008: 0.1 noK per share). the share issue at 2 november 2009 was related to 
exercise of employee share options with an exercise price of noK 32.06. for additional information about the employee share options, see note 17.

Description of items booked directly on shareholders equity:

translation differences
MnoK -5.0 has been booked as comprehensive income at 31 December 2009 (2008: MnoK 1.3). the translation differences arise from consolidating the 
subsidiaries norwegian Air shuttle polska sp.zo.o and norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab into Group accounts.

expenses for share issue
expenses for share issue, net of tax, in the amount of MnoK 5.4 (2008: MnoK 17.9) have been booked directly in shareholder equity.

stock option plan
stock options are granted to management and employees. In 2008 employees were granted stock options in exchange for a voluntary reduction in 
salary, where the first part of this option plan was exercised in november 2009. Additionally, options were granted to management in 2009, with an 
expiry in 2010 and 2011. see note 17 for further details. total stock option expense in 2009 was MnoK 8.4 (2008: MnoK 6.2).

>> 



Annual Report 2009 norwegian Air shuttle AsA42

note 15 eQuItY AnD shAReholDeR InfoRMAtIon

the largest shareholders at 31 December 2008 were:

    
 a-shares owner-ship voting-rights
 
hbK Invest As 9 499 116 27.77 % 27.77 %
AwIlco Invest As  2 320 000 6.78 % 6.78 %
fInnAIR plc  1 649 862 4.82 % 4.82 %
sKAGen Kon-tIKI  1 603 900 4.69 % 4.69 %
sKAGen veKst  1 298 700 3.80 % 3.80 %
Dnb noR noRGe (Iv) v 820 340 2.40 % 2.40 %
vItAl foRsIKRInG AsA 767 187 2.24 % 2.24 %
holbeRG noRGe  566 760 1.66 % 1.66 %
GolDMAn sAchs Int. - eQuItY -  538 580 1.57 % 1.57 %
holbeRG noRDen  505 956 1.48 % 1.48 %
seb enKIlDA AsA - eGenKApItAl - 406 808 1.19 % 1.19 %
pensJonsKAssen stAtoIl 392 671 1.15 % 1.15 %
stAte stReet bAnK An 368 858 1.08 % 1.08 %
stAte stReet bAnK  339 576 0.99 % 0.99 %
Klp lK AKsJeR 300 000 0.88 % 0.88 %
wARRenwIcKlunD noRGe 247 184 0.72 % 0.72 %
shb stocKholM clIent 222 210 0.65 % 0.65 %
bARclAYs cApItAl sec 200 000 0.58 % 0.58 %
Dnb noR sMb vpf 198 811 0.58 % 0.58 %
Klp AKsJenoRGe 197 500 0.58 % 0.58 %
other 11 765 839 34.39 % 34.39 %
   
total number of shares 34 209 858 100 % 100 %

Shareholder structure
the largest shareholders at 31 December 2009 were:

>> 

    
 a-shares owner-ship voting-rights
 
hbK holDInG As  4 909 671 15.17 % 15.17 %
bsb Invest As  4 752 991 14.69 % 14.69 %
Dnb noR noRGe (Iv)  1 700 792 5.26 % 5.26 %
vItAl foRsIKRInG AsA  1 667 837 5.15 % 5.15 %
fInnAIR plc  1 649 862 5.10 % 5.10 %
oJADA As  1 453 986 4.49 % 4.49 %
sKAGen veKst  1 437 678 4.44 % 4.44 %
AwIlco Invest As  1 300 000 4.02 % 4.02 %
peRestRoIKA As  1 080 175 3.34 % 3.34 %
sKAGen Kon-tIKI  1 000 000 3.09 % 3.09 %
AnKeRlØKKen holDInG As  806 454 2.49 % 2.49 %
GolDMAn sAchs Int. - eQuItY -  683 948 2.11 % 2.11 %
holbeRG noRDen  666 600 2.06 % 2.06 %
Klp lK AKsJeR  640 000 1.98 % 1.98 %
holbeRG noRGe  552 800 1.71 % 1.71 %
fonDsAvAnse As  520 459 1.61 % 1.61 %
veRDIpApIRfonDet Klp AKsJenoRGe  321 400 0.99 % 0.99 %
Aweco Invest As  321 030 0.99 % 0.99 %
Dnb noR sMb  320 000 0.99 % 0.99 %
other 6 574 095 20.32 % 20.32 %
   
total number of shares 32 359 778 100 % 100 %
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1)  Including shares held by related parties
2)  bjørn Kise holds 8.2 % of hbK invest As
3)  bjørn Kjos holds 84.1 % of hbK Invest As

name title Shares 1) options 

bjørn Kise 2) chairman 781 537  0
ola Krohn fagervoll board Member 15 462  0
liv berstad board Member  0    0   
Marianne wergeland Jenssen board Member  800   0  
linda olsen board Member - employee repr 0  0   
thor espen bråten board Member - employee repr 1 995   2 529 
Kenneth utsikt board Member - employee repr 1336     956 
bjørn Kjos 3) chief executive officer  7 998 603   48 052 
frode e foss chief financial officer  30 000   46 624 
hans-petter Aanby  chief It officer  0     46 636 
Asgeir nyseth  chief operating officer 5 200  46 655 
Daniel skjeldam chief commercial officer 0     43 039 
Anne-sissel skånvik senior vice president corporate communications 0     20 000 
Gunnar Martinsen  senior vice president hR and organisation  8 165   20 000 

Shares and options directly or indirectly held by members of the Board of Directors,  
chief executive officer and executive Management: 

Specification of other reserves

 available-for-sale financial assets translation differences total

01 January 2008 0 -4 550 -4 550
Available for sale financial assets -4 376 0 -4 376
translation differences 0 1 293 1 293
01 January 2009 -4 376 -3 257 -7 633
Available for sale financial assets 1 608 0 1 608
translation differences 0 -5 007 -5 007
31 December 2009 -2 768 -8 264 -11 032
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noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
profit  446 251 3 944
Average number of shares outstanding 32 499 404 25 526 209
Average number of shares and options outstanding 33 463 429 27 089 077
basic earnings per share 13.73 0.15
Diluted earnings per share 13.34 0.15
  
  2 009   2 008 
Average number of shares outstanding  32 499 404   25 526 209 
Dilutional effects;  
stock options   964 025   0   
Average number of shares outstanding adjusted for dilutional effects  33 463 429   25 526 209 

basic earnings per share calculations are based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period, while diluted earn-
ings per share calculations are performed using the average number of common shares and dilutive common shares equivalents outstanding during 
each period. when net earning for the year is negative, diluted earnings per share are set equal to basic earnings per share.

In 2008, underwritten rights issues of 11,494,252 new shares were issued by the parent company at a subscription price of noK 34.8 per share, with 
subscription rights for shareholders as of end of 5 August 2008. the subscription price was set at 30% discount to the volume weighted average trad-
ing price on oslo stock exchange during the last five trading days prior to the day of the extraordinary general meeting. the bonus in subscription price 
is reflected in basic earnings per share. An adjustment factor of 1.075 is used in the calculation.

note 17 optIons

on 24 october 2007 the board issued, in accordance with the authorization from the general meeting on 3 May 2007, 269,000 stock options to the 
company management team. the stock options had an exercise price of noK 173.07. All options expired in 2009.

the board issued 561,301 stock options to employees on 10 september 2008 in accordance with the authorization from the extraordinary general 
meeting on 5 August 2008. the stock options have an exercise price of noK 32.06, equal to the 30% discounted volume weighted share price during 
the period 26-29 August 2008. the stock options vested 1 october 2009, and may be exercised within a period of two years. the first 50% of the stock 
options can be exercised during determined periods of exercise. the second 50% of the stock options can be exercised only after the third quarter 
financial report for 2010. stock options which are not exercised within  31 october 2010 will expire. 

on 20 July 2009 the board issued, in accordance with the authorization from the general meeting, 384,000 stock options to the management and key 
personnel. the stock options have an exercise price of noK 67.00, equal to the average share price the last trading days before issue, plus 10%. the 
stock options may be exercised within a period of two years and 3 months, whereas the first 50% of the stock options may be exercised one year after 
grant date and vest 20 July 2010, and the second 50% of the stock options may be exercised two years after grant date.

the stock option program is expensed at fair value over the vesting period. fair value calculations are conducted using black & scholes option pricing model.

there are no market conditions linked to the vesting of the options. the fair value of the options is expensed linear over the vesting period. the cost is 
offset in other paid in capital.
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expected lifetime assumes that stock options are exercised at expiration. expected volatility is based on the historical volatility over the most recent 
period that corresponds with the expected life of the option. there is a cap on the options granted in 2009 limiting the proceeds from the options to 
three times the participants’ annual base salary. furthermore, the participants in the 2008 - program must cover the social security tax incurred for 
option gains where the share price exceeds noK 64.12. these limitations are taken into account when calculating the option values.

the option program is expensed with MnoK 8.4 in 2009 and MnoK 6.2 in 2008.

norwegian Air shuttle AsA has implemented a share purchase savings program for the employees, where the employees, by deductions in salary, 
purchase shares in the parent company and the company will fund up to 50% of the purchased shares, limited to noK 6000 per year. In addition the 
company will distribute bonus shares depending on the total amount of purchased shares per employee. 

fair value of the bonus shares are measured at the date of grant using black & scholes option pricing model. the fair value of the bonus shares and 
the corresponding estimated social security cost are expensed as personnel costs over the vesting period. changes in estimated social security cost 
are expensed over the remaining vesting period. At 31 December 2009, MnoK 0.2 (2008: MnoK 0.2) was expensed related to the bonus share scheme.

 
 2009 weighted avg. 2008 weighted avg.
 Shares exerc. price Shares exerc. price 
    
outstanding at the beginning of the period  829 690   77.8   269 000   173.1 
Allocated 384 000   67.0   561 301   32.1 
exercised 230 080   32.1   0     0   
terminated 4 009   32.1   611   32.1 
forfeited 0     0     0     0   
expired 269 000   173.1   0     0   
vested options  48 290   32.1   134 500   173.1 
weighted average of fair value of options allocated in the period  384 000   15.4   561 301   13.3 
outstanding at the end of the period  710 601   50.9   829 690   77.8 

 
 outstanding options by weighted average  weighted average  vested options by weighted average 
Strike price (noK) by 31 December 2009 remaining lifetime (yrs) strike price 31 December 2009 strike price 
    
0.00 - 35.00 326 601 0.8  32.1  48 290 32.1
35.00 -    384 000 1.8  67.0   0     0   
total 710 601 1.4  50.9  48 290  32.1 

2009 outstanding options vested options

 
 outstanding options by weighted average  weighted average  vested options by weighted average 
Strike price (noK) by 31 December 2008 remaining lifetime (yrs) strike price 31 December 2008 strike price 
    
0.00 - 100.00 560 690 1.8  32.1  0 0
100.00 - 200.00 269 000 0.8  173.1  134 500  173.1 
total 829 690 1.5  77.8  134 500  173.1 

2008 outstanding options vested options

 2009 2008
 
Dividend (%) 0 % 0 %
expected volatility (%) 58.01 % 54.69 %
historic volatility (%) 58.01 % 54.69 %
Risk free interest (%) 2.13 % 5.86 %
expected lifetime (year)  2.25   1.12 
share price at grant date  59.50   39.00 

the following estimates are used in calculating fair value;
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Defined contribution plan
norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab’s post employment benefits consist of both defined contribution plans and defined benefit plans. under a defined 
contribution plan, the company’s only obligation is to pay a fixed premium to a separate entity (a fund), and will have no obligation to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits. the related actuarial and investment risks fall on the employee. 
the expenditures for defined contribution plans are recognized as costs during the period when the employee provides service. under a defined benefit 
plan it is the company’s obligation to provide agreed benefits to current and former employees. the related actuarial and investment risks fall on the 
company. 

the pension plans of certain employees are secured through insurance at Alecta. Alecta has not been able to produce the necessary information 
that swedish companies need to account for defined benefit plans according to IAs 19. these pension plans are therefore accounted for as defined 
contribution plans. 

for the defined contribution plans norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab pays premiums to public or private administrative pension plans on mandatory, 
contractual or voluntary basis. the company has no further obligations once these premiums are paid. the premiums are accounted for as personnel 
expenses once paid. pre-paid premiums are accounted for as an asset to the extent that future benefits can be determined as plausible.

A total of 108 employees were included in the pension plan at 31 December 2009 (2008: 140). total pension costs expensed in profit or loss in 2009 was 
MnoK 12.2 (2008: MnoK 16.4)

Defined benefit plan
All employees in norway participate in a defined benefit plan. the benefits are mainly dependent on pension entitlement earned, salary at the time of 
retirement and the size of payments from the national Insurance. the liabilities are covered through vital As. the plan also covers a life insurance and 
disability insurance. per 31 December 2009, a total of 1,465 employees were active members (2008: 1,238), and 30 (2008: 24) were on pension retirement. 
In addition, employees are included in the early retirement scheme (Afp), which is an unfunded plan for retirement right at the age of 62. the Afp is 
a multi-employer plan, where the norwegian state pays a contribution of 40% of paid pensions for the retired persons older than 64 years. the Group 
payments of contribution to the plan are recognized as an expense in the income statement as incurred. the Group also pays 25% of the pension paid 
to own pensioners. this is an obligation for the Group that is not funded. the Afp obligation for the Group is shown under the heading “unfunded”. At 31 
December 2009, 495 employees were active in the Afp pension plan (2008:421), and no employees had retired in the Afp pension plan.

the scheme is in compliance with the act on occupational pensions.

the pension obligation is calculated on linear accumulation. changes in the obligation due to changes in and deviations from the estimated assump-
tions, are spread over the estimated average remaining vesting period for the part of deviations that exceeds 10% of the gross pension liability.  
pension costs for the year for the Groups defined benefit plans are calculated by independent actuaries and are based on information as of 1 January 
2009. Management has made an assessment of changes in estimates and basis of calculation, these changes have no material impact on the pension 
cost for 2009. however, in 2008, estimated number of employees at 1 January 2008 was significantly lower than the actual number of employees in 
2008. the deviation resulted in an additional pension expense in 2008 of MnoK 22.8 (incl employer’s contribution). 

Risk tables for death and disability are based on the most commonly used statistics in norway, (K-2005) and (IR 02) respectively.

 
pension expense (noK 1 000) funded unfunded total 2009 total 2008
    
net present value of benefits earned 102 828 518 103 346 90 271
Interest cost on pension liability 14 598 76 14 674 11 111
Return on plan assets -15 594 0 -15 594 -11 459
Administrative expenses 2 485 0 2 485 0
Recognized actuarial gains/losses 6 554 27 6 581 1 895
social security tax 14 709 84 14 793 12 679
net pension expense defined benefit plans  125 580   705   126 285   104 497 
pension expense on defined contribution plans   12 200 16 397
total pension expense   138 485 120 894
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  2009   2008
Defined benefit liability and fund (noK 1 000) funded unfunded total funded unfunded total 

change in present value of defined benefit liability:      
Gross pension liability 01.01 394 094 2 029 396 123 248 228 1 173 249 401
current service costs 102 828 518 103 346 89 860 411 90 271
Interest cost 14 598 76 14 674 11 058 53 11 111
Actuarial gains/losses -25 314 42 -25 272 49 948 392 50 340
benefits paid -5 150 0 -5 150 -5 000 0 -5 000
gross pension liability 31.12 481 056 2 665 483 721 394 094 2 029 396 123
change in fair value of plan assets:      
fair value of pension assets 01.01 233 000 0 233 000 175 000 0 175 000
expected return 15 594 0 15 594 -6 150 0 -6 150
Actuarial gains/losses -28 148 0 -28 148 2 549 0 2 549
Administrative expenses -2 485 0 -2 485 0 0 0
contributions paid 88 801 0 88 801 66 601 0 66 601
benefits paid -5 150 0 -5 150 -5 000 0 -5 000
fair value of plan assets 31.12 301 612 0 301 612 233 000 0 233 000
net pension liability 179 444 2 665 182 109 161 094 2 029 163 123
unrecognized actuarial gains/losses -98 189 -473 -98 662 -123 748 -561 -124 309
social security tax 13 844 267 14 111 22 714 286 23 000
net recognised pension liability 31.12 95 099 2 459 97 558 60 060 1 754 61 815

 2009 2008
 
Actual return on pension funds *) 5.40 % 0.30 %
expected contribution to be paid next year  83 300   80 000 
expected benefits to be paid next year  5 163   5 150 

*) actual return on pension funds is based on reported amounts per first quarter each year

the net pension liability is based on several assumptions. the discount rate is based on long term government bonds in norway, with adjustments for 
duration. the pension liability’s average duration is 25 years. wage adjustments, pension adjustments and the expected growth in state pensions are 
based on historical observations for the Group, and an expected long term inflation rate of 2.5 %.

 2009 2008
 
Discount rate 4.40 % 3.80 %
expected return on pension funds 5.60 % 5.80 %
wage adjustments 4.00 % 3.75 %
Increase of social security base amount (G) 4.00 % 3.75 %
future pension increase 1.30 % 1.75 %
Average turnover 2-10 % 0-10 %

the Groups pension fund is invested in the following instruments: 2009 2008
 
equity 9.8 % 24.8 %
bonds 19.0 % 21.5 %
Money market funds 16.3 % 7.5 %
hold-to maturity bonds 36.4 % 27.7 %
Real estate 16.6 % 15.6 %
various 1.2 % 2.9 %

the table shows actual distribution of plan assets at 30 september 2009 and at 31 December 2008. >> 
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noK 1 000 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
    
present value of defined benefit obligation 483 721 396 123 249 401 185 325 152 752
fair value of plan assets 301 612 233 000 175 000 137 516 99 714
Deficit/(surplus) in the plan 182 109 163 123 74 401 47 809 53 038
experience adjustments on plan liabilities -25 272 50 340 19 506 -1 646 24 346
experience adjustments on plan assets -28 148 2 549 -2 375 3 039 -1 972

historical information

Sensitivity
the sensitivity analysis shows effects on net pension liability and pension expense if the discount rate and wage adjustment used in the actuarial 
calculations had been 1% higher (+)/lower (-) at 1 January 2009;

 
(noK 1 000) Discount rate wage adjustment 
 
 + 1% - 1% + 1% - 1% 
net pension liability 31 December 2009 (%) -16 % 21 % 8 % -9 %
net pension expense 2009 (%) -17 % 21 % 16 % -16 %
net pension liability 31 December 2009 81 949 118 046 105 363 88 778
net pension expense 2009 104 817 152 805 146 491 106 079

>> 

Sensitivity analysis pensions 2009

note 19 pRovIsIons

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
opening balance 114 090 101 042
utilized -858 976 -313 128
Accruals 877 484 326 175
Reversals  0 0
closing balance 132 598 114 090
classified as short term liabilities 62 262 0
classified as long term provision 70 336 114 090

periodic maintenance on leased Boeing 737 and MD-80 aircraft 

the lease contracts require the aircraft to be returned at the end of the lease term in accordance with specific redelivery conditions stated in the 
contract. In addition, the Group is obliged to follow the maintenance program as defined by boeing. to meet this requirement, the Group carries out 
maintenance on aircraft, both regularly and at the expiration of the leasing period. the overhaul and maintenance of the aircraft is a contractual 
obligation under the lease. the specific event that gives rise to the obligation is each airborne hour or cycle completed by the aircraft as these 
determine the timing and nature of the overhaul and maintenance that must be carried out.  In some of the contracts, there is a degree of uncertainty 
concerning  which  maintenance  is covered by the maintenance funds, and the provision for this increase in expenses for the Group is distributed over 
the period until the maintenance is conducted.

the estimation technique for maintenance reserve contribution (MRc) accruals is based on contractual payments for maintenance and mandatory 
maintenance. the estimated costs of overhaul and maintenance are based on the Group’s maintenance program and contractual prices. In addition, 
accruals are set to meet redelivery conditions for leased aircrafts. Accruals are highly dependent on redelivery date and redelivery conditions in the 
different lease terms. In the case of prolonging the lease agreement, estimates on maintenance costs will be revised.  

parts of the periodic maintenance will be performed in 2010, and MnoK 62.4 is classified as short term liability for periodic maintenance (2008: MnoK 
0). the short term part of periodic maintenance is estimated based on planned maintenance in 2010. the amounts for 2008 are not restated.
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2009 (noK 1 000) 5% increased production  5% decreased production 
   
MRc accruals*: 4.20 %   -4.20 %
  5 569     (5 569)

Sensitivity
An analysis of the sensitivity on the MRc accruals is shown below; 

*based on MRc accruals 2009. Any changes in future maintenance due to increased/decreased production is not included

 
2009 (noK 1 000) 1 year lease extension 1.5 year lease extension  2 year lease extension

MRc accruals*: 29.1 % 40.5 %  50.4 %
  38 586  53 702    66 830 

Sensitivity
An analysis of the sensitivity on the MRc accruals is shown below; 

*based on MRc accruals 2009. Any changes in future maintenance due to lease extension are not included

note 20 fInAncIAl InstRuMents

 
  fair value    fair value
 loans and  through profit   available   loans and through profit available  
assets as per balance sheet receivables or loss -for-sale total receivables or loss -for-sale total 
    
Available-for-sale financial assets 0 0 7 236 7 236 0 0 5 628 5 628
Derivative financial instruments 0 23 688 0 23 688 0 18 360 0 18 360
trade and other receivables *) 728 779 0 0 728 779 854 355 0 0 854 355
cash and cash equivalents 1 408 475 0 0 1 408 475 607 536 0 0 607 536
total 2 137 253 23 688 7 236 2 168 177 1 461 891 18 360 5 628 1 485 878
 
*) prepayments not included in 127 505 60 024
trade and other receivables

 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

the accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below (noK 1 000):

 
 fair value other  fair value other 
 through profit  financial  through profit financial  
assets as per balance sheet or loss liabilities total or loss liabilities total 
    
borrowings 0 1 583 010 1 583 010 0 698 330 698 330
Derivative financial instruments 1 227 0 1 227 104 325 0 104 325
trade and other payables 0 656 250 656 250 0 618 014 618 014
total 1 227 2 239 260 2 240 487 104 325 1 316 344 1 420 668 

*) public duties not included in  90 299   76 818 
trade and other payables

 31 December 2009 31 December 2008

the accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below (noK 1 000):

>> 
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credit quality of financial asset

>> 

trade receivables noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
counterparties with external credit rating   
A or better 0 424 054
counterparties without external credit rating 728 779 121 808
total trade receivables 728 779 545 861
  
cash and cash equivalents 2009 2008
AA- 1 021 335 606 611
bbb + 387 140 925
total cash and cash equivalents 1 408 475 607 536
  
Derivative financial assets 2009 2008
AA- 23 688 18 360
total derivative and financial assets 23 688 18 360

Available-for-sale financial assets at 31 December 2009 consist of an investment in unlisted equity instrument in silver pensjonsforsikring. the fair 
value of available for sale financial assets is MnoK 7.2 (2008: MnoK 5.6). fair value of the equity investment is estimated by using calculations of fair 
value per share from holberg fondsforvaltning As multiplied with the number of shares held in the investment. holberg fondsforvaltning As is a pro-
fessional investment manager situated in norway. the fair value of the shares is assessed to be a best estimate for the market value of the investment.
 
the Group sold an investment in debt security in 2008 amounting to MnoK 213.9 and realizing a net loss of MnoK 2.5 related to the investment. Interest 
income earned on the debt security in 2008 was MnoK 0.7. Additionally, an increase in fair value of MnoK 1.6 (reduction 2008: MnoK 4.4) was recognized in 
comprehensive income on investment in the unlisted equity instrument. Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in noK. 

available-for sale financial assets

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
Januar 1st 5 628 225 761
Additions 0 0
sale 0 -213 945
net gains/(losses) recognised in comprehensive income 1 608 -4 376
net gains/(losses) recorded in profit and loss 0 -1 812
December 31st 7 236 5 628
non-current portion 7 236 5 628
current portion 0 0

 
 2009  2008  
Derivative financial instruments assets  liabilities assets  liabilities 
    
forward foreign exchange contracts 0 1 227 18 360 0
forward commodities contracts  23 688 0 0 104 325
total 23 688 1 227 18 360 104 325
non-current portion: 0 0 0 0
current portion: 23 688 1 227 18 360 104 325

trading derivatives are classified as current assets or liabilities. 

there are no effects from fair value hedges in 2009, as fair value hedge accounting has not been applied in 2009. the ineffective portion recognized 
in profit or loss in 2008 that arises from fair value hedges amounts to a gain of MnoK 358.3. the total amount from derivatives that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting amounts to a gain of MnoK 49.3 (2008: loss of MnoK 147.8). see details under  the specification of ‘other losses/(gains)- net’ below.
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forward foreign currency contracts
the fair value of the outstanding forward foreign currency contracts at 31 December 2009 were MnoK -1.2 (2008: MnoK 18.4). At 31 December 2009, the 
Group had forward foreign currency contracts to partially secure future payments of aircraft leases, fuel payments, heavy maintenance cost and other 
operating costs denominated in usD. these contracts are used to minimize the currency risk related to future payments. 

forward commodities contracts
forward commodities contracts relates to jet-fuel derivatives. the fair value of the outstanding forward commodities contracts at 31 December 2009 
were MnoK 23.7 (2008: MnoK -104.3). At 31 December 2009, the Group had 21 unrealized jet-fuel derivative contracts. these contracts are expected 
to minimize the jet-fuel price risk related to future jet-fuel purchases. the Group had 3 jet-fuel derivatives at 31 December 2008, all of which were 
realized during 2009.

the forward currency contracts and forward commodities contracts mature at various dates during the next 12 months. 

fair value is calculated using marked to market from financial institutions. spot price in the market to marked calculations are based on mid-prices as 
set by the financial institutions (nordea and Dnb nor) at the balance sheet date.

other losses/(gains) - net 2009 2008
 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   
- fair value losses 121 400 191 945
- fair value gains -170 714 -44 177
total -49 315 147 768
  
Ineffectiveness on fair value hedges 0 -358 264

no financial instruments were designated as hedging instruments in 2009. losses and gains on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are classified as ‘other losses/(gains) – net’. hedge ineffectiveness on fair value hedges are classified as financial items (see 
note 8). the ineffective portion recognized in the profit or loss in 2008 that arises from fair value hedges amounts to a gain of MnoK 358.3. 

note 21 tRADe AnD otheR pAYAbles

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
Accrued vacation pay 97 347 76 927
Accrued airport and transportation taxes 178 395 76 779
Accrued expenses 138 690 233 274
trade payables 220 007 221 338
public duties 90 299 76 818
other short term provisions 21 811 9 696
total 746 549 694 832

the short term payables and provisions are non interest bearing and are due within the next 12 months.
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note 22 boRRowInGs

nominal value

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
nominal value bond issue 563 000 300 000
Amortization -2 006 -1 303
Bond as at 31 December at amortized cost 560 994 298 697
    
effective interest rate for the year ended 31.12.2009 was 8.4% (2008:8.6%).
    
noK 1 000 2009 2008
nominal value facility agreement 628 394 408 219
Amortization -4 784 -8 586
facility as at 31 December at amortized cost 623 610 399 632
    
effective interest rate for the year ended 31.12.2009 was 7.8% (2008:5.6%).    
    
noK 1 000 2009 2008
nominal value aircraft financing 400 682 0
Amortization -31 106 0
aircraft financing as at 31 December at amortized cost 369 577 0
    
effective interest rate for the year ended 31.12.2009 was 5.4%.    
    
noK 1 000 2009 2008
nominal value financial lease liability 28 829 0
Amortization 0 0
financial lease liability as at 31 December at amortized cost 28 829 0
 
effective interest rate for the year ended 31.12.2009 was 0.6%.    
    
classification of borrowings  
  
    
noK 1 000 2009 2008
non-current    
bond issue 398 296 298 697
facility agreement 144 747 142 176
Aircraft financing  335 833 0
financial lease liability 28 829 0
total 907 705 440 873
    
current  
  
bond issue 162 698 0
facility agreement 478 863 257 456
Aircraft financing  33 743 
financial lease liability 0 0
total 675 304 257 456
    
total borrowings 1 583 010 698 329

collateralized borrowings are detailed in note 23.
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note 22 boRRowInGs

covenants

bond issue
equity/capital employed higher than 30%
(capital employed = equity + borrowings)
Dividend payments less than 35% of net profit

Revolving credit facility
for the revolving credit facility it is agreed covenants linked to cash and cash equivalents in a ratio related to operating cost. In addition it is agreed 
a covenant linked to gearing (net debt to total capital). both covenants must be in breach simultaneously in order to be in non-compliance with the 
covenants.

Aircraft financing
no financial covenants. All borrowings related to delivery of new 737-800 aircraft from boeing are guaranteed by the ex-Im bank of the united states. 
the ex-Im bank of the united states has pledged security in the owned aircraft delivered under the boeing contract.

there are no covenants related to the financial lease liability.

the Group has not been in breach of any covenants during 2009.

fair value calculations
the carrying amounts and fair values of the non-current borrowings are as follows;

 
  carrying amount  fair value 
 2009 2008 2009 2008 

bond issue 398 296 298 697 400 000 279 928
facility agreement 144 747 142 176 144 747 142 176
Aircraft financing  335 833 0 347 149 0
financial lease liability 28 829 0 23 745 0

fair value of non-current borrowings on the facility agreement equals the carrying amount as transaction costs deducted from the notional amount 
are higher than future interest payments. the fair value of current borrowings approximates their carrying amount as the impact of discounting is not 
significant. the fair value of non-current borrowings are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the following assumptions: 

bond Issue
Interest rate of nIboR 3 m and a risk premium equal to the spread at the balance sheet date.  the bond issue is an unsecured bond issue denominated 
in noK and matures 17 December 2012. the coupon is nIboR + 5.75%.

IsIn: no001 0560915
name: norwegian Air shuttle AsA 09/12 fRn

IsIn: no 001 0363476, open bond issue matures 19 April 2010 and is classified as short term.

facility agreement
Interest rate of lIboR 1 m and a risk premium equal to the spread at the balance sheet date. the facility agreement was entered into in 2008 with the 
french financial institution; natixis. the facility will finance pre-delivery-payments (pDp’s) related to the first 10 aircraft in the boeing contract.

the borrowings mature at the delivery of each aircraft. see note 2 for further maturity analysis of borrowings. the facility agreement is denominated 
in usD.

Aircraft financing
fixed interest rate based on lIboR 7 y and a risk premium equal to the spread at the balance sheet date. the spread is not entity specific, as the 
agreed spread is based on overall credit risk in the financial markets in the united states.

the borrowings mature quarterly after delivery of the aircraft from boeing. see note 2 for further maturity analysis of borrowings. the aircraft financing is 
denominated in usD.

financial lease liability
the liability is de facto secured in the financial lease asset, as the rights and obligations of the leased asset is returned to the lessor if the lease 
agreement is not fulfilled.

the discount rates used to calculate the fair value of the financial lease liability equals the risk free interest rate and spread related to unsecured 
bond issue. the financial lease liability is denominated in noK. >> 
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note 22 boRRowInGs

future minimum lease payments under financial lease liability   

>> 

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
future minimum lease payments    
-no later than 1 year 6 129 0
-between 1 and 5 years 19 003 0
-later than 5 years 10 026 0
total 35 158 0
future finance charges on financial lease liability 6 329 0
present value of financial lease liability 28 829 0

note 23 Assets pleDGeD As collAteRAl AnD GuARAntees
future minimum lease payments under financial lease liability   

liabilities secured by pledge (noK 1 000): 2009 2008
 
facility agreement 623 610 399 632
Aircraft financing 369 577 0
financial lease liability 28 829 0
total 1 022 016 399 632

prepayments on the first 10 aircraft in the purchase contract with boeing (see note 11) are pledged as collateral for the revolving credit facility (see note 22). 
the owned aircraft (see note 11) is pledged as collateral for the aircraft financing (see note 22). there is  no pledged collateral for the financial lease liability, 
but the financial lease asset is an actual security for the financial lease liability through fulfilment of the lease agreement.

bank guarantees are granted for leasing liabilities for aircraft, suppliers of fuel and handling services, as well as airport charges from airports and govern-
ments.

Book value of assets pledged as security and guarantees (noK 1 000): 2009 2008
cash depot 132 476 116 837
prepayment and aircraft 1 874 718 499 416
financial lease asset 26 092 0
total 2 033 286 616 253

note 24 bAnK DeposIts
cash and cash equivalents

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
cash in bank 1 021 335 606 611
cash equivalents 387 140 925
total 1 408 475 607 536

Deposits in money market funds are classified as cash equivalents, as the underlying maturity of the deposits are 3 months or less. At 31 December 
2009, the interest terms on the cash deposits on folio accounts is 1 month nIboR - 0.15 to - 0.30% p.a. Interest terms on restricted cash deposits on 
folio accounts is 1 month nIboR - 0.15% p.a.

Receivables on credit card companies are included in trade receivables. see note 13.

restricted cash items are as follows: 
  
noK 1 000 2009 2008
Guarantees for leases and credits from suppliers 132 476 116 837
taxes withheld 46 847 34 275
total 179 323 151 113
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note 25 InvestMent In subsIDIARIes

norwegian Air shuttle polska sp.zo.o
the subsidiary was established in 2006 and is 100% owned. All of the Group’s revenue generating assets is owned by norwegian Air shuttle AsA. the 
Group’s operations are mainly carried out from the base in norway, but two of the aircraft in the fleet are designated to the polish operations and are 
operating to and from the warsaw base. the polish subsidiary is supplying the crew and some lighter maintenance on the aircraft. 

norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab
the subsidiary was purchased  31 July 2007. the Group owns 100 % of the shares in norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab. the total purchase price was 
MnoK 199.8. the company is based at Arlanda Airport, stockholm, sweden. the swedish subsidiary is supplying the crew and some lighter maintenance 
on the aircraft. transactions between parent company and the swedish subsidiary during 2009 consisted of the supply of personnel and transfer of 
airline operations. on 1 July 2009, the entire airline operation in norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab was transferred to norwegian air shuttle AsA 
through purchase of assets. pro et contra payments from the business combination were settled in 2008. 

call norwegian As
on 14 January 2008 the Group established call norwegian As, and owns 100% of the shares. the company provides mobile- and content services, 
mobile broadband, airport wi-fi and pc packages to external customers in the mass market.

nAs Asset Management Ireland ltd
on 15 July 2008 the Group established nAs Asset Management ltd, a special purpose entity (spv), and owns 99.9% of the shares. nAs Asset 
Management norway As owns the remaining 0.1% of the shares. the company is incorporated in Ireland and established for aircraft financing 
purposes.

nAs Asset Management norway As
on 15 July 2008 the Group established nAs Asset Management norway As, a special purpose entity (spv), and owns 100% of the shares. nAs Asset 
Management norway As was established for aircraft financing purposes. 

Management believes that all inter-company transactions are handled in accordance with the arm’s length principle.

 
     
name Date of initiation/aquisition office number of shares ownership

norwegian Air shuttle polska sp.zo.o 2 006 warsaw, poland 50 000 100 %
norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab 31.07.2007 stockholm, sweden 20 000 100 %
call norwegian As 14-01-08 fornebu, oslo 1 000 000 100 %
nAs Asset Management Ireland ltd 15-07-08 Dublin, Ireland 1 000 100 %
nAs Asset Management norway As 15-07-08 fornebu, oslo 100 100 %

note 26 InvestMent In AssocIAteD coMpAnY

entity country assets liabilities revenues profit/(loss) interest held % 
norwegian finans holding AsA norway 411 627 369 957 23 332 3 200 20 % 

  
    carrying amount net profit carrying
entity country industry ownership interest 31.12.2008 (loss) 2009 amount 31.12.2009 

norwegian finans holding AsA norway financial Institution 20 % 44 743 3 200 47 943

norwegian air Shuttle aSa has the following investments in associates:

the associated company, norwegian finans holding AsA, owns 100% of the shares in bank norwegian As. norwegian Air shuttle AsA owns 20% of the 
shares in norwegian finans holding AsA. the company is situated in oslo, norway. the equity method is applied in accounting for the investment, and 
the Group’s share of the associated company’s profit and loss is included the carrying amount. the Group’s share of the results and its aggregate as-
sets and liabilities in the associated company, are as follows;

2009 (noK 1 000)
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note 27 RelAteD pARtY tRAnsActIons 

Sales (-) and purchases (+) of goods and services (excl vat) 2009 2008
 
- vogt & wiig (legal services)  3 447   4 481 
- Associate (commission)  (9 540)  (5 229)
  
  
year-end balances arising from sales/purchases of goods/services (incl vat) 2009 2008
Receivables from related parties (note 13)  
-  vogt & wiig (legal services) 0 0
- Associate (commission) 850 0
  
investment in related parties  2009 2008
- Associate (subordinated loan)  30 088  0

transactions with related parties
the chief executive officer is the principal shareholder in norwegian Air shuttle AsA with an ownership share of 27.27 % through the controlling 
ownership of hbK Invest As. the chairman of the board owns minority shares in hbK Invest As. there have been no financial transactions between hbK 
Invest As and norwegian Air shuttle AsA in 2009 or 2008.

the chairman of the board, bjørn Kise is a partner, and the ceo is a former partner in the law firm vogt & wiig which is the legal advisor of norwegian 
Air shuttle AsA. 

the parent company has received commission from the associated company in 2009. the commission relates to sales performed by the parent 
company’s customers using ‘bank norwegian’ credit cards. the total commission for 2009 is enclosed in the table below. there are no inter-company 
receivables or - payables at 31 December 2009.

no loans or guarantees have been issued to related parties in 2009 or 2008. 

see note 7 for details on key management compensation and note 15 for shares and options held directly or indirectly by members of the board of 
Directors, ceo and executive Management.

terms and conditions for transactions with related parties
Management believe that transactions with related parties are performed at arm’s-lengths conditions. terms and principles for transactions with 
related parties are continuously evaluated.

the following transactions were carried out with related parties:

lawsuit
on 17 november 2006, norwegian Air shuttle AsA (“norwegian”) filed a civil action against sAs braathens As (now sAs scandinavian Airlines norge As) 
and sAs As (publ.) for unjustified access to and improper use of sensitive trade secrets. the access was gained through the booking system Amadeus 
in the period from september 2002 to november 2005. sAs obtained price sensitive information about routes flown by both sAs and norwegian. nor-
wegian is claiming damages for the illegal actions. 

Asker & bærum tingrett ruled in favour of norwegian in May 2008. norwegian received damages of noK 132 million for the economic loss resulting from 
sAs’s misuse of norwegian’s trade secrets in addition to legal costs of noK 7 million. both parties have appealed. the hearings before the court of Ap-
peals were finalized in november 2009. the court of Appeals has not yet rendered its judgment.

sAs’ payment obligations from Asker & bærum tingrett have been secured by a bank guarantee of noK 146 million which includes legal costs and 
interests. 

In 2006 the norwegian authorities filed charges against sAs for unjust access to norwegian’s trade secrets. sAs was sentenced in borgarting court of 
Appeal after the norwegian supreme court in December 2007 upheld the ruling from borgarting court of Appeal. 

the outcome of the civil action is not dependent on the ruling in the criminal action. see also note 30.

note 28 contInGencIes AnD leGAl clAIMs 
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note 29 coMMItMents

In August 2007, norwegian Air shuttle AsA entered a purchase agreement of  42 new boeing 737-800 aircraft with blended winglets. the aircraft have a 
list price of usD 3.1 billion. parallel to this, norwegian Air shuttle AsA has ensured the purchase rights for an additional 42 aircraft of the same model 
from boeing. 

In october 2009 norwegian exercised 6 purchase rights, making the total order for direct-by for boeing 737-800 aircraft 48. Remaining purchase rights 
as of 31 December 2009 are 42 aircraft. 

During 2009 norwegian received the first two aircraft. the remaining 46 aircraft will be delivered over a five-year period from 2010 through 2014. 
the purchase price will be paid over several usD instalments before delivery of each aircraft. 

for further commitments on the aircraft leases, see  note 12.

note 30 events AfteR the bAlAnce sheet DAte

In March 2010 the court of Appeals awarded norwegian damages of noK 160 million in addition to legal costs of noK 14.7 million in the civil action 
against sAs for economic loss resulting from sAs’ abuse of norwegian’s trade secrets. whether it will be appealed against the judgement was not 
determined at the time of printing. see also note 28.
 
sAs’ payment obligations stemming from the court of Appeal ruling has been secured by a bank guarantee which includes legal costs and interest.
 
In March 2010 norwegian Air shuttle AsA signed a 10 years rental contract with related party hbK Invest As for its new head office at oksenøyveien 3, 
fornebu.



Annual Report 2009 norwegian Air shuttle AsA58

AnnuAl RepoRt  
noRweGIAn AsA 09



Annual Report 2009 norwegian Air shuttle AsA 59

note (noK 1 000) 2009 2008

 operating revenueS anD operating expenSeS   
  
      
3 Revenues 6 930 092 5 293 637
 total operating revenues 6 930 092 5 293 637
      
4 operational expenses 4 643 240 4 032 279
5,16,17 salaries and other personnel expenses 1 238 035 854 354
8,9 Depreciation and amortization 135 648 89 571
4a other operating expenses 357 603 254 553
20 other losses/(gains) - net -49 315 147 768
 total operating expenses 6 325 210 5 378 526
 operating profit 604 882 -84 888
      
 financial revenueS anD financial expenSeS   
  
 Interest income 25 802 40 237 
 Interest expense -46 931 -40 665
6 other financial items -178 827 343 521
 net financial items -199 956 343 093

26 profit/loss from associated company 3 200 -8 773

 profit before tax 408 126 249 432
7 Income tax expense 164 741 68 619
      
 profit for the year 243 385 180 813

 Allocation of profit for the year
 allocated to other equity 243 385 180 813    

IncoMe stAteMent
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bAlAnce sheet 

note (noK 1 000) 2009 2008

 aSSetS   
 non-current assets   
8 intangible assets   
  
 Intangible assets 160 880 42 970
 total intangible assets 160 880 42 970

9 tangible assets   
  
 buildings 3 933 3 933
 Aircraft, installations and parts 974 892 523 676
 equipment and fixtures 30 400 30 493
 financial lease asset 26 092 0  
 prepayment boeing contract 1 410 992 705 165
 total tangible assets 2 446 308 1 263 266
      
 financial assets   
25 Investment in subsidiaries 52 224 181 617
26 Investment in associated company 47 943 44 743
27 Investment in shares 7 236 5 628
11 other long term receivables 29 903 152 505
 total financial assets 137 306 384 493
 total non-current assets 2 744 494 1 690 746
      
 current assets   
12 inventory 39 845 34 214
      
 receivables   
 Accounts receivable 521 139 485 120
13,25 other receivables 317 332 354 854
 total receivables 838 471 839 974
      
20 financial instruments 23 688 18 360
22 cash and cash equivalents 1 375 564 583 600
 total current assets 2 277 568 1 476 130
 total aSSetS 5 022 062 3 166 876
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bAlAnce sheet

note (noK 1 000) 2009 2008

 equity anD liaBiltieS   
 equity   
 paid-in equity     
14,15 share capital 3 421 3 236
15 share premium reserve 1 041 894 789 130
15 other paid-in equity 47 387 38 950
 total paid-in equity 1 092 702 831 316
      
 retained earnings   
15 other equity 506 089 262 704
 total retained earnings 506 089 262 704
 total equity 1 598 791 1 094 020
      
 liabilities   
 provisions  
16 pension liabilities 97 558 61 815
18 provision for periodic maintenance 70 345 129 080
7 Deferred tax 46 608 1 111 
24 borrowings 878 878 440 873
24 financial lease liability 28 829 0  
 total long term liabilities 1 122 218 632 879
      
 Short term liabilities   
25 Accounts payable 210 639 188 292
 Air traffic settlement liabilities 790 747 526 817
7 tax payable 111 122 0  
 public duties payable 90 358 66 404
20 financial instruments 1 227 104 325
19,24 other short term liabilities 1 096 960 554 139
 total short term liabilities 2 301 053 1 439 977
 total liabilities 3 423 271 2 072 856
 total equity anD liaBilitieS 5 022 062 3 166 876

fornebu, 24 March 2010

Bjørn h. Kise 
(chairman of the board)

ola Krohn-fagervoll Marianne wergeland JenssenBjørn Kjos
(chief executive officer)

thor espen Bråten 
(employee Representative)

Kenneth utsikt 
(employee Representative)

linda olsen 
(employee Representative)

liv Berstad
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cAsh flow stAteMent

note (noK 1 000) 2009 2008

 caSh flowS froM operating activitieS:   
      
 profit before income tax 408 126 249 432
8,9 Depreciation, amortization 135 648 89 571
25 Impairment of shares in subsidiaries 260 727 0
27 valueadjustment financial assets -1 608 4 376
 pension expense without cash effect 32 664 28 505
26 (Gain)/loss on investment in associated company -3 200 8 773
17 employee option cost 8 678 6 197
 change in inventories, accounts receivable and accounts payable -34 800 -271 058
 change in air traffic settlement liabilities 263 931 40 150
 change in other current assets and current liabilities -68 388 -315 299
 net cash flow from operating activities 1 001 777 -159 352
    
 caSh flowS froM inveSting activitieS:    
    
9 prepayments aircraft purchase -683 764 -349 436
9 purchases of tangible assets -539 417 -393 314
8 purchases of intangible assets -28 128 -25 570
 net cash from acquisition 0 -20 604
 payment to subsidiaries -116 563 -127 290
 payment to investment in financial fixed assets -30 000 0
 Returns on investments in financial fixed assets 0 543 412
 net cash flow from investing activities -1 397 872 -372 801
    
 caSh flowS froM financial activitieS:    
    
24 new long term liabilities 968 304 339 864
24 payment long term liabilities -4 220 0
24 Interest on borrowings -26 865 -29 220
15 paid-in equity 250 840 376 000
 paid-out equity 0 0
 net cash flow from financial activities 1 188 059 686 643
    
 net change in cash and cash equivalents 791 964 154 489
 cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 583 600 429 110
22 cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1 375 564 583 600
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note 1 AccountInG polIcIes

the financial statement of norwegian Air shuttle AsA is prepared in 
accordance with the norwegian Accounting Act of 1998 and Generally 
Accepted Accounting principles in norway. 

In preparation of the accounts, estimates and assumptions used are 
influencing reported numbers. the final result may deviate from used 
estimates.

general valuation rules and classification of assets and liabilities
Assets the company intends to own or use permanently are classified 
as non-current assets. All other assets are classified as current assets. 
Receivables due for payment within 12 months are classified as current 
assets. the equivalent criteria are applied to the classification of 
short-term liabilities and long-term liabilities.

fixed assets are recognized at acquisition cost. fixed assets are depreci-
ated using the straight-line method over estimated economic life of the 
assets. If fair value of fixed assets is lower than their book value, and the 
decline is expected to be permanent, the asset is written down to fair value.

Aircraft is decomposed into two components for depreciation purposes. 
In accordance with official requirements, aircraft must be maintained 
and significant components changed after a specific number of takeoffs 
or airborne hours. these components are identified as c check and D 
check on aircraft body. power restoration and life limited parts for the 
two engines on each plane, as well as maintenance on landing gears and 
the Apu. the maintenance and overhaul on these components occurs 
on a defined interval, and the value is depreciated based on number of 
takeoffs or airborne hours until the next maintenance occurs. completed 
maintenance and overhaul is capitalized and depreciated until next 
relevant maintenance and overhaul. the second aircraft component 
is defined as the remainder of the aircraft and depreciated over the 
economic useful life.

current assets are valued at the lower of acquisition cost and fair value, 
except for derivatives designated as hedging instruments. foreign currency 
contracts are measured at fair value.

financial assets are valued at fair value.

changes in accounting principles
there have been no changes in accounting principles during the year.

revenues
Revenue from sale of services are recognized in the income statement 
once rendered services has taken place and most of the risk has been 
transferred. sales revenues are presented net of value added tax and 
discounts. 
 
passenger revenue: ticket sales are reported as traffic revenue when 
the air transport has been carried out. the value of tickets sold and still 
valid but not used at the balance sheet date (amounts sold in excess of 
revenue recognized) is reported as air traffic settlement liability. this 
liability is reduced either when nAs AsA or another airline completes the 
transportation or when the passenger requests a refund.

Ancillary revenue; Ancillary revenue comprises sales of ticket-related 
products and services, e.g; excess baggage and fees. some of the 
products and services are earned at the time when the transport has 
been carried out, and such revenue is recognized in the same manner as 
passenger revenue. other products and services are earned at the time 

of purchase and immediately recognized in the income statement. 
other revenue; other revenue comprises third party revenue and is 
recognized when the service has been rendered, fees are reliable 
measurable, collections are probable, and when other significant 
obligations have been fulfilled. 

customer loyalty program – norwegian Reward

customers earn cash points in the following circumstances;

•  bank norwegian customer; 1% of the payment is earned on all pur-
chases, except domestic flights in norway or flights with competitive 
airlines in norway. Additionally, cash points are earned on all ‘low 
fare’ and ‘full flex’ tickets purchased from norwegian Air shuttle AsA 
and paid with bank norwegian credit cards, with 4% and 19% of the 
purchase price, respectively. 

•  My reward customer; 2% on all low fare tickets and 10% on all full flex 
tickets

•  corporate reward customer; 3% on all low fare tickets and 7% on all 
full flex tickets

•  call norwegian customer; 3% of all purchases

corporate customers earn cash points on all airfares. private customers 
earn cash points on international flights as domestic flights in norway 
are prohibited from cash points earning for private customers.

earned customer cash points on airline tickets and purchases from 
call norwegian are recognized as a liability in the balance sheet and 
deducted from the value of the purchase at the purchase date. the 
customer cash point liability is derecognized from the balance sheet and 
recognized as income when customers utilize their cash points.

earned customer cash points on 1% reward from bank norwegian are 
recognized as a liability in the balance sheet and immediately expensed. 
when the customers utilize earned cash points, the liability is derecog-
nized and cash payment on the company’s services reduced. 

unutilized cash points are derecognized from the balance sheet after 
three years. the liability is classified as short term available statistics 
as of 31 December 2009 indicates that customer cash points are utilized 
within one year.

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency
Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are converted using the 
exchange rates on the balance sheet date. Income statement items are 
converted using the exchange rates prevailing at the time of the transac-
tions. changes to exchange rates are recognized in the income statement 
as they occur during the accounting period. 

intangible assets
Intangible assets, including development expenses, are capitalized when 
it is likely that the future financial benefits related to the assets will 
benefit the company and the acquisition cost can be measured reliably.  

Intangible assets are depreciated using the straight line method. Intan-
gible assets are subject to write-down if the expected financial benefits 
from the asset are less than book value and remaining development 
expenses.

leasing agreements for tangible assets
Assets that are leased on terms where the major part of risk and control  >> 



Annual Report 2009 norwegian Air shuttle AsA64

note 1 AccountInG polIcIes

is transferred to the company (financial lease) are capitalized as tangible 
assets. future lease obligations are calculated as the net present 
value of future lease payments and are recognized as other long term 
liabilities. the tangible assets are depreciated systematically, and the 
lease obligations are reduced with lease payments reduced for calculated 
interest expense. 

periodic maintenance on tangible assets that are recognized in the 
balance sheet is reflected through the assets depreciation plan. for 
assets that are subject to operational lease, the company’s obligation 
to perform periodic maintenance in excess of the contractual level is 
recognized as a provision. 

investment in subsidiaries and associates
subsidiaries are valued at cost in the company accounts. the investment 
is valued as cost of acquiring shares in the subsidiary, providing they are 
not impaired. write down to fair value will be carried out if the impair-
ment is not considered temporary, and a write down is deemed necessary 
according to generally accepted accounting principles. Impairments are 
reversed when the indication no longer exist.  

An associate is an entity in which the company has a significant influ-
ence but does not control management of its finances and operations 
(normally when the group owns 20%-50% of the company). the financial 
statements include the company’s share of the profits or losses from 
associates, accounted for using the equity method, from the date when a 
significant influence is achieved and until the date when such influence 
ceases. Dilution gains and losses arising from investments in associates 
are recognized in the income statement.
 
when the accumulated share of a loss exceeds the company’s investment 
in an associate, the amount carried in the balance sheet is reduced to 
zero and further losses are not recognized unless the company has an 
obligation to cover any such loss. 

unrealized gains on transactions between the company and its 
associates are eliminated to the extent of the company’s interest in the 
associates. unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting 
policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the company’s policies.

Derivatives
Derivatives are initially recognized at cost and subsequently measured at 
the lower of cost and fair value. Impairment losses arising from fair value 
lower than initial cost are recognized as loss under ‘other losses/(gains)- 
net’ in the income statement. 

forward foreign currency contracts are initially recognized at fair value 
on the date a contract is entered into, and are subsequently measured at 
fair value through profit or loss. Any changes in fair value are recognized 
in the income statement under ‘other losses/(gains) –net’.

Derivative forward commodity contracts are designated as hedging in-
struments and carried at fair value through profit or loss. the method of 
recognizing the resulting gain or loss depends on the nature of the item 
being hedged. the company designates its derivatives as hedges of the 
fair value of recognized assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair 
value hedge) or cash flow hedge.

the full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current 

asset or liability when the remaining hedged item is more than 12 months 
and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the 
hedged item is less than 12 months. 

fair value hedge
fair value hedges are hedges of the company’s exposure to changes in 
the fair value of a recognized asset, liability, an unrecognized firm com-
mitment or an identified portion of such that is attributable to a particu-
lar risk and could affect profit or loss. for fair value hedges, the carrying 
amount of the hedged item is adjusted for gains and losses attributable 
to the risk being hedged, the derivative is measured at fair value and 
gains and losses from both are taken to profit and loss.

cash flow hedge
the company is exposed to market risks such as currency exchange 
rates, interest rates and jet- fuel prices. In order to minimize the effect of 
these risks (on profit or loss, cash flows and equity), the company applies 
forward currency contracts and forward commodity (jet-fuel) contracts.

forward commodity contracts designated as hedging instruments are 
recognized according to cash flow hedge accounting. changes in fair 
value on hedging instruments are temporarily recognized in equity, net 
after tax. the fair value effects are derecognized from equity to the 
income statement at the time when the underlying hedged items are 
recognized in the income statement.

the fair value of derivative currency contracts are calculated by refer-
ence to current forward rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. 
thus the fair value of forward currency contracts changes in response to 
changes in foreign exchange rates. the fair value of forward commodity 
contracts changes in response to changes in a price index.

other receivables classified as fixed assets
other receivables are recognized at the acquisition value. other receiv-
ables are written down to market value if a decline in value is considered 
to be permanent.  

inventory
Inventory consists of consumables and is valued at the lower of acquisi-
tion cost and net realizable value considering obsolescence.

accounts receivable
Accounts receivable and other receivables are recognized at nominal 
value less allowances for doubtful debts. Allowances for doubtful debts 
are calculated on the basis of individual assessments.

Bank deposits, cash etc.
bank deposits, cash etc. includes cash, bank deposits and other liquid 
assets with maturity dates less than three months from the date of acquisition.

pensions
the company operates a defined benefit pension plan which requires 
contributions to be made to a separately administered fund. In addition, 
the company participates in an early retirement plan (Afp). this is also 
a defined benefit plan. the cost of providing benefits under the defined 
benefit plan is determined using the projected unit credit actuarial valu-
ation method. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized as income or ex-
pense when the net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses 
at the end of the previous reporting year exceed 10 % of the higher of 
the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that 
date. these gains or losses are recognized over the expected average 
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remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plans.
 
the past service cost is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the average period until the benefits become vested. If the benefits 
are already vested immediately following the introduction of, or changes 
to, a pension plan, past service cost is recognized immediately.
 
the defined benefit obligation is the aggregate of the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation and actuarial gains and losses not recog-
nized reduced by past service costs not yet recognized and the fair value 
of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly. If 
such aggregate is negative, the asset is measured at the lower of such 
aggregate or the aggregate of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial 
losses and past service cost and the present value of any economic 
benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in 
the future contributions to the plan.

Stock options 
stock options are accounted in accordance with IfRs 2 and norwegian 
Accounting Act § 5 – 9a. stock options are recognized at fair value and 
expensed over the stock option period; the contra is entered in other 
paid-in equity. provisions for employer’s contributions are made.

taxes
tax expense consists of the aggregate of tax payable and changes in net 
deferred tax. Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on tem-
porary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets 

and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
 
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the 
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized.
 
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset 
to the extent that
•  the company has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized 

amounts and
•  deferred tax assets and tax liabilities relates to income tax from the 

same tax authority
 
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on 
investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the company 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

cash flow Statement
the cash flow statement is prepared in accordance with the indirect 
method. cash and cash equivalencies consist of cash, bank deposits and 
short term investments in money market funds.

note 2 fInAncIAl RIsK

the company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market 
risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk and liquidity risk. the company’s overall risk management program 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to mini-
mize potential adverse effects on the company’s financial performance. 
the company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk 
exposures.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group 
treasury) under policies approved by the board of Directors. Group 
treasury identifies evaluates and hedges financial risk in close co-
operation with the Group’s operating units. the board provides principles 
for overall risk management such as foreign currency risk, interest rate 
risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investment 
of excess liquidity. 

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign ex-
change rates, jet-fuel prices and interest rates will affect the company’s 
income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. 

foreign currency Risk 
A substantial part of the company’s income and expenses are denomi-
nated in foreign currency. the company’s leases, aircraft borrowings, 
maintenance, jet-fuel and related expenses are mainly denominated in 
usD, and airplane operation expenses are denominated in euR. foreign 

exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognized as-
sets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. In order to 
reduce currency risk, the company has a mandate to hedge up to 100% 
of its currency exposure the next 12 months. the hedging consists of 
forward currency contracts and flexible forwards. 

occasionally the company designates certain forward foreign currency 
contracts as hedging instruments to hedge the fair value of currency risk 
in unrecognized firm commitments. 

the company has included sensitivity analysis on foreign currency risk 
based on two different scenarios; sensitivity in usD to noK on finan-
cial assets and liabilities at 31 December and actual sensitivity in usD 
exposure interdependent with jet-fuel. the rationale for such sensitivity 
is that usD exposure in the airline industry is closely related to usD 
exposure on jet-fuel as jet-fuel actually represents a usD exposure.

In 2009, if noK had weakened/strengthened by 1% against usD with all 
other variables held constant, pre-tax profit and pre-tax equity effect 
for the year would have been MnoK 6.2 (2008: MnoK 0.3) lower/higher, 
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on receivables, pay-
ables, derivative financial instruments and long term borrowings in usD.

by calculating sensitivity on foreign currency risk in usD using usD and 
jet-fuel prices as interdependent variables on operating income, a weak-
ening/strengthening in noK by 1% against usD dollar, pre-tax profit and 
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pre-tax equity effect for 2009 would have been MnoK 28.7 (2008: MnoK 
31) lower/higher. this calculation is based on estimated fuel consumption 
next 12 months, estimated net outflow of usD next 12 months, estimated 
average jet-fuel price and estimated average usD/noK exchange rate.  

If noK had weakened/strengthened by 1 % against euR with all other 
variables held constant, pre-tax profit and pre-tax equity effect for the 
year would have been MnoK 0.6 (2008: MnoK 3.6) higher/lower, mainly as 
a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on receivables, payables and 
derivative financial instruments.

Interest rate risk
As the company has net interest bearing debt, the company’s income and 
operating cash flows are dependent of changes in market interest rates. 
the company’s interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents 
and floating interest rate long borrowings. floating interest rate 
borrowings consist of unsecured bond issue and revolving credit facility. 
borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the company to fair value 
interest rate risk. fixed interest rate borrowings consist of term financ-
ing from pefco, guaranteed by the ex-Im bank of the united states. 
long-term borrowings are denominated in usD and noK. leasing 
contracts have fixed interest rate.

In 2009, if floating interest rate had been 1% higher/lower with all other 
variables held constant, pre-tax profit and pre-tax equity effect for the 
year would have been MnoK 2.2 (2008: MnoK 2.4) lower/higher, mainly 
as a result of higher/lower net interest expense on floating rate cash and 
cash equivalents and borrowings.

the sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk is calculated based on 
nominal value of borrowings and cash and cash equivalents.

the company measures borrowings at amortized cost. no changes in fair 
value of fixed interest rate borrowings would be accounted for. fair value 
calculations of fixed interest rate borrowings are detailed in note 24. 

Jet-fuel prices
expenses for jet-fuel represents a substantial part of the company’s 
operating costs, and fluctuations in the jet-fuel prices influence the 
projected cash flows. the objective of the jet-fuel price risk management 
policy is to provide protection against significant and sudden increases 
in jet-fuel prices whilst retaining access to price reductions. the 
company manages jet-fuel price risk using fuel derivatives. Management 
has a mandate to hedge up to 100 % of its expected consumption next 12 
month with forward commodity contracts. 

In 2009, if the jet-fuel price had increased/decreased by 1 % with all 
other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have 
been MnoK 17.0 (2008: MnoK 17.0) lower/higher.

the sensitivity analysis is calculated based on estimated jet-fuel 
consumption including estimated hedged consumption for the next 12 
months. As opposed to the sensitivity analysis of usD currency risk, the 
jet-fuel price risk analysis is not based on interdependence between 
jet-fuel price and usD exchange rates. the sensitivity is calculated using 
usD/noK exchange rate at the balance sheet date. 

credit risk 
credit risk is managed on group basis. credit risk arises from cash and 
cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with 
banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to travel 

agencies and commercial customers, including outstanding receivables 
and committed transactions. the utilization of credit limits is regu-
larly monitored. the company’s policy is to maintain credit sales at a 
minimum level. sales to personal customers are settled in cash or using 
major credit cards companies.

for a part of the company’s sales, customers pay at the time of booking 
while the company receive actual payments from credit card companies 
or acquires at a later point in time. Delayed payments from credit card 
companies vary between credit card brands. the risk arising from receiv-
ables on credit card companies or credit card acquires are monitored 
closely.  

credit risk related to bank defaults are closely monitored and partly 
offset by diversifying the company’s deposit portfolio.
 
there are re-invoicing of maintenance costs on aircraft to leasing com-
panies, and the company regularly evaluates and assesses the value of 
these credits. 

liquidity risk
prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient 
cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close 
out market positions. 

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the company’s liquidity 
reserve and cash and cash equivalents (note 22) on the basis of expected 
cash flow. In addition, the company’s liquidity management policy 
involves projecting cash flows in major currencies and considering the 
level of liquid assets necessary to meet these; monitoring balance sheet 
liquidity ratios against internal and external regulatory requirements; 
and maintaining debt financing plans.

the company will take deliveries of 7 aircraft in 2010, 14 aircraft in 2011 
and the remaining 25 aircraft in the period 2012-2014. pre-delivery pay-
ments related to the delivery of the first 10 aircraft were secured in 2007. 
the company is currently in process of securing long term financing 
for the 2 deliveries in 2010, while 5 of the deliveries in 2010 is already 
secured using guarantees and direct loans from the ex-Im bank of the 
united states. this financing arrangement is reducing liquidity risk.

capital risk management 
the company’s capital management policy is to have a capital structure 
suitable to the demands on operations, reducing cost of capital, risk 
factors in the industry, company specific risk and future investments 
planned by the company. 
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note 3 Revenue

note 4 opeRAtIonAl eXpenses

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
sales and distribution expenses 139 196 101 153
Aviation fuel 1 326 855 1 578 991
Aircraft leases 604 039 422 384
Airport charges 967 579 719 982
handling charges 679 446 484 073
technical maintenance expenses 611 331 446 313
other operating expenses 314 793 279 383
total 4 643 240 4 032 279

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
by activity:       
passenger transport 6 040 815 4 733 009  
Ancillary revenue 735 484 411 424  
other revenues 153 792 149 205  
total 6 930 092 5 293 637  
         
by geographic market:         
norway 2 899 736 2 297 138  
other eu/eeA countries 4 030 356 2 996 499  
total 6 930 092 5 293 637  

In 2009 and 2008, the company has been running low-fare operations exclusively, using its fleet of boeing 737 aircraft. the low-fare operation was 
launched in the autumn of 2002, and revenues from this business are specified the table above. passenger revenue consists of revenue generated from 
sale of airline tickets, while ancillary revenue consists of other services directly generated from ticket sales. other revenue consists of sales that are 
not directly related to an airline ticket, e.g cargo and sales of spare parts

note 5 pAYRoll eXpenses, nuMbeR of eMploYees AnD ReMuneRAtIon

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
wages and salaries 951 420 620 178
social security tax 116 942 93 199
pension expenses 126 285 104 497
employee stock options 8 437 6 196
other benefits 34 951 30 284
total 1 238 035 854 354

number of man-labour years 1 494 1 146

In 2009, MnoK 8.4 (2008: MnoK 6.2) was charged as an expense to salary, according to the stock option program. the company has a pension scheme 
covering all employees. the scheme is in compliance with the act on occupational pensions.

note 4a 
other operating expenses amount to MnoK 357.6 (2008: 254.6). other operating expenses are related to operation of systems, marketing, back office, 
consultants and other costs not directly attributable to operation of the aircraft fleet and related airline specific costs. 
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note 6 otheR fInAncIAl IteMs

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
forreign exchange income and loss 47 865 -35 204
Appreciation financial current assets 32 319 28 686
Appreciation financial non - current assets (note 27) 1 608 -4 376
change in fair value hedge accounting 0 358 264
other financial expenses 108 -3 849
Impairment of shares in subsidiary -260 727 0
total -178 827 343 521

see note 20 for details on change in fair value adjustments from hedge accounting. Impairment of shares in subsidiaries relates to shares in norwegian Air 
shuttle sweden Ab (note 25). 
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note 7 tAXes

this year’s tax expense consists of (noK 1 000): 2009 2008
 
tax payable 117 135 0
change in deferred tax  47 607 68 619
income tax expense 164 741 68 619
       
reconciliation from nominal to effective tax rate:  
  
  
 
noK 1 000 2009 2008
profit before tax 408 126 249 432
       
expected tax expense using nominal tax rate (28 %) 114 275 69 841
    
tax effect of the following items:       
non deductible expenses/non taxable income 43 592 -2 660
Adjustment from previous year 6 874 0
other items 0 1 438
tax expense 164 741 68 619
effective tax rate 40.37 % 27.51 %
       
Specification of tax payable 2009 2008
tax payable in income tax expense -117 135 0
Group contribution 6 013 0
tax payable in the balance sheet -111 122 0
   
Specification of temporary differences and tax loss carry forward:  
       
noK 1 000 2009 2008
tangible assets -137 865 -54 635
long term receivables and borrowings in foreign currency -60 191 0
financial instruments -22 461 85 620
Inventories 4 170 0
Receivables 71 681 34 620
Gain/loss account 125 157
provisions 107 073 106 126
pensions 97 558 61 815
other 1) -226 549 -277 873
tax loss carry forward 0 15 669
total -166 459 -28 501
       
Deferred tax asset/liability -46 608 -7 980
Adjustments in respect of prior years 0 6 870
net recognized deferred tax asset/liability -46 608 -1 111
       
1) other temporary differences consist of book value of firm commitment recognised according to hedge accounting.       
       
gross movements on deferred income tax:  
      
noK 1 000 2009 2008
At 1 january (-) liability/(+) asset -1 111 60 421
Income statement charge -47 607 -68 619
tax charged directly in equity 2 109 6 870
Adjustment in respect of prior years 0 218
31 December -46 608 -1 111



note 8 IntAnGIble Assets

noK 1 000 Software goodwill other intangible assets total

Acquisition cost at 1 January 2008 79 112 0  4 591   83 703 
Additions 21 548 0  4 022   25 570 
Disposals 0 0 0 0
Acquisition cost at 31 December 2008 100 660 0  8 613   109 273 
       
Acquisition cost at 1 January 2009 100 660 0  8 613   109 273 
Additions 27 776 94 157  22 406   144 339 
Disposals 0 0 0 0
acquisition cost at 31 December 2009 128 436 94 157  31 019   253 612 
        
Accumulated amortization and write-down at January 1 2008 44 419 0 4 591  49 010 
Amortization in 2008 17 293 0 0  17 293 
Accumulated depreciation and write-down at 31 December 2008 61 712 0  4 591   66 303 
        
Accumulated amortization and write-down at January 1 2009 61 712 0 4 591  66 303 
Amortization in 2009 20 152 6 277 0  26 429 
accumulated depreciation and write-down at 31 December 2009 81 864 6 277  4 591   92 732 
     
Book value at 31 December 2008 38 948 0 4 022 42 970
Book value at 31 December 2009 46 572 87 880 26 428 160 880
economic life 3-5 years 15 years Indefinite 
Depreciation plan linear linear none 

capitalized software is related to external consulting fees for the development of norwegian’s own systems for booking and ticket-less travel, various sales 
portals, back office and new maintenance system (AMos). the depreciation of the software commence as each module is completed. 

Goodwill consists of purchased goodwill from norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab in 2009. All airline operations were purchased from the subsidiary and the 
airline operations are run from norwegian Air shuttle AsA from 1 July 2009. payment for the operation exceeding initial goodwill from the purchase of the 
shares in norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab in 2007 (note 25) was added to the value of the shares and accounted for under other financial items (note 6) 
as impairment of shares in subsidiary. Goodwill and slots were identified as assets and measured at the value from initial purchase price in 2007. 

Management has determined that goodwill related to the swedish airline operation has a definite economic useful life of 15 years. the assessment is based 
on an assumption that the company will earn future benefits from the swedish operation for all foreseeable future. the depreciation plan of 15 years is 
based on an average depreciation plan for the company’s total tangible and intangible assets.

other intangible assets consist of intellectual property rights which are related to purchases of internet domains. the company has developed web portals 
in norway, sweden and Denmark. the intellectual property right is recognized as an addition of MnoK 4 in 2008. In 2009, the company purchased slots 
from norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab with an acquisition cost of MnoK 22.4. slots are included in other intangible assets.  

Intangible assets with indefinite economic useful lives are tested for impairment annually. no impairment losses are identified for intangible assets in 2009.

Intangible assets with definite economic useful lives are tested for impairment if there are indicators of impairment identified. 

the method used to estimate the recoverable amount is value in use, based on discounted cash flow analysis. the analysis reflects the cash flow 
projections in the financial business plan covering the next year approved by senior management. In addition, the calculation includes estimated cash 
flows for the next 5 years. Key assumptions used in the calculation are growth rates, operating costs, terminal value and discount rate. cash flows beyond 
the 5 year period are extrapolated with a long term growth rate. estimated cash flow and discount rate is after tax.
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   prepayment
   Boeing equipment and financial 
noK 1 000 Buildings aircraft contract fixtures lease total

Acquisition cost at 1 January 2008 3 933 300 914 316 546 59 568 0 680 961
Additions 0 373 327 388 619 19 987 0 781 933
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
acquisition cost at 31 December 2008 3 933 674 241 705 165 79 555 0 1 462 894
         
Acquisition cost at 1 January 2009 3 933 674 241 705 165 79 555 0 1 462 894
Additions 0 546 073 705 827 19 587 26 468 1 297 955
Disposals 0 -16 557 0 -238  -16 795
acquisition cost at 31 December 2009 3 933 1 203 757 1 410 992 98 904 26 468 2 744 054
         
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2008 0 91 094 0 36 122 0 127 216
Depreciation in 2008 0 59 471 0 12 941 0 72 412
Reversals in 2008 0 0 0 0 0 0
accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2008 0 150 565 0 49 063 0 199 628
         
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January 2009 0 150 565 0 49 063 0 199 628
Depreciation in 2009 0 89 281 0 19 562 376 109 219
Reversals in 2009 0 -10 981 0 -121 0 -11 102
Impairment 2009 0 0 0 0 0 0
accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2009 0 228 865 0 68 504 376 297 745
         
Book value at 31 December 2008 3 933 523 676 705 165 30 492 0 1 263 266
Book value at 31 December 2009 3 933 974 892 1 410 992 30 400 26 092 2 446 308
         
economic life see below see below see below see below 4-20 years 
Depreciation plan see below see below none linear linear 
Residual value 100 % MnoK 206.1 see below see below 0 % 

At 31 December 2009, the company operated a total of 46 aircraft, 7 owned and 39 leased under operational leases. leases are detailed in note 10. 

Aircraft
Aircraft consist of purchased aircraft and the company owns 7 aircraft at 31 December 2009. the residual value is MnoK 206.1 in total for all aircraft. the 
residual value is deducted from the depreciable amount of the remainder of the aircraft.  the life expectancy of the aircraft is 25 years on 737-800 and 30 
years on 737-300, and the economic life of the owned aircraft is 25 or 30 less the age of the aircraft at time of purchase.

Installations on leased aircraft
the installations on the leased aircraft include cabin interior modifications and other improvements to the aircraft after lease commencement. the 
capitalized value is depreciated over the remainder of the aircraft lease, which is between 1-8 years. linear depreciation is applied and residual value is 
noK 0. In 2009 several engines on the leased aircraft were in overhaul, and replacements costs for life limited parts were capitalized in the extent that the 
costs are improvements to the engines exceeding the requirements specified in the leasing contracts. these components are depreciated at a defined rate 
per engine cycle, limited to the remainder of the aircraft lease.

spare parts
spare parts consist of rotable and repairable parts for aircraft, and are depreciated over their useful life. useful life of spare parts is between 4-10 years. 
linear depreciation is applied and 25% of the acquisition cost is calculated as residual value. 

buildings
buildings consist of 3 apartments in berlin, purchased in 2007 for the purpose of housing crew and trainees stationed in berlin on temporary basis. the 
asset is carried at acquisition cost. the residual value is estimated to equal the acquisition cost.

prepayments on boeing contract
In 2007, the company entered into a purchase contract on 42 new 737-800 aircraft with boeing corporation, with an option on 42 additional aircraft. 
two aircraft have been delivered in 2009, and 6 purchase options have been exercised. 46 aircraft will be delivered in the period 2010 until 2014. up until 
delivery of the aircraft, the company will make prepayments to boeing, following a defined prepayment schedule. the company capitalizes borrowing costs 
incurred for the construction of qualifying assets during the period of time that is required to complete the aircraft. borrowing costs of MnoK 33.5 (2008: 
MnoK 30.5) have been capitalized during the year. Average capitalization rate of 7.66% (2008: 8.21%) was used. the company applied fair value hedge  
accounting of unrecognized firm commitment for the three first quarters of 2008. the hedging relationship was terminated at 16 october 2008. 
the remaining fair value of the unrecognized firm commitment of MnoK 8.7 at the date of termination was capitalized as part of prepayments. prepay-
ments are not depreciated until the aircraft is delivered and ready for use. the value of prepayments is tested for impairment annually.

financial lease assets
In 2009, the company entered into lease agreements related to de-ice equipment and electronic flight bag equipment. the lease agreements are classified 
as financial leases as all risks and rewards are transferred to the company after the end of the lease agreement

Impairment of tangible assets
In 2009 and 2008, management determined that the total operations of the company were its cash generating unit. Impairment testing of tangible assets 
are covered by impairment testing on the whole company, see note 8 for details.
for information regarding assets pledged as collateral, see note 21.
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note 10 leAsInG

   nominal value 2009  nominal value 2008
noK 1.000 aircrafts cars property total aircrafts cars property total

within one year 887 912 3 910 17 082 908 904 581 066 560 18 466 600 092
between 1 and 5 years 2 448 487 14 220 36 668 2 499 375 1 509 123 498 63 326 1 572 947
After 5 years 724 171 7 110 13 233 744 514 552 286 0 19 849 572 134

the lease agreements on the boeing 737 aircraft last for 3 to 8 years from the date of the agreement, with options for extension on certain agreements. 6 
of the aircraft were delivered in 2002, 2 aircraft in 2003, 4 aircraft in 2004, 2 aircraft in 2005, 6 aircraft in 2006, 2 aircraft in 2007, 8 aircraft in 2008, and 9 
aircraft in 2009. Renegotiations have resulted in extensions on some of the shorter leases. the contracts for 5 of the aircraft expire in 2010 and for 8 of the 
aircraft in 2011. the remaining contracts expire in 2012 or later.

leasing costs expensed on aircraft lease within operational expenses was MnoK 604.0 in 2009 (2008: MnoK 422.4).

In addition, the company leases 13 cars, and 9 properties in oslo, stavanger, stockholm, copenhagen, and warsaw. leasing costs related to cars and proper-
ties expensed in other operating expenses in 2009 was MnoK 21.2 (MnoK 19.1 in 2008)

Annual minimum rent on non-cancelable operating lease agreements per 31 December 2009 is as follows:

the aircraft’s minimum lease payments consist of ordinary lease payments, contractual payments for maintenance reserves and expensed deferred lease 
payments resulting from non- interest bearing deposits paid at inception of the lease agreement.

note 11 lonG teRM ReceIvAbles

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
Deposits 20 398 24 183
Intercompany receivable 5 688 127 290
other long-term receivables 3 817 1 032
total 29 903 152 505

the company pays deposits on aircraft leases. In 2009, inter-company receivables relates to a long- term loan to call norwegian As. Inter-company receivables 
in 2008 relates to loan to norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab. Inter-company receivables are presented net against inter-company payables in the financial state-
ments for each subsidiary. Receivables denominated in foreign currency are converted using the prevailing exchange rates on the balance sheet date.

note 12 InventoRIes

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
consumables 26 183 22 149
Modification equipment 5 745 8 483
parts for heavy maintenance  7 917 3 581
total 39 845 34 214

In 2009 and 2008, the company bought parts removed from aircraft engines in relation with heavy maintenance. such parts are held for sale and sold in 
secondary markets.

charges for obsolete product in 2009 were MnoK 4.6 (2008: MnoK 0).
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note 13 otheR ReceIvAbles

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
prepaid costs 19 121 32 080
vAt refund 87 538 50 227
Reimbursements claims maintenance costs 131 786 179 158
Intercompany receivable 20 975 20 442
other receivables 57 912 72 946
total 317 332 354 854

Due dates
noK 1 000 2008 2008
within one year 317 332 354 854
After 1 year (note 11) 29 903 152 505
total 347 235 507 359

  nominal  
 number value Book value
class A shares 34 209 858 0.1 3 420 986

Shareholder structure
the largest shareholders at 31 December 2009 were:  

  owner- voting-
 a-shares ship rights

hbK Invest As 9 499 116 27.77 % 27.77 %
AwIlco Invest As  2 320 000 6.78 % 6.78 %
fInnAIR plc  1 649 862 4.82 % 4.82 %
sKAGen Kon-tIKI  1 603 900 4.69 % 4.69 %
sKAGen veKst  1 298 700 3.80 % 3.80 %
Dnb noR noRGe (Iv) v  820 340 2.40 % 2.40 %
vItAl foRsIKRInG AsA 767 187 2.24 % 2.24 %
holbeRG noRGe  566 760 1.66 % 1.66 %
GolDMAn sAchs Int. - eQuItY -  538 580 1.57 % 1.57 %
holbeRG noRDen  505 956 1.48 % 1.48 %
seb enKIlDA AsA - eGenKApItAl - 406 808 1.19 % 1.19 %
pensJonsKAssen stAtoIl 392 671 1.15 % 1.15 %
stAte stReet bAnK An 368 858 1.08 % 1.08 %
stAte stReet bAnK  339 576 0.99 % 0.99 %
Klp lK AKsJeR 300 000 0.88 % 0.88 %
wARRenwIcKlunD noRGe 247 184 0.72 % 0.72 %
shb stocKholM clIent 222 210 0.65 % 0.65 %
bARclAYs cApItAl sec 200 000 0.58 % 0.58 %
Dnb noR sMb vpf 198 811 0.58 % 0.58 %
Klp AKsJenoRGe 197 500 0.58 % 0.58 %
other 11 765 839 34.39 % 34.39 %

total number of shares 34 209 858 100 % 100 %

note 14 shAReholDeR’s eQuItY AnD shAReholDeR InfoRMAtIon

At 31 December 2009, the share capital consists of the following share classes:

>> 
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note 14 shAReholDeR’s eQuItY AnD shAReholDeR InfoRMAtIon

name title Shares 1) options

bjørn Kise 1) chairman  781 537   -   
ola Krohn fagervoll board Member  15 462   -   
liv berstad board Member  -     -   
Marianne wergeland Jenssen board Member  800   -   
linda olsen board Member - employee repr  -     -   
thor espen bråten board Member - employee repr  1 995   2 529 
Kenneth utsikt board Member - employee repr 1 336     956 
bjørn Kjos 2) chief executive officer  7 998 603   48 052 
frode e foss chief financial officer  30 000   46 624 
hans-petter Aanby  chief It officer  -     46 636 
Asgeir nyseth  chief operating officer 5 200  46 655 
Daniel skjeldam chief commercial officer  -     43 039 
Anne-sissel skånvik senior vice president hR and organisation  -     20 000 
Gunnar Martinsen  senior vice president corporate communications  8 165   20 000 

shares and options directly or indirectly held by members of the board of Directors, chief executive officer  
and executive management:

1)  Including shares held by related parties
2)  bjørn Kise holds 8.2 % of hbK invest As
3)  bjørn Kjos holds 84.1 % of hbK Invest As

note 15 eQuItY

 Share Share prem. other paid-in other total
noK 1 000 capital reserve equity equity equity

equity at 01 January 2008 2 087 408 277 32 753 81 891 525 008
share issue 2008 1 149 398 851 0 0 400 000
expenses for share issue 2008, net of tax 0 -17 998 0 0 -17 998
compensation expense for stock options 0 0 6 197 0 6 197
net profit for the year 0 0 0 180 813 180 813
equity 31 December 2008 3 236 789 130 38 950 262 704 1 094 020
        
equity at 01 January 2009 3 236 789 130 38 950 262 704 1 094 020
share issue 2009 162 250 938 0 0 251 100
expenses for share issue 2009, net of tax 0 -5 527 0 0 -5 527
stock options- share issue 2009 23 7 353 0 0 7 376
compensation expense for stock options 0 0 8 437 0 8 437
net profit for the year 0 0 0 243 385 243 385
equity 31 December 2009 3 421 1 041 894 47 387 506 089 1 598 791

>> 

note 16 pensIons
Defined benefit plan
All employees in norway participate in a defined benefit plan. the benefits are mainly dependent on pension entitlement earned, salary at the time of 
retirement and the size of payments from the national Insurance. the liabilities are covered through vital As. the plan also covers a life insurance and 
disability insurance. per 31 December 2009, a total of 1,465 employees were active members (2008: 1,238), and 30 (2008: 24) were on pension retirement. 
In addition, employees are included in the early retirement scheme (Afp), which is an unfunded plan for retirement right at the age of 62. the Afp is a 
multi-employer plan, where the norwegian state pays a contribution of 40% of paid pensions for the retired persons older than 64 years. the company’s 
payments of contribution to the plan are recognized as an expense in the income statement as incurred. the company also pays 25% of the pension paid 
to own pensioners. this is an obligation for the company that is not funded. the Afp obligation for the company is shown under the heading “unfunded”. 
At 31 December 2009, 495 employees were active in the Afp pension plan (2008:421), and no employees had retired in the Afp pension plan.
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note 16 pensIons

the scheme is in compliance with the act on occupational pensions.

the pension obligation is calculated on linear accumulation. changes in the obligation due to changes in and deviations from the estimated assumptions, 
are spread over the estimated average remaining vesting period for the part of deviations that exceeds 10% of the gross pension liability.  pension costs 
for the year for the company’s defined benefit plans are calculated by independent actuaries and are based on information as of 1 January 2009. Manage-
ment has made an assessment of changes in estimates and basis of calculation, these changes have no material impact on the pension cost for 2009. 

Risk tables for death and disability are based on the most commonly used statistics in norway, (K-2005) and (IR 02) respectively.

pension expense (noK 1 000) funded unfunded total 2009 total 2008

net present value of benefits earned 102 828 518 103 346 90 271
Interest cost on pension liability 14 598 76 14 674 11 111
Return on plan assets -15 594 0 -15 594 -11 459
Administrative expenses 2 485 0 2 485 0
Recognized actuarial gains/losses 6 554 27 6 581 1 895
social security tax 14 709 84 14 793 12 679
net pension expense defined benefit plans  125 580   705   126 285   104 497 

noK 1 000 funded unfunded total 2009 total 2008

liabilities on earned pension rights 394 094 2 029 396 123 249 402
calculated liability from future salary increases 86 962 636 87 598 139 328
Gross pension liabilities 481 056 2 665 483 721 388 730
pension assets (at market value) 301 612 0 301 612 233 000
estimate deviations not recognised -98 189 -473 -98 662 -115 873
social security tax 13 844 267 14 111 21 958
net pension liabilities 95 099 2 459 97 558 61 815

   2009 2008
best estimate of actual return on pension funds previous year   5.40 % 0.30 %
expected contribution to be paid next year    83 300   80 000 
expected benefits to be paid    (5 163)  (5 000)

economic assumptions:   2009 2008
Discount rate   4.40 % 3.80 %
expected growth in salaries   4.00 % 3.75 %
expected growth in state pensions   4.00 % 3.75 %
expected growth in pensions   1.30 % 1.75 %
expected return on pension assets   5.60 % 5.80 %
Average turnover   2-10 % 0-10 %
      
the companys pension fund is invested in the following instruments:      
   2009 2008
equity   9.8 % 24.8 %
bonds   19.0 % 21.5 %
Money market funds   16.3 % 7.5 %
hold-to-maturity bonds   36.4 % 27.7 %
Real estate   16.6 % 15.6 %
various   1.2 % 2.9 %

Actuarial assumptions related to demographic factors and retirements are based on assumptions commonly used in insurance. the estimated utilization 
rate for the Afp scheme is 20%.

 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

present value of defined benefit obligation 483 721 388 730 249 401 185 325 152 752
fair value of plan assets 301 612 233 000 175 000 137 516 99 714
Deficit/(surplus) in the plan 182 109 155 730 74 401 47 809 53 038
experience adjustments on plan liabilities -25 272 50 340 19 506 -1 646 24 346
experience adjustments on plan assets -28 148 2 549 -2 375 3 039 -1 972

historical information
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note 17 optIons

expected lifetime assumes that stock options are exercised at expiration. expected volatility is based on the historical volatility over the most recent 
period that corersponds with the expected life of the option. there is a cap on the options granted in 2009 limiting the proceeds from the options to 
three times the participants’ annual base salary. furthermore, the participants in the 2008 - program must cover the social security tax incurred for 
option gains where the share price exceeds noK 64.12. these limitations are taken into account when calculating the option values.

the option program is expensed with MnoK 8.4 in 2009 and MnoK 6.2 in 2008.

on 24 october 2007 the board issued, in accordance with the authorization from the general meeting on 3 May 2007, 269,000 stock options to the 
company’s management team. the stock options had an exercise price of noK 173.07. All options expired in 2009.

the board issued 561,301 stock options to employees on 10 september 2008, in accordance with the authorization from the extraordinary general 
meeting on 5 August 2008. the stock options have an exercise price of noK 32.06, equal to the 30% discounted volume weighted share price during the 
period 26-29 August 2008. the stock options vest 1 october 2009, and may be exercised within a period of two years. the first 50% of the stock options 
can be exercised during determined periods of exercise. the second 50% of the stock options can be exercised only after the third quarter financial 
report for 2010. stock options not exercised before 31 october 2010 is forfeited.

on 20 July 2009 the board issued, in accordance with the authorization from the general meeting, 384,000 stock options to the management and key 
personnel. the stock options have an exercise price of noK 67.00, equal to the average share price the last trading days before issue, plus 10%. the 
stock options may be exercised within a period of two years, whereas the first 50% of the stock options may be exercised on year after grant date and 
vest 20 July 2010.

the stock option program is expensed at fair value over the vesting period. fair value calculations are conducted using black & scholes option pricing model.

the model takes into account market conditions for vesting in the assessment of fair value. the cost of fair value is expensed linear over the vesting 
period. the costs are offset in other paid in capital. 
 
the following estimates are used in calculating fair value;

 2009 2008
 
Dividend (%) 0 % 0 %
expected volatility (%) 58.01 % 54.69 %
historic volatility (%) 58.01 % 54.69 %
Risk free interest (%) 2.13 % 5.86 %
expected lifetime (year)  2.25   1.12 
share price at grant date  59.50   39.00 

 
 2009 weighted avg. 2008 weighted avg.
 Shares exerc. price Shares exerc. price 
    
outstanding at the beginning of the period  829 690   77.8   269 000   173.1 
Allocated 384 000   67.0   561 301   32.1 
exercised 230 080   32.1   -     -   
terminated 4 009   32.1   611   32.1 
forfeited -     -     -     -   
expired 269 000   173.1   -     -   
vested options  48 290   32.1   134 500   173.1 
weighted average of fair value of options allocated in the period  384 000   15.4   561 301   13.3 
outstanding at the end of the period  710 601   50.9   829 690   77.8 
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note 17 optIons

In 2007 norwegian Air shuttle AsA implemented a “share savings plan” whereby the employees, through monthly deductions in salary, purchased 
shares in the company. the company will match up to 50% of the employee’s savings amount, limited to noK 6,000 per annum. In addition, there is 
a bonus share scheme, entitling employees to receive bonus shares 2 years after the initial share purchase at a one-for-ten ratio to initial shares 
purchased. 

fair value of the bonus shares are measured at the date of grant using black & scholes option pricing model. the fair value of the bonus shares and 
the corresponding estimated social security cost are expensed as personnel costs over the vesting period. changes in estimated social security cost 
are expensed over the remaining vesting period. At 31 December 2009, MnoK 0.2 (2008: MnoK 0.20) was expensed related to the bonus share scheme.

 
 outstanding options by weighted average  weighted average  vested options by weighted average 
Strike price (noK) by 31 December 2009 remaining lifetime (yrs) strike price 31 December 2009 strike price 
    
0.00 - 35.00 326 601 0.8  32.1  48 290 32.1
35.00 -    384 000 1.8  67.0   -     -   
total 710 601 1.4  50.9  48 290  32.1 

2 009 outstanding options vested options

 
 outstanding options by weighted average  weighted average  vested options by weighted average 
Strike price (noK) by 31 December 2008 remaining lifetime (yrs) strike price 31 December 2008 strike price 
    
0,00 - 100,00 560 690 1.8  32.1  0 0
100,00 - 200,00 269 000 0.8  173.1  134 500  173.1 
total 829 690 1.5  77.8  134 500  173.1 

2 008 outstanding options vested options

note 18 pRovIsIons

for leased airplanes, payments to maintenance funds held by the lessor are made. the accrued provisions in the accounts are estimated payments for 
periodic maintenance in excess of payments to the maintenance funds, and are provided on the basis of aircraft utilization. for some of the contracts, 
there is a degree of uncertainty about what kind of maintenance works are covered by the maintenance funds, and the provision for this increase in 
expenses for the company is distributed over the period until the maintenance is performed.

parts of the periodic maintenance will be performed in 2010, and MnoK 62.4 is classified as short term liability for periodic maintenance (2008: MnoK 
0). the short term part of periodic maintenance is estimated based on planned maintenance in 2010. Amounts for 2008 are not restated. 

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
periodic maintenance on leased boeing 737 airplanes 70 345 129 080
total provisions 70 345 129 080

note 19 otheR shoRt-teRM lIAbIlItIes

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 

Accrued holiday allowances  75 041   62 214 
Accrued expenses  251 407   222 325 
short term part of long term borrowings (note 24)  675 303   257 456 
short term part of periodic maintenance  62 382  0
Inter-company liabilities 13 428  0
other short term liabilities  19 398   12 144 
total  1 096 960   554 139 
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note 20 fInAncIAl InstRuMents

 
 assets  liabilities  
December 31 2009 (noK 1 000) Short term long term Short term long term 
    
foreign exchange hedges fair value 0    0    1 227 0   
Jet-fuel contracts 23 688 0    0    0   
total financial instruments 23 688 0    1 227 0   
      
 assets  liabilities 
December 31 2008 (noK 1 000) Short term long term Short term long term
foreign exchange hedges fair value 18 360 0    0    0   
Jet-fuel contracts 0    0    104 325 0   
total financial instruments 18 360 0    104 325 0   

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
- fair value losses 121 400 191 945
- fair value gains -170 714 -44 177
net losses/(gains) -49 314 147 768
      
Ineffectiveness on fair value hedges 0 -358 264

losses and gains on financial asset and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as ‘other losses/(gains) – net’. hedge ineffective-
ness on fair value hedges are classified as financial items (note 6).

In 2009, forward commodity contracts are designated as hedging instruments according to cash flow hedge accounting. unrealized changes in fair value on the 
hedging instruments are temporarily recognized in equity, net after tax, amounting to MnoK 23.7. the ineffective portion from fair value hedge accounting in 
2008 is recognized as a gain of MnoK 358.3 within financial items.

other losses/(gains) - net

note 21 Assets pleDGeD As collAteRAl AnD GuARAntees

prepayments on the first 10 aircraft in the purchase contract with boeing (note 9) are pledged as collateral for the revolving credit facility (note 23).

the owned aircraft (note 9) is pledged as collateral for the aircraft financing (note 24). 

there are no pledged collateral for the financial lease liability, but the financial lease asset is an actual security for the financial lease liability through 
fulfillment of the lease agreement.

bank guarantees are granted for leasing liabilities for aircraft, suppliers of fuel and handling services, as well as airport charges from airports and 
governments. 

Book value of assets pledged as security (noK 1 000): 2009 2008
 
cash depot 132 476 116 837
prepayment and aircraft 1 874 718 499 416
financial lease asset 26 092 0
total 2 033 286 616 253
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note 22 cAsh AnD cAsh eQuIvAlents

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
cash in bank 988 424 582 674
cash equivalents 387 140 925
total 1 375 564 583 600

restricted cash items are: noK 1 000 2009 2008
Guarantees for leases and credits from suppliers 132 476 116 837
taxes withheld 46 131 34 275
total restricted cash 178 607 151 113   

note 23 ReMuneRAtIon to the boARD of DIRectoRs AnD eXecutIve MAnAGeMent

Remuneration to the board of Directors
total remuneration paid to the board in 2009 was MnoK 0.7. the chairman of the board, bjørn Kise, received MnoK 0.1. there were no bonus or other 
form of compensation paid to the board members in 2009. 

Directive of remuneration to the ceo and executive Management
the principles for leadership remuneration in norwegian Air shuttle AsA are to stimulate to a strong and lasting profit oriented culture. the total 
compensation level should be competitive, however, not market leading compared to similar organizations. the board defines the remuneration to the ceo, 
and the guidelines for remuneration to the other executive Management. the remuneration to the board and executive Management must not have 
negative effects for the company, nor damage the reputation and standing of the company in the public eye. there have been no changes in the guide-
lines or principles for management remuneration during the year. the actual remuneration in 2009 was consistent with the guidelines and principles. 

compensation to the executive Management should primarily consist of fixed yearly salary with additional compensation such as a company car, free 
telephone, internet and newspapers, and standard pension and insurance plan. executive Management is also part of the company’s stock option plan. 

the ceo does not receive other compensation in form of performance based salary or bonus. executive Management can on an individual basis be 
awarded special compensation for profit enhancing projects, where compensation is set at a specific level of actual profit generated. 

executive Management is part of the company’s collective pension plan for salary up to 12 G, which applies to all employees. senior management has 
no special rights in the event of termination of employment. 

noK 1 000 fee Salary Bonus  other benefits **) total compensation pension expense ***)

the Board of Directors
bjørn Kise (chairman) 125    125  
erik Gunnar braathen 150    150  
(deputy chairman until 26.11.2009)
liv berstad 100    100  
ola Krohn-fagervoll 100    100  
Marianne wergeland Jenssen 100    100  
halvor vatnar*) 35    35  
sissel Gjelstad vårum*) 35    35  
Monika Johansen*) 35    35  
total Board of directors 680 0 0 0 680 0
executive Management         
bjørn Kjos (chief executive officer)   1 256    175 1 431 a)   127
frode foss (chief financial officer)  1 110  118 1 228 b) 78
Asgeir nyseth (chief operating officer)  1 186  10 1 196 c) 121
hans-petter Aanby (chief It officer)  1 110  116 1 226 d) 104
Daniel skjeldam (chief commercial officer)  1 055  99 1 154 e) 44
Gunnar Martinsen  826  18 844 105
(senior vice president hR and organisation)
Anne-sissel skånvik  825  111 936 f) 123
(senior vice president corporate communications)
total executive management 0 7 368 0 647 8 015 702

*) for the employee representatives in the board of Directors, only their fee for serving on the board of Directors fee is stated.      
**) other benefits include company car, telephone, internet etc.     
***) pension expense reflects paid pension premium less employee contribution     
     
a) bjørn Kjos excercised share options in 2009 that has been reported as additional taxable income with noK 466,830     
b) frode foss excercised share options in 2009 that has been reported as additional taxable income with noK 384,039     
c) Asgeir nyseth excercised share options in 2009 that has been reported as additional taxable income with noK 385,039     
d) hans-petter Aanby excercised share options in 2009 that has been reported as additional taxable income with noK 384,735     
e) Daniel skjeldam excercised share options in 2009 that has been reported as additional taxable income with noK 176,249     
f) Anne-sissel skånvik was appointed in 2009, replacing former senior vice president corporate communications.     

>> 

total compensation year 2009
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note 23 ReMuneRAtIon to the boARD of DIRectoRs AnD eXecutIve MAnAGeMent

noK 1 000 2009 2008
 
Audit fee  761   870 
other audit related services  2 558   412 
tax advisory  534   514 
other services  221   79 
total  4 074   1 875 

All amounts stated are without vAt

auditor remuneration

note 24 boRRowInGs

nominal value (noK 1 000) 2009 2008
 
nominal value bond issue 563 000 300 000
Amortization -2 006 -1 303
Bond at 31 December at amortized cost 560 994 298 697
       
effective interest rate for the year ended 31.12.2009 was 8.4% (2008:8.6%).       
 2009 2008
nominal value facility agreement 628 394 408 219
Amortization -4 784 -8 586
facility at 31 December at amortized cost 623 610 399 632      

>> 

noK 1 000 fee Salary Bonus  other benefits **) total compensation pension expense ***)

the Board of Directors
erik Gunnar braathen (chairman) 150    150  
bjørn Kise (deputy chairman) 125    125  
berit slåtto neerbye 100    100  
liv berstad 100    100  
ola Krohn-fagervoll 100    100  
halvor vatnar*) 35    35  
sissel Gjelstad vårum*) 35    35  
Monika Johansen*) 35    35  
total Board of directors 680 0 0 0 680 0
executive Management         
bjørn Kjos (chief executive officer)   1 291    173 1 464   181
frode foss (chief financial officer)  1 144  117 1 261 84
Asgeir nyseth (chief operating officer)  1 081  10 1 091 113
hans-petter Aanby (chief It officer)  1 269  114 1 383 113
Daniel skjeldam (chief commercial officer)  1 035  13 1 047 76
Gunnar Martinsen   715  24 739 127
(senior vice president hR and organisation) 
Anne Grete ellingsen  859  15 874 133
(senior vice president corporate communications)
total executive management 0 7 392 0 467 7 859 826

total compensation year 2008

*) for the employee representatives in the board of Directors, only their fee for serving on the board of Directors fee is stated.      
**) other benefits include company car, telephone, internet etc.     
***) pension expense reflects paid pension premium less employee contribution     
     
     
shares and options owned by senior managers are presented in note 14.     
     
there are no loans outstanding, or guarantees made, to the board of Directors or the executive Management.     
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note 24 boRRowInGs

total borrowings include secured liabilities of MnoK 993.2 (2008: MnoK 399.6) (collateralized borrowings).  collateralized borrowings are secured by 
prepayments on the boeing contract (note 9). Additionally, aircraft financing from pefco on new 737-800 aircraft are guaranteed by the ex-Im bank of 
the united states and the ex-Im bank of the united states has pledged collateral in the aircraft (note 9).

bond issue
Interest rate of nIboR 3 m and a risk premium equal to the spread at the balance sheet date.

the bond issue is an unsecured bond issue denominated in noK and matures on 19 April 2010 for the current borrowings and on 17 December 2012 for 
the non-current borrowings. the coupon is nIboR + 2% for the current borrowings and nIboR +5.75% for the non-current borrowings.

Revolving credit facility
Interest rate of lIboR 1 m and a risk premium equal to the spread at the balance sheet date. 

the facility agreement was entered into as of 28 september 2008 with the french financing institution natixis and is denominated in usD. the facility 
will finance pre-delivery-payments (pDp’s) related to the first 10 aircraft in the boeing contract. the coupon is lIboR +1.30%. the borrowings mature at 
the delivery of each aircraft.

Aircraft financing
fixed interest rate based on lIboR 7 y and a risk premium equal to the spread at the balance sheet date. the spread is not entity specific, as the 
agreed spread is based on overall credit risk in the financial markets in the united states.

the borrowings mature quarterly for 12 years after delivery of the aircraft from boeing. the aircraft financing is denominated in usD.

financial lease liability
the liability is de facto secured in the financial lease assets, as the rights and obligations of the leased assets are returned to the lessor if the lease 
agreement is not fulfilled.

the discount rates used to calculate the fair value of the financial lease liability equals the risk free interest rate and spread related to unsecured 
bond issue. the financial lease liability is denominated in noK.

at 31 December 2009 (noK 1 000) less than 1 year Between 1 and 2 years Between 2 and 5 years over 5 yearslong term 
    
borrowings 675 303 334 162 330 668 214 048
total liabilities 675 303 334 162 330 668 214 048

Maturity of borrowings

effective interest rate for the year ended 31.12.2009 was 9.5% (2008:5.6%).       
 2009 2008
nominal value aircraft financing 400 682 0
Amortization -31 106 0
aircraft financing at 31 December at amortized cost 369 576 0
       
effective interest rate for the year ended 31.12.2009 was 5.4%.       
 2009 2008
nominal value financial lease liability 28 829 0
Amortization 0 0
financial lease liability at 31 December at amortized cost 28 829 0
       
effective interest rate for the year ended 31.12.2009 was 0.6%.

classification of borrowings  
noK 1 000 2009 2008
non-current  bond issue 
398 298 298 697
facility agreement 144 747 142 176
Aircraft financing 335 833 0
financial lease liability 28 829 0
total 907 707 440 873
    
current
bond issue 162 697 0
facility agreement  478 863 257 456
Aircraft financing 33 743 
financial lease liability 0 
total (note 19) 675 303 257 456
total borrowings 1 583 010 698 330
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norwegian Air shuttle polska sp.zo.o
the subsidiary was established in 2006 and is 100% owned. All of the Group’s business generating assets is owned by norwegian Air shuttle AsA. 
the Group’s operations are mainly carried out at from the base in norway, but one aircraft is designated to the polish operations and are operating to 
and from the warsaw base. the polish subsidiary is supplying crew and minor line maintenance on the aircraft. 

norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab
the subsidiary was purchased on 31 July 2007. the company owns 100 % of the shares in norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab. the total purchase price 
was MnoK 199.8. pro et contra payments from the business combination were settled in 2008.the company is based at Arlanda Airport, stockholm, 
sweden. the swedish subsidiary is supplying crew and some lighter maintenance on the aircraft. transactions between parent company and the 
swedish subsidiary during 2009 were supply of personnel and transfer of airline operations. At 1 July 2009, the entire airline operation in norwegian 
Air shuttle sweden Ab was transferred to norwegian Air shuttle AsA through purchase of assets. Investment in shares in subsidiary was impaired in 
2009, resulting in a recognized loss within other financial items of MnoK 260.7 (note 6).

call norwegian As
At 14 January 2008 the Group established call norwegian As, and owns 100% of the shares. the company provides regular land-based telephone 
services and internet connectivity at major airports served by norwegian. there are plans for offering products such as cell-phone coverage and 
internet access in the air in partnership with the airline. transactions between parent company and call norwegian As in 2009 were primarily a loan 
to call norwegian As of MnoK 26.6.

nAs Asset Management Ireland ltd
At 15 July 2008 the Group established nAs Asset Management ltd, a special purpose entity (spe), and owns 99,9% of the shares. nAs Asset Management 
norway As owns the remaining 0,1% of the shares. the company is incorporated in Ireland and established for aircraft financing purposes. the risk and 
reward on the boeing contract is not transferred to nAs Asset Management Ireland ltd, and the “substance over form” convention is applied in the 
accounting for the subsidiary. All inter-company transactions with nAs Asset Management Ireland are eliminated in the parent company accounts. 

nAs Asset Management norway As
At 15 July 2008 the Group established nAs Asset Management norway As, a special purpose entity (spe), and owns 100% of the shares. nAs Asset 
Management norway As was established for aircraft financing purposes. the subsidiary has not had any transactions with related parties in 2009.

Management believes that all inter-company transactions are handled at arms-length conditions.

note 25 InvestMent In subsIDIARIes AnD RelAteD pARtIes

  Date of  number  Book value Book value
name (noK 1 000) initiation/aquisition office of shares ownership 31.12.2009  31.12.2008

norwegian Air shuttle polska sp.zo.o 2 006 warsaw, poland 50 000 100 % 2 214 2 214
norwegian Air shuttle sweden Ab 31.07.2007 stockholm, sweden 20 000 100 % 33 448 178 302
call norwegian As 14-01-08 fornebu, oslo 1 000 000 100 % 16 461 1 000
nAs Asset Management Ireland ltd 15-07-08 Dublin, Ireland 999 99.9 % 1 1
nAs Asset Management norway As 15-07-08 fornebu, oslo 100 100 % 100 100

intercompany balances 31 december 2009 Short term long term
 
Receivables 20 975 5 688
payables 13 428 0
       
intercompany balances 31 december 2008 Short term long term
Receivables 15 596 143 574
payables 0 16 284
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note 25 InvestMent In subsIDIARIes AnD RelAteD pARtIes

transactions with related parties
the ceo is the principal shareholder in norwegian Air shuttle AsA with an ownership share of 27.27% through the controlling ownership of hbK Invest 
As. the chairman of the board owns minority shares in hbK Invest As. there have been no financial transactions between hbK Invest As and norwegian 
Air shuttle AsA in 2009 or 2008.

the chairman of the board, bjørn Kise is partner, and the ceo is former partner, in the law firm vogt & wiig which is the legal advisor of norwegian Air 
shuttle AsA. 

the parent company has received commission from the associated company in 2009. the commission relates to sales performed by the parent 
company’s customers using ‘bank norwegian’ credit cards. the total commission for 2009 is enclosed in the table below. there are no inter-company 
receivables or - payables at 31 December 2009.

no loans or guarantees have been issued to related parties in 2009 or 2008. 

see note 23 for details on key management compensation and note 14 for shares and options held directly or indirectly by members of the board of 
Directors, ceo and executive Management.

terms and conditions for transactions with related parties
Management believes that transactions with related parties are performed at arms-lengths conditions. terms and principles for transactions with 
related parties are continuously evaluated.

the following transactions were carried out with related parties:

Sales (-) and purchases (+) of goods and services (excl vat) 2009 2008
 
- vogt & wiig (legal services)  3 447   4 481 
- Associate (commission)  (9 540)  (5 229)
 
year-end balances arising from sales/purchases of goods/services (incl vat) 2009 2008
Receivables from related parties (note 13)
- vogt & wiig (legal services) 0 0
- Associate (commission)  850  0
     
investment in related parties   2 009   2 008 
- Associate (subordinated loan)  30 088  0
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note 26 InvestMent In AssocIAteD coMpAnY

    ownership carrying amount net profit carrying 
entity country industry interest 31.12.2008 (loss) 2009 31.12.2009

norwegian finans holding AsA norway financial Institution 20 % 44 743 3 200 47 943

norwegian Air shuttle AsA has the following investments in associates:

the associated company, norwegian finans holding AsA, owns 100% of the shares in bank norwegian As. norwegian Air shuttle AsA owns 20% of the 
shares in norwegian finans holding AsA. the company is situated in oslo, norway.

the equity method is applied in accounting for the investment, and company’s share of the associated company’s profit and loss is included in the 
carrying amount.

bank norwegian started operations in november 2007 and ends its financial year on December 31.  norwegian Air shuttle AsA has made an estimate of 
the period’s profit and loss since no official financial statements have been publicly available. the estimates are based on operating projections made 
available in the public share offering.

the company’s share of the results and its aggregate assets and liabilities in the associated company, are as follows;

entity country assets liabilities revenues profit/(loss) interest held %

norwegian finans holding AsA norway 411 627 369 957 23 332 3 200 20 %

note 27 InvestMent In shARes

company ownership Market value 2009 Book value 2009 Market value 2008 Book value 2008

silver pensjonsforsikring As 1.4 % 7 236 7 236 5 628 5 628

A reversal of loss on shares from previous periods was recognized in the income statement in 2009, due to an increase in the market value of the 
investment in silver. the recognized gain was MnoK 1.6 (2008: MnoK - 4.4 (loss).

note 28 contInGencIes AnD leGAl clAIMs

law suit
on 17 november 2006, norwegian Air shuttle AsA (“norwegian”) filed a civil action against sAs braathens As (now sAs scandinavian Airlines norge As) 
and sAs As (publ.) for unjustified access to and improper use of sensitive trade secrets. the access was gained through the booking system Amadeus 
in the period from september 2002 to november 2005. sAs obtained price sensitive information about routes flown by both sAs and norwegian. 
norwegian is claiming damages for the illegal actions. 

Asker & bærum tingrett ruled in favor of norwegian in May 2008. norwegian received damages of MnoK 132 for the economic loss resulting from sAs’s 
misuse of norwegian’s trade secrets in addition to legal costs of MnoK 7. both parties have appealed. the hearings before the court of Appeals were 
finalized in november 2009. the court of Appeals has not yet rendered its judgment.

sAs’ payment obligations have been secured by a bank guarantee of MnoK 146 which includes legal costs and interest. 

In 2006, the norwegian authorities filed charges against sAs for unjust access to norwegian’s trade secrets. sAs was sentenced in borgarting court of 
Appeal after the norwegian supreme court in December 2007 upheld the ruling from borgarting court of Appeal. 

the outcome of the civil action is not dependent on the ruling in the criminal action. see also note 30.



Annual Report 2009 norwegian Air shuttle AsA 85

note 29 coMMItMents

In August 2007, norwegian Air shuttle AsA entered into a purchase agreement on 42 new boeing 737-800 aircraft with blended winglets. the aircraft 
have a list price of usD 3.1 billion. parallel to this, norwegian Air shuttle AsA has ensured purchase rights for an additional 42 aircraft of the same 
model from boeing. 

In october 2009 norwegian exercised 6 purchase rights, making the total order for direct-by for boeing 737-800 aircraft 48. Remaining purchase rights 
as of 31.12.09 are 42 aircraft. 

During 2009 norwegian received the first two aircraft. the remaining 46 aircraft will be delivered over a five-year period from 2010 through 2014. the 
purchase price will be paid over several usD installments before delivery of each aircraft. 

commitments for aircraft leases refer to note 9.

note 30 events AfteR the bAlAnce sheet DAte

In March 2010 the court of Appeals awarded norwegian damages of noK 160 million in addition to legal costs of noK 14.7 million in the civil action 
against sAs for economic loss resulting from sAs’ abuse of norwegian’s trade secrets. whether it will be appealed against the judgment was not 
determined at the time of printing. see also note 28.

sAs’ payment obligations stemming from the court of Appeal ruling has been secured by a bank guarantee which includes legal costs and interest. 

In March 2010 norwegian Air shuttle AsA signed a 10 years rental contract with related party hbK Invest As for its new head office at oksenøyveien 3, 
fornebu.  

we confirm, to the best of our knowledge, that the financial statements for the period 1 January to 31 December 2009 have been prepared in accor-
dance with current applicable accounting standards, and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the 
entity and the group taken as a whole, as well that the board of Directors’ Report includes a true and fair review of the development and performance 
of the business and the position of the entity and the group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the entity and 
the group. 

fornebu, 24 March 2010

Bjørn h. Kise 
(chairman of the board)

ola Krohn-fagervoll Marianne wergeland JenssenBjørn Kjos
(chief executive officer)

thor espen Bråten 
(employee Representative)

Kenneth utsikt 
(employee Representative)

linda olsen 
(employee Representative)

liv Berstad

ResponsIbIlItY stAteMent
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AuDItoR’s RepoRt
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DefInItIons

aSK
Available seat Kilometers 
number of available seats multiplied by the distance flown

rpK
Revenue passenger Kilometers
number ofr occupied seats multiplied by the distance flown

load factor
RpK divided by AsK. Describes the utilization of the available seats 

raSK
Average ticket revenue per AsK. A measure of how much ticket revenue 
one single seat generates on average per kilometer flown. the RAsK 
reflects load factor contrary to the commonly used yield which is a 
measure of ticket revenue per RpK.

Blh
block hours is the elapsed time from the parking brakes are released at 
the gate of the origin until they are set at the gate at the destination.

Sector length 
Distance from one destination to another (one way) 

eBt 
earnings before taxes

eBit
earnings before Interest and taxes

eBitDa
earnings before Interest, taxes, Depreciation and Amortization

eBitDar
earnings before Intersest, taxes, Depreciation, Amortization and Rent. 
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